FACULTY OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY MEDICINE

Body Mass Index and Risk of Malnutrition in Community-living Elderly Men and Women:

Relationships with Morbidity, Mortality and Health-related Quality of Life.

The Tromsø and HUNT studies

in bilde her... sett in bilde her... sett inn bilde her... sett in



Department of Community Medicine University of Tromsø



Jan-Magnus Kvamme

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Contents

Preface:	From clinical practice to epidemiological research	5
Acknowl	edgements	6
Kort nors	sk sammendrag-Short Norwegian summary	7
English s	summary	8
List of pa	apers	10
Abbrevia	tions	11
Definitio	ns	12
List of ta	bles and figures	13
1 Intro	oduction	14
1.1	General Introduction	14
1.2	Aging and Nutritional status	15
1.3	Morbidity and Nutritional status	16
1.4	Mental health and risk of malnutrition	17
1.5	Health-related quality of life and risk of malnutrition	18
1.6	Body mass index and mortality	20
2 Aim	ns of the thesis	22
3 Sub	jects	23
3.1	The Tromsø 4 survey (paper I and IV)	23
3.2	The HUNT 2 survey (paper IV)	24
3.3	The Tromsø 6 survey (paper II and III)	25
3.4	Ethics	28
4 Met	hods	28
4.1	Assessment of Nutritional status	28
4.2	Data on cancer (Papers I and IV) and marital status (Papers I to IV)	30
4.3	Hand grip strength (Paper I)	30
4.4	Assessment of Mortality (Paper IV)	30
4.5	Self-administrated Questionnaires (Paper I-IV)	31
4.6	Assessment of mental health: CONOR mental health index (Paper I)	32
4.7	Assessment of mental health: Symptoms Check List 10 (Paper II)	32
4.8	Assessment of Health Related Quality of Life: EQ-5D (Paper III)	34
4.9	Statistical methods	35
5 Sum	maries of papers and main results	37
5.1	Paper I	38
5.2	Paper II	39
5.3	Paper III	40
5.4	Paper IV	41
6 Gen	eral Discussion – Methodology	43
6.1	Selection of populations and study design	43
6.2	Validity	43
6.3	Internal validity and bias	44
6.4	Confounding	57
6.5	Other aspects related to methodology	58
6.6	External validity	59

7	C	General discussion - Results	60
	7.1	Epidemiological research in an older population	60
	7.2	Prevalence of risk of malnutrition, underweight and obesity	61
	7.3	Lower BMI categories and individuals at risk of malnutrition	62
	7.4	Obesity	69
	7.5	Optimal weight for elderly individuals, - overweight?	70
8	C	Conclusions and implications	70
	8.1	Conclusions	70
	8.2	Clinical implications	71
	8.3	Research implications	72
9	R	References	74
1()	Appendices A-C	

Preface: From clinical practice to epidemiological research

During my more than 20 years in clinical medicine and gastroenterology, I have met numerous elderly patients with weight loss and who were underweight. For some patients, these problems were symptomatic of a severe disease, such as cancer. For others, however, malnutrition was the missing puzzle piece in a complex case history. In the hospital system, malnutrition and underweight had often gone unrecognised. This fact wakened my interest in malnutrition and Professor Jon Florholmen introduced me to this field.

Most of my elderly patients were from the community of Tromsø, and the Tromsø Population Study had for years explored the health of its inhabitants. The Tromsø 6 survey was in the planning phase when I prepared my PhD project. It is a short distance from the University Hospital in Tromsø to the epidemiological setting at the Department of Community Medicine, where I met Professor Bjarne K Jacobsen. He has a background both in nutritional science and epidemiology. During these last three years, I have had the privilege to more carefully investigate the interesting relationship between nutritional-status and health in the elderly population.

> Jan-Magnus Kvamme Tromsø, March 2011

Acknowledgements

This research was done at the Department of Community Medicine, University of Tromsø, between 2008 and 2011 and was funded by a PhD grant from The Northern Norway Regional Health Authority, Medical Research Programme (Helse Nord, Senter for Aldersforskning).

I would particularly want to thank the following persons for their valuable help:

My principal advisor, Bjarne K Jacobsen, for his friendly and critical guidance, his patience and for sharing his significant knowledge concerning aspects of nutrition, statistical methods and epidemiology.

Jon Florholmen, my co-supervisor, for his clinical contributions and consistently optimistic attitude.

Tom Wilsgaard for both brief and more extensive discussions regarding statistical problems. Jan Abel Olsen for important suggestions regarding the work dealing with quality of life aspects, and Ole Grønli for sound advices regarding the SCL-10 analyses.

My other co-authors from HUNT, Jostein Holmen and Kristian Midthjell for a good collaboration.

My colleague, Eyvind Paulssen, for encouraging conversations regarding research and working on a thesis, and my other colleagues at the Department of Gastroenterology for taking on a larger share of work during my period of absence.

My fellow PhD candidate, Bente Morseth, my colleagues and the staff at the Department of Community Medicine in addition to Torgeir Engstad and Pål Stenumgård, for valuable discussions.

The HUNT Study (Helseundersøkelsen i Nord Trøndelag) for access to data used in the mortality analyses.

My parents, Astrid and Jan-Ivar, for their interest and commitment. My wife, Brita, for continuous support during the ups and downs throughout the project, and our three children Rasmus, Ragnhild and Ingeborg, for reminding me of the other important aspects of life in this busy period.

Kort norsk sammendrag-Short Norwegian summary

I denne avhandlingen er forholdet mellom *ernæringsstatus* og *sykelighet*, *dødelighet* og *helserelatert livskvalitet* undersøkt hos hjemmeboende eldre. Avhandlingen er basert på de tre befolkningsundersøkelsene, Tromsø 4 (1994-95), Tromsø 6 (2007-08) og Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag, HUNT 2 (1995-97). Ernæringsstatus er vurdert både ved hjelp av *kroppsmasseindeks* (KMI, kg/m²), også kjent som BMI, og et spesielt *screeningsverktøy* for underernæring, MUST (Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool).

Vurdert utifra MUST fant vi at 8 % av hjemmeboende eldre hadde middels eller høy risiko for underernæring. Både depressive symptomer, gjennomgått brudd (lårhals), redusert muskelstyrke og dagligrøyking forekom hyppigere hos undervektige (KMI <20 kg/m²). Redusert fysisk aktivitet og kronisk lungesykdom var vanligere både ved undervekt og fedme (KMI \geq 30 kg/m²) (U-formet relasjon til KMI). Eldre med fedme hadde også økt hyppighet av diabetes og iskemisk hjertesykdom. Helse relatert livskvalitet var redusert ved økende risiko for underernæring, mer hos menn enn hos kvinner. Dødeligheten var økt hos alle med KMI under 25 kg/m² og en del av dette kunne forklares av dødelighet på grunn av lungesykdommer. Den laveste dødeligheten fant vi hos de som var overvektige (KMI 25-30 kg/m² hos menn og 25-32.5 kg/m² hos kvinner). Det var moderat økt dødelighet hos eldre med fedme.

Underernæring utgjør altså en betydelig helserisiko for hjemmeboende eldre og det er viktig å få på plass tiltak som gjør at underernæring oppdages i en tidlig fase. Andre studier har vist at helsetilstanden kan bedres hvis underernæring behandles.

English summary

The elderly population is rapidly growing, and elderly individuals are more vulnerable to nutritional problems than other adults. A number of studies have found evidence for adverse health outcomes in elderly patients at risk of malnutrition. However, much of the previous research has been performed in hospital populations or in groups of elderly patients with specific diagnoses. More population-based studies in this area are therefore needed. Increased understanding of nutrition in elderly individuals can contribute to the identification of individuals at risk of malnutrition at an earlier stage.

Based on data from three large health surveys, we aimed to study the relationship between *nutritional status* and important *health outcomes* in community-living elderly individuals. We first explored the associations between disease burden, social and life style variables in a cross-sectional design based on data from the Tromsø 4 survey (1994-1995) (paper I). We found that fractures (hip), mental distress, reduced muscle strength and current smoking were more prevalent in underweight individuals. Chronic lung disease and reduced physical activity had a U-shaped relation with body mass index (BMI). Diabetes and ischemic heart disease were more prevalent in obese individuals.

In the Tromsø 6 survey (2007-08), we included the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST). We found that approximately 8% of this community-living population was at medium or high risk of malnutrition and that 20% was obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²). We used a cross-sectional design to explore the association between mental health symptoms and both risk of malnutrition and BMI (paper II). Mental health symptoms were significantly associated with the risk of

malnutrition, and an association was also found for subthreshold mental health symptoms. Quality of Life is an important health aspect for the increasing number of elderly individuals with longer life expectancy. We found a significant reduction in Health-related Quality of Life with an increasing risk of malnutrition, and this was more pronounced in men than in women (paper III). In paper IV, we combined the HUNT 2 (The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study, 1995-97) and Tromsø 4 surveys with the intention of exploring the relationship between BMI categories and both total and cause-specific mortality in a prospective design. We found mortality to be increased in all BMI categories below 25 kg/m² and that overweight individuals had the lowest mortality (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m² in men and 25-32.4 kg/m² in women). A modest increase in mortality was found with increasing BMI among obese men and women. About 40% of the excess mortality in the lower BMI range in men was explained by mortality from respiratory diseases.

This thesis describes increased morbidity, mortality and reduced HRQoL in community-living elderly individuals at risk of malnutrition or with lower BMI. These findings emphasise the importance of nutritional screening, especially in primary care. Previous research has demonstrated that nutritional intervention can reduce adverse health outcomes in elderly at risk of malnutrition.

9

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following four papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

Paper I

Kvamme J-M, Wilsgaard T, Florholmen J, Jacobsen B K. **Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study.** European Journal of Epidemiology. 2010 Mar; 25 (3):183-93. Epub 2010 Jan 20.

Paper II

Kvamme J-M, Grønli O, Florholmen J, Jacobsen B K. **Risk of malnutrition and mental health symptoms in community living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study**. Submitted.

Paper III

Kvamme J-M, Olsen J A, Florholmen J, Jacobsen B K. **Risk of malnutrition and Health related Quality of life in community-living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study.** Quality of Life Research. 2011 May;20(4):575-82. Epub 2010 Nov 13.

Paper IV

Kvamme J-M, Holmen J, Wilsgaard T, Florholmen J, Midthjell K, Jacobsen B K. **Body mass index and mortality in elderly men and women: The Tromsø and HUNT studies**. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2011 Feb 14. (Epub ahead of print)

Abbreviations

BAPEN - British Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition BMI - body mass index CI - confidence interval CONOR-COhortNORway, a collaboration between several health surveys in Norway COPD - chronic obstructive pulmonary disease CVD - cardiovascular diseases DXA - dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry EQ-5D index - value attached to an EQ-5D state according to a particular set of weights EQ VAS - standard vertical visual analogue scale ESPEN- The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (previously European Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition) GDS - Geriatric Depression Scale HR - Hazard ratio HRQoL - Health-related Quality of life HUNT - The Health Study of Nord-Trøndelag County, Norway ICD - International Classification of Diseases IHD - ischemic heart disease MNA - Mini nutritional assessment MUST - Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool NRS 2002 - Nutritional risk screening 2002 OR - odds ratio PEM – protein energy malnutrition SCL-10 - (Hopkins) Symptoms check list-10 S.D. - standard deviation SPSS - Statistical package for the Social Sciences WC - waist circumference WHO - World Health Organization

Definitions

More details can be found in the respective sections indicated by the page number(s).

BMI: body mass index, weight divided by height squared (kg/m^2) , page 28 and 47.

Community Living: Present place of residence is a private dwelling as distinct from elderly hospital in-patients or nursing home residents, page 14 and 43.

Older person: individual aged ≥ 65 years [145, 154], page 15.

Health related Quality of Life: The measurable impact of a person's perception of his or her health and the effect that produces on satisfaction with life and well-being [154], page 19.

Morbidity: from Latin morbidus, state of being diseased [154]

Malnutrition: A state in which a deficiency, excess or imbalance of energy, protein and other nutrients causes adverse effects on body form, function and clinical outcome [143], page 14.

Underweight: BMI $\leq 20 \text{ kg /m}^2$ [143], page 61.

Overweight: BMI 25-29.9 kg/m² [164], page 48.

Obesity: BMI \ge 30 kg/m² [164], page 48.

Sarcopenia: from Greek *sarx* for flesh and *penia* for loss. Loss of muscle mass, muscle endurance and muscle force occurring during aging [118], page 62.

List of tables and figures

Figure 1 Location of Tromsø Municipality, page 23.

Figure 2 Location of North Trøndelag County, page 25.

Figure 3 The Malnutrition Universal screening Tool, page 29.

Figure 4 Timeline for the follow-up in paper IV, page 31.

Figure 5 The aspects of health described in papers I through IV, page 37.

Figure 6 Internal and external validity with examples from the thesis, page 44.

Figure 7 Sarcopenia as a common mechanism for several of the observed relations, page 63.

Table 1 Studies on the relationship between depression/mental health and the risk of malnutrition; non-hospitalised populations, page 17.

Table 2 Selected studies on the relationship between BMI and mortality, page 20.

Table 3 Study participants included in the studies referred to in this thesis (I-IV), page 23.

Table 4 Number of invited, attending and included men and women in the Tromsø 4 survey,page 26.

Table 5 Number of invited, attending and included men and women in the Tromsø 6 survey,page 26.

Table 6 Number of invited and attending participants in The Tromsø 4 and HUNT 2 surveys combined, page 27.

1 Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

The elderly population is rapidly growing, and elderly people live longer than ever before. By 2050 it is expected that one in three Europeans will be 60 years of age or older [153]. In Norway, approximately one in seven individuals is 65 years of age or older. The large majority of the elderly population is self-reliant and live in their homes (i.e., community-living). In the city of Tromsø, nursing home residents constitute only about 6% of the population in this age category [24], similar to the Norwegian population as a whole [137]. However, a large portion of health care resources are allocated to the elderly population, and one in three hospital beds is occupied by individuals in this age category [126].

Health is closely related to nutrition, and in comparison to younger adults, elderly individuals are more vulnerable to nutritional problems. There is a large body of evidence supporting the idea that elderly people are at risk for malnutrition [143]. However, many of the studies available have been performed in hospitalised patients and in groups of elderly individuals with specific diseases or conditions. Thus, more *population-based research* is needed in the field of nutritional problems in elderly people, with special attention to the lower BMI categories and elderly individuals at risk for malnutrition. This is the main focus of the present thesis.

There is no universally accepted definition for the term *malnutrition* [143]. The word can be literally translated as "bad nutrition". The following definition has been suggested by Professor M. Elia: "*Malnutrition is defined as a state in which a deficiency, excess or imbalance of energy, protein and other nutrients causes adverse effects on body form, function and clinical outcome.*"

[95, 143]. Strictly speaking, this also includes obesity, but, as in most studies of elderly individuals, excess weight is not included in the concept of "risk of malnutrition" used in this thesis. Protein energy malnutrition (PEM) results if an individual's needs for protein and energy are not satisfied by the diet [149], and this corresponds to the malnutrition term used in this thesis. The nutritional screening tool used in two of the included papers was developed to detect PEM [140]. PEM as a term is about to be replaced by an approach to malnutrition that incorporates *inflammatory response* [75] (see section 7.3, page 67 for more details).

Older persons are often defined as individuals aged ≥ 65 years [145, 154] and this age limit is applied here to define the elderly population.

1.2 Aging and Nutritional status

Concurrent with the epidemic of obesity, malnutrition also seems to be a persistent problem in the affluent parts of the world and is more prevalent in elderly individuals than in other adults [111]. In developed countries, malnutrition is largely related to diseases [143].

A range of physiological and biological changes involved in ageing affect nutritional status and combine to make deficiencies of macro- and micronutrients more common in elderly individuals. Taste and smell, two senses important for the pleasure of eating, are often decreased during aging [65]. This sensory deficit may partly explain reduced appetite, which can, in turn, contribute to malnutrition [101]. Compared to younger adults, elderly individuals have less ability to respond to concurrent underfeeding that may occur in concert with acute diseases [117]. Gut mechanisms, including a delay in gastric emptying that result in early satiety, may also contribute to lowered

food intake in elderly individuals [156, 160]. Approximately the same requirements of vitamins and micronutrients should be ingested in a context of reduced food intake [161], a fact that may also contribute to increased risk of micronutrient deficiencies in the elderly.

Generally, body weight and BMI increase during life up to the age of 50-60 years, after which these values level off and slowly decrease in old age [60, 156]. Body composition also changes with advancing age. The relative proportion of adipose tissue is increased and muscle tissue mass, quality, and strength is reduced, with the latter often characterised as *sarcopenia* [156] [118]. There are a number of risk factors for sarcopenia, including malnutrition, low protein intake, several chronic health conditions and the ageing process itself [26]. (See section 7.3, page 62 for further details).

1.3 Morbidity and Nutritional status

Morbidity is increased in the elderly, and it was found in a previous study that 82% of elderly people had one or two chronic health problems and that 65% had two and more chronic health problems [167]. Nutritional status may be closely related to chronic health problems. Most previous studies of associations between BMI and various medical conditions have focused either on the detrimental effect of on obesity [19, 109], adult populations without specific analysis of elderly participants, [3, 110] or selected chronic diseases [20, 56]. A number of studies of primarily hospital populations have found malnutrition to be a common problem in elderly patients with severe or chronic diseases [143]. However, there are fewer population-based studies that examine elderly persons in all BMI categories. Thus, important factors associated with low BMI compared to other BMI categories may not have been identified.

1.4 Mental health and risk of malnutrition

Mental health problems contribute to the increased morbidity in elderly people. Anxiety and depression, often seen as co-morbid conditions with overlapping symptoms [97], are the two most frequently occurring mental health disorders [31]. Malnutrition is also relatively common in elderly individuals and may be associated with mental health, particularly depression [12].

Although several studies have found mental disorders to be a risk factor for involuntary weight loss and malnutrition in geriatric inpatients and outpatients [159], little population-based research has been done on the relationship between the risk of malnutrition and mental health in the elderly.

The relationship between *malnutrition and depression* has been assessed in some previous studies by the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) and the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) instrument (table 1).

Authors	Participants	Methods and variables	Results
Johansson et	579 community-	Prospective study	Depressive symptoms
al. 2009 [79]	living elderly	MNA + GDS	predictive of malnutrition
	(Sweden)		
Smoliner et	114 nursing home	Cross-sectional study	Modest association between
al. 2009	residents	MNA + GDS	depressive symptoms and
[130]	(Germany)		malnutrition
Cabrera et al.	267 community-	Cross-sectional study,	Association between
2007 [18]	living elderly	MNA and GDS/regular use	depressive symptoms and
	individuals	of antidepressant	malnutrition
	(Brazil)	medicines	

Abbreviations: MNA, Mini Nutritional Assessment (nutritional screening tool), GDS, Geriatric Depression scale

Table 1 Studies on the relationship between depression/mental health and the risk of malnutrition; non-hospitalised populations.

Johansson et al. found in a Swedish study of 579 community-living elderly individuals that depressive symptoms were predictive of malnutrition [79], a finding that was observed to a larger extent in men than in women. Smoliner et al. examined nursing home residents and found no differences in the mean MNA score between subjects who had depression and those who did not. However, a modest association was demonstrated between malnutrition and depression in a regression analysis [130]. A study of 267 community-living elderly individuals in Brazil [18] showed a positive relationship between malnutrition and depression.

The relationship between *BMI and depressive symptoms* in adults and elderly individuals has in previous studies been assessed with a main focus on higher BMI categories. Limited evidence for an association between obesity and depressive symptoms has been found [5]. Studies restricted to elderly individuals have yielded conflicting results. In one study, obese elderly men were found to have a reduced risk of depression [107], whereas a later study reported an increased risk of depression in obese individuals [125].

Thus, larger studies examining the associations between BMI, the risk of malnutrition and mental health in community-living elderly individuals are needed.

1.5 Health-related quality of life and risk of malnutrition

Quality of Life (QOL) has received increasing attention in recent decades as a measure for comparing the health status of different patient groups and for measuring health outcomes. QOL is not a well-defined term. However, many will argue that most people, at least in the developed world, are familiar with the term and have an intuitive understanding of it [43]. Aristotle (384-

322 BC) described a term (eudemonia) regarded as very close to the modern QOL in his work on ethics (Nicomachean Ethics) [43]. He stated that the meaning of the term *varies* from person to person and *depends on the life situation* of each individual. To differentiate between QOL in a general sense and the need for a more precise definition in clinical medicine, the narrower term, Health Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) is often used. However, this terminology is also not very precisely defined. In Taber's Medical Dictionary (2009) [154], HRQoL is defined as: "*The measurable impact of a person's perception of his or her health and the effect that produces on satisfaction with life and well-being*." This corresponds to the HRQoL term used in this thesis.

Despite the previously mentioned evidence of increased morbidity [88, 143] and mortality (see below) [63, 142] in elderly people at risk of malnutrition, little attention has been given to the ways in which malnutrition affects HRQoL. For the increasing number of elderly individuals with longer life expectancies, not only is the duration of life important, but also the quality of those additional years.

The concept of HRQoL broadens a previous definition of health based on morbidity and mortality to include aspects of health that include subjective assessments of physical, emotional and social functioning [33]. Nutrition may affect both the physical and psychological aspects important for HRQoL [143]. Several reports have found HRQoL to be reduced in obese individuals [77]. In a study of nursing home patients [25] and a smaller, community-based study [81], QOL was reduced in elderly patients at risk of malnutrition.

However, larger, community-based studies evaluating HRQoL in elderly individuals at risk of malnutrition are lacking.

1.6 Body mass index and mortality

The impact of BMI on mortality in the elderly population is still controversial. There is a growing concern regarding the increase in mortality related to obesity [105], whereas mortality associated with underweight has gained less attention.

As reviewed by Heiat (2001) [62], Zamboni (2005) [171], and Janssen (2007) [73], the recommendations of ideal weight for adults [164] seem to be too restrictive for elderly individuals, in whom being moderately overweight is of limited risk with respect to increased mortality. It is not possible in this introduction to present the more than fifty studies included in these review articles, in addition to other BMI-mortality studies. However, some selected studies are presented in table 2 with the intention to include studies also from Scandinavian countries.

Authors	Participants	Design	Results	Results	Comments
			Total mortality	Cause specific	
				mortality	
Waaler 1984	1 800 000	Prospective	Marked U-	In both men and	Cause specific
[158]	Irom	study based	snape between	women 50-64 years	mortality not
	Norway	on	BMI and	of age, highest	examined in
		compulsory	mortality,	mortality in the low	persons ≥65
		X-ray	lowest mortality	BMI categories	years
		examinations	$21-25 \text{ kg/m}^2$,	from obstructive	
		for	somewhat	lung diseases,	
		tuberculosis	higher in	tuberculosis, lung	
		1963-65	individuals aged	and stomach cancer	
			≥65 years		
Dey et al	2 628 men	Prospective	Lowest BMI	Not explored	
2001 [29]	and women	study, up to	quintile, highest		
	aged 70	15 years	mortality.		
	years from	follow up,	Lowest		
	Sweden	BMI	mortality in		
		(quintiles)	BMI 27-29		
			kg/m ² in males		
			and 25-27		
			kg/m^2 in women		
			(non smoking)		

Rissanen 1991 [116]	17 159 women aged 25-79 years (1 437 women aged \geq 65 years) from Finland	Prospective, 12 years follow-up	In women aged ≥65 years, mortality varied little with BMI	Thinness seemed to predict deaths from cancer	Deaths from respiratory diseases not explored
Engeland 2003 [38]	2 million men and women, The majority included in 1963-75	Prospective 22 years follow-up	Subgroup analyses, elderly of 70-74 years: in men optimal BMI 24 kg/m ² , and in women, optimal BMI: 25.7 kg/m ²	Not explored	Partly extension of Waaler 1984. Smoking information available for a sub-cohort. Increased risk at low BMI also in non-smokers.
Pischon 2008 [112]	359 387 adults from nine countries in Europe	Prospective 9.7 years follow up	Subgroup analysis of ≥ 65 years, lowest mortality men BMI 25-26.6 kg/m ² and women 23.5-25 kg/m ² . Significant increased mortality if BMI <21.0 kg/m ² (men and women)	Explored in adults, not specifically in elderly: Respiratory disease mortality increased if BMI <23.5 kg/m ²	Several analyses also adjusted for waist hip data.

Table 2 Selected studies on the relationship between BMI and mortality (only studies with measured height and weight). Results reported with primary attention towards the lower BMI categories.

In Norway, the relationship between BMI and mortality was examined early by Waaler (Waaler 1984) based on height and weight data obtained during screening for tuberculosis and with deaths in the period from 1963-1979 [158]. Waaler described a U-shaped relationship between BMI and

mortality. In adults, the strongest increase in mortality in the lower BMI categories was found for obstructive lung disease. However, BMI- mortality curves for cause-specific mortality in elderly individuals were not examined. Two large studies with primarily adult participants from several different countries were published in 2008 and 2009. In the first of these studies, the lowest mortality rate was found to be at a BMI of approximately 22.5-25 kg/m² for all ages [163]. The second of these studies (Pischon 2008) found the lowest mortality to be at a slightly higher BMI levels (table 2) [112]. Both studies provide several subgroup analyses, but very limited analysis of elderly participants. Dey et al. (Dey 2001) [29] found that overweight elderly, individuals had the lowest mortality, a finding also demonstrated by others [73].

To summarise, a number of studies have found increased mortality in underweight individuals, but this association remains to be fully explained in the elderly population. Thus, more research should be done on the relationship between BMI and mortality (total and cause specific) with special attention to the lower weight categories.

2 Aims of the thesis

There is a need for more population-based research on the relationships between nutritional status and important health outcomes, including morbidity, HRQoL and mortality in elderly people, with special attention to malnutrition and underweight individuals. More specifically, this thesis concentrates on the following questions regarding community living elderly people:

- How common is the risk of malnutrition and what are the prevalences of the different BMI categories?
- 2. What are the characteristics and disease burden of elderly people in different BMI categories, specifically the lower BMI categories?

- 3. What is the association between mental health symptoms and the risk of malnutrition?
- 4. Is there an association between the risk of malnutrition and impaired HRQoL?
- 5. What is the relationship between BMI and both total and cause-specific mortality?

3 Subjects

The individuals included in these analyses were participants in the 4th and 6th surveys of the Tromsø Study (Tromsø 4 and Tromsø 6) and the 2nd Nord Trøndelag Health survey (HUNT 2) (see table 3).

	Tromsø 4	HUNT 2	Tromsø 6
	1994-95	1995-97	2007-2008
Paper I	n = 4 259		
Paper II			n = 3 111
Paper III			n = 3 286
Paper IV	n = 16 711		

Table 3 Study participants included in the studies referred to in this thesis (Paper I-IV).

3.1 The Tromsø 4 survey (paper I and IV)

The Tromsø Study is a single-centre, population-based longitudinal study with repeated health surveys of the Tromsø municipality [72]. Tromsø is the largest city in the northern part of Norway, with a population of 68 000. Most inhabitants live on the Tromsø Island (figure 1).





The fourth cross-sectional health survey of the Tromsø population was conducted in 1994-1995. All community-living inhabitants in the municipality aged 25 years and older were invited to participate, but the present analyses are restricted to participants aged 65 years and older. Nursing home residents were invited, but very few participated. A total of 5 892 subjects in this age group were invited and the study sample consisted of 4 259 persons (72% of the invited). One reminder letter was sent. The participation rate declined with age (table 4). In subjects aged 80 years and older, less than 50% participated.

3.2 The HUNT 2 survey (paper IV)

The Nord Trøndelag Health study (HUNT study) is a large, population-based longitudinal study with repeated health surveys of the county of Nord-Trøndelag. This is a sparsely populated and largely rural county located in the central part of Norway, with 127 000 residents (figure 2). The second Nord-Trøndelag health survey (HUNT 2) was conducted in 1995-97 and has been previously described in more detail [68]. All community-living inhabitants aged 20 years and older were invited to participate in the survey, but only participants aged 65 years and older were included in the study population described in paper IV. A total of 21 946 individuals in this age group were invited and 15 250 participated in the study. One reminder letter was sent. The overall participated. Nursing home residents were invited, but very few participated (45 out of the 15 250 participants were permanent nursing home residents).

Data from the HUNT 2 and the Tromsø 4 surveys were combined for the analyses presented in paper IV. Details about participation by increasing age in the combined cohort are found in table 6. These two surveys had been pre-planned to include the same core questions. Mean BMI, smoking habits and household income in the two regions Nord-Trøndelag and Troms were quite similar [136, 168]. The inhabitants of Tromsø constitute approximately half of the population of the Troms County.



Figure 2 Nord Trøndelag County

3.3 The Tromsø 6 survey (paper II and III)

The Tromsø 6 survey was conducted between October 2007 and December 2008. Invitations were sent to all community-living inhabitants aged 25 to 87 years. One reminder letter was sent. The analyses in this thesis are restricted to individuals aged 65 years and older. A total of 6 098 subjects in this age category were invited and 4 017 subjects (66%) participated in the study. Nursing home residents were also invited, but very few participated (only 8 of the 4 017 participants were permanent nursing home residents). The age distribution of the groups in the invited population, the attending population and the two study samples for papers II and III, respectively, are described in table 5. The two study samples consist of relatively few of the eldest participants, and relatively more women than men were excluded because of missing values.

Age	Invited, Tromsø 4		Attending, Tromsø 4		Paper 1 Study sample	
range	ge N		n (% of invited)		<i>n</i> (% of invited)	
(years)	ars) Men Women		Men	Women	Men	Women
65–69	810	970	691 (85.3)	860 (88.7)	683 (84.3)	841 (86.7)
70–79	1 216	1 548	935 (76.9)	1 240 (80.1)	921 (75.7)	1 215 (78.5)
80–	414	934	214 (51.7)	411 (44.0)	208 (50.2)	391 (41.9)
All	2 440	3 452	1 840 (75.4)	2 511 (72.7)	1 812 (74.3)	2 447 (70.9)

Table 4 Number of invited, attending and included men and women in the Tromsø 4 survey. In the study sample, participants not willing to take part in the research or with missing values for height and/or weight were excluded.

Age	Invited, Tromsø 6		Attending, Tr	Attending, Tromsø 6		Paper II Study sample,		Paper III Study sample,	
range	Ν		n (% of invited	<i>n</i> (% of invited)		n (% of invited) SCL10		n (% of invited) HRQoL	
(years)	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	
65–69	1 068	1 054	830 (77.7)	827 (78.4)	721 (67.5)	662 (62.8)	741 (69.4)	690 (65.5)	
70–79	1 197	1 456	841 (70.3)	988 (67.9)	698 (58.3)	699 (48.0)	732 (61.2)	748 (51.4)	
80–87	492	831	196 (39.8)	335 (40.3)	139 (28.3)	192 (23.1)	159 (32.3)	216 (26.0)	
All	2 757	3 341	1 867 (67.8)	2 150 (64.4)	1 558 (56.5)	1 553 (46.5)	1 632 (59.2)	1 654 (49.5)	

Table 5 Number of invited, attending and included men and women in the Tromsø 6 survey. In the study samples, participants with missing values for BMI, weight loss, SCL-10 (Paper II) or EQ5D variables (Paper III) were excluded.

Age	Invited, Tromsø 4 and		Attending, Tr	Attending, Tromsø 4		Paper IV Study sample	
range	HUNT-2		and HUNT-2	and HUNT-2			
	Ν		n (% of invited	<i>n</i> (% of invited)		l)	
(years)	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	
65–69	3 478	3 786	2 898 (83.3)	3 231 (85.3)	2 635 (75.8)	2 877 (76.0)	
70–79	5 990	7 202	4 569 (76.3)	5 529 (76.8)	3 914 (65.3)	4 634 (64.3)	
80-	2 694	4 688	1 317 (48.9)	1 971 (42.4)	1 055 (39.2)	1 596 (34.0)	
All	12 162	15 676	8 784 (72.2)	10 731 (68.5)	7 604 (62.5)	9 107 (58.1)	

Table 6 Number of invited, attending and included men and women in the Tromsø 6 and HUNT 2 surveys combined. In the study sample, participants with a follow-up time below one year (425 participants) and with missing information regarding cause-specific mortality (5 participants) or questionnaire data concerning smoking, marital status or level of education (2 374 participants) were excluded.

3.4 Ethics

All participants gave written, informed consent upon inclusion in the various surveys and had the option of withdrawing from participation after inclusion. All surveys were approved by the regional boards of research ethics and the Data Inspectorate through the Norwegian Social Science Data Services.

4 Methods

4.1 Assessment of Nutritional status

4.1.1 Body Mass index (Paper I-IV)

Participants had their weight (kg) and height (cm) measured to the nearest decimal at the research centres. During these measurements, participants wore light clothing and did not wear shoes. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m) squared (kg/m²).

4.1.2 Waist circumference (Paper IV)

Waist circumference (WC) was measured horizontally to the nearest centimetre at the height of the umbilicus using steel tape. WC was available for all HUNT-2 participants and for all Tromsø participants aged 65-74 as well as for a random sample of participants aged 75-84 years.

4.1.3 Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (Paper II and III)

The Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) was originally developed by the British Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (<u>www.bapen.org.uk</u>). It includes a grading of both (1) *BMI* and (2) *weight loss* in three categories in addition to (3) an *acute disease* component (figure 3). In the questionnaire used in the Tromsø 6 survey, participants were asked about any involuntary weight loss during the previous six months (and if so, how many kg). Weight loss values were placed in the following groups: below 5%, between 5% and 10% or above 10% of body weight prior to weight loss. The MUST also includes an acute disease component corresponding to no nutritional intake for >5 days, which normally necessitates hospitalisation [36]. As participation in the Tromsø study required the ability to independently visit a research centre, the acute diseases component was set to zero. The weight loss question was slightly modified to indicate a time span of the "last 6 months", but this encompasses the time span of "the past 3-6 months" in the original MUST. The use of the MUST as described in paper II and III has been confirmed by Professor Marinos Elia, who is in charge of the use of the tool on behalf of BAPEN (appendix B).



The "Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool" is reproduced here with the kind permission of BAPEN (British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition). For further information on 'MUST and management guidelines, see www.bapen.org.uk.

Figure 3 The Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) is composed of a BMI score, a weight-loss score and an acute illness component. The risk of malnutrition can be assessed based on the sum of these scores.

4.2 Data on cancer (Papers I and IV) and marital status (Papers I to IV)

Data concerning cancer history was obtained from the Norwegian Cancer Registry, which is based on mandatory registration. Data on marital status was obtained from the National Population Register.

4.3 Hand grip strength (Paper I)

Grip strength can be used as a measure of overall muscle strength [14] and has found to be an indirect measure of lean body mass [138]. In a representative subgroup of the Tromsø 4 population, grip strength of the non-dominant hand was registered in kilopascals (kPa), with measurements generated by manual compression of an air filled rubber bulb connected to a manometer. A measurement below the median value for each sex was defined as *low* grip strength.

4.4 Assessment of Mortality (Paper IV)

For the assessment of mortality, each participant included in paper IV (Tromsø 4 and HUNT 2 combined) were linked to information from the Norwegian Causes of Death Registry by a personal identification number to identify vital status (dead, alive or emigrated) during the follow-up period. Data concerning both total and cause-specific mortality were available. When we started on the analyses used in paper IV, data concerning cause specific mortality was available up to 31 December 2007, and this date was set as end date of follow up (figure 4). Cause of death in Norway is routinely registered and coded by the Death Registry based on the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), and we noted the underlying cause of death. For deaths up to 1996, ICD version 9 was used and ICD version 10 was used for later years. We

applied the European short list for causes of death [42] to identify three main categories of causes of death; cardiovascular diseases (CVD, ICD-9: 390-459, ICD-10: I00-I99), respiratory diseases (ICD-9: 460-519, ICD-10: J00-J98) and cancer (ICD-9: 140-208, ICD-10: C00-C97)).



Mean 9.3 years follow-up

Figure 4 Timeline for the follow-up in paper IV (see 5.4 for details regarding the study).

4.5 Self-administrated Questionnaires (Paper I-IV)

In all three surveys included in this thesis, self-administrated questionnaires (appendix C) were used to obtain information concerning a wide range of diseases and symptoms, smoking habits, alcohol intake, social conditions, education, level of physical activity and other variables. In all surveys, participants were asked to fill in two different questionnaires. The first questionnaire was included with the invitation letter sent by mail to all participants. This questionnaire was intended to be completed at home and collected at the research centre. The second questionnaire was given to the participants upon admittance and was intended to be returned by mail in prestamped envelopes. In the HUNT 2 and Tromsø 4 surveys, the second questionnaire was given in different versions for those below and above the age of 70.

In paper I, we selected *symptomatic medical conditions* prevalent in the elderly population that may have a connection to either low weight or obesity according to the literature [55, 143]. The

considered conditions were mental distress, hip fracture, asthma or chronic bronchitis, stroke, angina pectoris or myocardial infarction and diabetes mellitus. Cancer was also included, but (as noted above) based on information from the Norwegian cancer registry. Chronic lung disease was defined as asthma or chronic bronchitis, and similarly, ischemic heart disease (IHD) was defined as myocardial infarction or angina pectoris (Paper I and IV).

4.6 Assessment of mental health: CONOR mental health index (Paper I)

In paper I (based on the Tromsø 4 survey), participants' mental health was explored as one of several health conditions. This was done by means of an index based on seven questions concerning different dimensions of mental distress (CONOR Mental Health Index) [134]. The index was developed for use in a cohort including several health surveys in Norway; the COhort NORway (CONOR). This mental distress index was partly modified from the Hopkins Symptom Check List [27] and the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) [53]. A cut-off value of 2.15 has been proposed to identify persons with significant mental distress [134].

4.7 Assessment of mental health: Symptoms Check List 10 (Paper II)

In paper II (the Tromsø 6 survey), mental health was assessed in greater detail by the Hopkins Symptoms Check List-10 (SCL-10). The SCL-10 has been widely used in epidemiological studies and is a self-administrated instrument that mainly explores symptoms of anxiety and depression [139]. The ten items of the SCL-10 were part of the questionnaire included in the invitation to the Tromsø 6 survey (appendix C). The SCL-10 questions explored the presence and severity of the following ten symptoms during the preceding week: (1) "Sudden fear without apparent reason", (2) "Afraid or worried", (3) "Faintness or dizziness", (4) "Tense or upset", (5) "Easily blaming yourself", (6) "Sleeplessness", (7) "Depressed or sad", (8) "Feeling worthless", (9) "Feeling that everything is a struggle", and (10) "Feeling hopelessness with regard to the future".

Each question was rated on a four-point scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). According to a procedure suggested by Strand et al.[139], missing values were replaced by the sample mean value for each item, but questionnaires with three or more missing values were excluded from the analyses. The SCL-10 total score was calculated by dividing the total score by the total number of items (i.e., ten). A higher score indicated more symptoms. We found an acceptable degree of internal consistency for this scale in the study sample in paper II (Cronbach's alpha = 0.84).

An SCL-10 score of 1.85 has been proposed as the cut-off for predicting diagnosed mental disorders [139], and score values of \geq 1.85 in the current study were referred to as *significant symptoms*. To assess the impact of score values below this cut-off, we subdivided the SCL-10 scores in paper II between 1.01 and 1.84 into a lower score category (SCL-10 score 1.01 to 1.39) referred to as *some symptoms*, and a higher score category (SCL-10 score 1.40 to 1.84) referred to as *sub-threshold symptoms*. Individuals with no symptoms (SCL-10 score 1.0) were used for reference in the analyses.

4.8 Assessment of Health Related Quality of Life: EQ-5D (Paper III)

HRQoL (Paper III) was assessed by the EuroQol questionnaire (EQ-5D), which has been developed by a multidisciplinary group of European researchers. This is a standardised non-disease specific instrument consisting of two parts; the EQ-5D descriptive system and the EQ visual analogue scale (EQ VAS) [148]. The EQ-5D instrument has been evaluated in a number of studies and has been validated in elderly populations [17, 21].

The EQ-5D describes health in generic terms using five specific dimensions that are important for elderly individuals: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. Each dimension is divided into three levels of severity (no problems, some problems or extreme problems). In the sample described in paper III, few participants reported problems at the most severe level. According to EQ-5D user guide [41], this category was combined with the category of individuals reporting some problems (second level) in the analyses of the various EQ-5D dimensions. The EQ-5D instrument is designed for self-completion and was included as part of the self-administrated questionnaire in the Tromsø 6 survey (appendix C). A single summary EQ-5D index with a maximum score of 1 is obtained by applying a scoring algorithm that assigns weights to each of the possible combinations of health as described by the three levels within each of the five dimensions. We applied the most widely used scoring algorithm, referred to as the UK time-trade-off tariff [32]. Subjects with missing values to any of the five dimensions were excluded from the analyses.

In addition to this indirect health index assigned through a descriptive system, a direct method asks subjects to rate their health on a visual analogue scale (VAS) with a maximum score 100. The endpoints are labelled "Worst imaginable health state" and "Best imaginable health state".

4.9 Statistical methods

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS), versions 15.0 and 17.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Means, medians, and proportions (%) were used to describe both baseline characteristics and outcomes, when appropriate. Student's t-tests were used to analyse differences between mean scores and chi-square test for differences in proportions. Mann-Whitney U test were applied when appropriate. Two sided P-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Odds ratio (OR) and hazard ratio (HR) point estimates were reported with 95% confidence intervals. Adjustments were performed for potential confounding variables (see section 6.4, page 57 regarding what was considered confounding). Most analyses were stratified by sex. Logistic regression models were used in papers I-III to assess associations between BMI and/or risk category of malnutrition, and dichotomised chronic diseases, social and lifestyle variables (paper I), SCL-10 score category (paper II), or EQ-5D dimensions (paper III). In the analyses of specific variables, cases with missing values were not included.

In paper III, analysis of covariance was used to obtain age-adjusted mean values for the EQ-5D score. The importance of the differences in EQ-5D scores between malnutrition risk groups was examined by calculating their effect size as the mean difference divided by the standard deviation (SD) of the control group [43]. We evaluated the detected differences against the criteria

introduced by Cohen [23] using the standard deviation (SD) of the low-risk category of malnutrition. Effect size values of 0.2 to <0.5, 0.5 to < 0.8, and \geq 0.8 were characterised as small, medium and large differences, respectively.

Mortality analyses in paper IV were performed using a Cox proportional hazards regression model. We assessed the proportional hazards assumption of a constant hazard ratio over time by inspecting the log-log survival curves for the various BMI categories.

For logistic regression analyses of the various BMI categories (paper I), we used the BMI category 22.5-24.9 kg/m² as a reference because this is the upper normal BMI category according to WHO [164]. In papers II-IV, the BMI category 25-27.4 kg/m² was used as reference, as this was the category both with the most participants and with the highest number of deaths (paper IV).

For further details, see the description of data analyses in the various papers.
5 Summaries of papers and main results

In papers I-IV, we explored the relationships between BMI, the risk of malnutrition and morbidity, HRQoL and mortality (figure 5).



Figure 5 The aspects of health described in papers I through IV.

Paper I identifies the potential risk factors, chronic conditions and diseases associated with different BMI categories. Paper II explores mental health using the SCL-10 score. Another important dimension of life for elderly individuals is HRQoL, which is explored in paper III. Participants examined in papers II and III were classified both according to their BMI and risk of malnutrition. In paper IV, the relationships between the various BMI categories and mortality, the ultimate endpoint, were explored. For more details, see the sections 5.1 to 5.4.

5.1 Paper I

Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme, Tom Wilsgaard, Jon Florholmen, Bjarne K Jacobsen.

Eur J Epidemiol, 2010: 25(3); 183-193. Epub 2010 Jan 20.

Background: Chronic health problems may be related to body mass index (BMI), but this has been best documented in overweight and obese adults. The primary objective of this study was to identify factors associated with different categories of BMI in community-living elderly men and women, also including the lower categories of BMI.

Methods: In a cross-sectional population survey from the municipality of Tromsø, Norway, we analysed associations between BMI and a wide range of chronic disease conditions, lifestyle and socioeconomic factors. BMI (kg/m²) was categorised into six groups (<20 kg/m², 20.0-22.4 kg/m², 22.5-24.9 kg/m², 25.0-27.4 kg/m², 27.5-29.9 kg/m², \geq 30.0 kg/m²). The study included 4 259 non-institutionalised men and women aged 65 years and older.

Results: The overall proportion with BMI <20 kg/m² (low weight) was 5.1%, BMI between 25.0 and 29.9 kg/m² (overweight) 42.1% and BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m² (obesity) 16.9%. Obesity was more common in women than in men (21.8% vs. 10.4%). Current smoking, mental distress and hip fractures were more prevalent in the lower BMI categories in both sexes. Asthma or chronic bronchitis and low physical activity exhibited a U-shaped relation to BMI (p-value for a second order term <0.05). Neither single marital status, difficult economy nor lower education was related to underweight, whereas lower education and a difficult economy were related to obesity. Reduced muscle strength was correlated to low weight. Alcohol intake was less frequent in the higher categories of BMI. Diabetes mellitus and ischemic heart disease (IHD) were associated

only with higher BMI categories. Diabetes mellitus was associated with obesity and IHD was associated with overweight and obesity.

Conclusion: These results demonstrate that both low and high BMI are associated with a wide range of prevalent conditions and diseases in community-living elderly individuals. For the clinician, the findings emphasise the importance of nutritional assessment as part of the medical evaluation of elderly patients.

5.2 Paper II

Risk of malnutrition and mental health symptoms in community-living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme, Ole Grønli, Jon Florholmen, Bjarne K Jacobsen. Submitted

Background: Little research has been done to examine the relationship between the risk of malnutrition and mental health in community-living elderly individuals. In the present study, we aimed to assess the associations between mental health (particularly anxiety and depression) and both the risk of malnutrition and body mass index (BMI, kg/m^2) in a large sample of elderly men and women from Tromsø, Norway.

Methods: In a cross-sectional survey of 1 558 men and 1 553 women aged 65 to 87 years, the risk of malnutrition was assessed by the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST), and mental health was measured using the Symptoms Check List 10 (SCL-10). BMI was categorised into six groups (<20.0 kg/m², 20.0-22.4 kg/m², 22.5-24.9 kg/m², 25.0-27.4 kg/m², 27.5-29.9 kg/m², \geq 30.0 kg/m²).

Results: The risk of malnutrition (combining medium and high risk) was found in 5.6% of men and 8.6% of women. Significant mental health symptoms were reported by 3.9% of men and 9.1% of women. In a model adjusted for age, marital status, smoking and education, significant

mental health symptoms (SCL-10 score \geq 1.85) were positively associated with the risk of malnutrition (odds ratio 3.9 [95% CI 1.7-8.6] in men and 2.5 [95% CI 1.3-4.9] in women), the association was positive also for subthreshold mental health symptoms. For individuals with BMI <20.0 kg/m², the adjusted odds ratio for significant mental health symptoms was 2.0 [95% CI 1.0-4.0]. No significant increase in significant mental health symptoms was found in obese individuals.

Conclusions: Impaired mental health was strongly associated with the risk of malnutrition in community-living elderly men and women, and this association was also significant for subthreshold mental health symptoms.

5.3 Paper III

Risk of malnutrition and health-related quality of life in community-living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme, Jan Abel Olsen, Jon Florholmen, Bjarne K Jacobsen.

Qual Life Res. 2011 May;20(4):575-582. Epub 2010 Nov 13.

Background: Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) has received increased attention in previous decades as a measure for both comparing health statuses across different patient groups and for measuring health outcomes. However, larger community-based studies evaluating HRQoL in elderly individuals at risk of malnutrition are lacking. In the present study, we aimed to explore the association between risk of malnutrition and HRQoL in community living elderly men and women. The association between body mass index (BMI) and HRQoL was also explored.

Methods: In a cross-sectional population survey including 1 654¹ men and 1 632 women aged \geq 65 years from the municipality of Tromsø, Norway, we assessed HRQoL by using the EuroQol (EQ-5D) instrument in three risk groups of malnutrition and in different categories of BMI. The Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) was used to evaluate the risk of malnutrition. **Results**: More women (9.4%) than men (5.5%) were at risk of malnutrition (medium- and high-risk combined). HRQoL was lower in women than in men when assessed by the EQ-5D index and the EQ VAS score. We found a significant reduction in HRQoL with increasing risk of malnutrition, and this was more pronounced in men than in women. The relation between BMI and HRQoL was dome shaped, with the highest HRQoL scores being observed in the 25-27.5 kg/m² BMI category although the differences were small between the middle BMI categories. **Conclusions:** HRQoL was significantly reduced in elderly men and women at risk of malnutrition. The highest HRQoL was seen in moderately overweight individuals.

5.4 Paper IV

Body mass index and mortality in elderly men and women: The Tromsø and HUNT studies Jan-Magnus Kvamme, Jostein Holmen, Tom Wilsgaard, Jon Florholmen, Kristian Midthjell, Bjarne K Jacobsen. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. Published online February 14, 2011 **Background:** The impact of body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) and waist circumference (WC) on mortality in elderly individuals is controversial, and previous research has largely focused on obesity.

Methods: With special attention to the lower BMI categories, associations between BMI and both total and cause-specific mortality were explored in 7 604 men and 9 107 women aged \geq 65 years who participated in the Tromsø 4 survey (1994-95) or the North-Trøndelag Health Study

¹ In the *abstract* of the paper III, the numbers of participating men and women had been interchanged. The correct numbers are 1654 men and 1632 women as written in the table 1 in the main part of the paper.

(HUNT 2 survey) (1995-97). A Cox proportional hazards model adjusted for age, marital status, education, study site and smoking, was used to estimate hazard ratios for mortality in different BMI categories using the BMI range of 25-27.5 kg/m² as a reference. The impact of each 2.5 kg/m² difference in BMI on mortality (later in this abstract denoted as change in BMI) in individuals with BMI <25.0 kg/m² and BMI ≥25.0 kg/m² was also explored. Furthermore, relationships between WC and mortality were assessed.

Results: We identified 7 474 deaths during a mean follow-up period of 9.3 years until 31.12.2007. The lowest mortality was found in the BMI range 25-29.9 kg/m² and 25-32.4 kg/m² in men and women, respectively. Mortality was increased in all BMI categories below 25 kg/m² and was moderately increased in obese individuals. U-shaped relationships were also found between WC and total mortality. When modelling BMI as a continuous variable, we found a 20% increase in mortality per 2.5 kg/m² decrease in BMI in the lower BMI range (\geq 25 kg/m²). In the upper BMI range (\geq 25 kg/m²), we found a 7 to 9% increase in mortality per 2.5 kg/m² increase in BMI. About 40% of the excess mortality in the lower BMI range in men was explained by mortality from respiratory diseases.

Conclusions: BMI below 25 kg/m² was in elderly men and women associated with increased mortality. A modest increase in mortality was found with increasing BMI among obese men and women. Overweight individuals (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m² in men, 25-32.4 kg/m² in women) had the lowest mortality.

6 General Discussion – Methodology

6.1 Selection of populations and study design

Each study included in this thesis is *population-based*, which is important for the generalisability of the results. We aimed at describing populations of *community-living* elderly men and women as distinct from elderly hospital in-patients. Nursing home patients were invited, but attended to a very small degree (8 out of 4 017 participants in the Tromsø 6 survey, and 45 out of 15 250 in the HUNT 2 survey). Consequently, the participants in the included studies may be regarded as community-living individuals.

In papers I-III, we explore associations in a cross-sectional design, which restricts the possibility of making cause-effect conclusions. In paper IV, we used a prospective cohort design, which makes it possible to derive causality-based conclusions.

6.2 Validity

The aim of epidemiological research (e.g., the studies included in this thesis) is to obtain correct and precise results that can be generalised to other populations. The *validity* of a study refers the extent to which this aim is fulfilled. <u>Internal validity</u> concerns the degree to which it is possible to draw conclusions concerning the study population. <u>External validity</u> concerns the degree to which it is possible to apply the results to other populations (i.e., generalisability of the results) [90, 119] (figure 6). Internal validity is regarded as a prerequisite for external validity.

6.3 Internal validity and bias

Bias is systematic error that tends to produce results that depart systematically from the true values [71, 93]. Violations of internal validity can be classified into one of the categories *selection bias, information bias* or *confounding* (figure 6) [119].



Figure 6 Internal and external validity with examples from the thesis. Internal validity is regarded as a prerequisite for external validity (curved dotted arrow).

6.3.1 Selection bias

Selection bias may arise when the subjects included in the study sample differ from the source population in a way that affects the conclusions [90]. This type of bias arises from participant selection procedures or from factors that influence participation in the study. For selection bias to occur, the association between the independent and dependent variables must be different between study participants and non-participants [123]. The potential for selection bias is somewhat limited by the attendance rates in the included surveys, which were between 65% and 70% (See tables 4 to 6). This may be regarded as relatively high for population-based epidemiological studies. However, there were non-responders for several of the variables, which reduced the size of the study sample by an additional 8-20 percentage points (table 5 and 6).

A precise measurement of the effect of selection bias is not possible, as this would require information regarding the exposure and outcome status for both participants and non-participants. [15]. The only information we have about the non-participants in the Tromsø and HUNT surveys is age and sex. The mean age of the participants included in the study samples was generally lower than for non-attending individuals. In all papers, there was a response rate below 50% for the highest age group (\geq 80 years).

However, a small study of subjects who selected not to participate in the HUNT 2 survey, was performed shortly after completion of the fieldwork [68]. Among individuals aged \geq 70 years reached by phone, *immobility* due to disease and *sufficient follow-up* by the family doctor were reported as important reasons for not participating. In the Tromsø 4 and 6 surveys, immobility was likely more common in non-participating elderly individuals, making it difficult to visit the research centres. Moreover, both decline in cognitive function and dementia are conditions likely to be more prevalent in non-attending individuals and in individuals with missing data on the self-administrated questionnaires. Dementia generally affects 10-20% of the population aged >80 years [37] and is associated with the risk of malnutrition [70]. We do not have data on the prevalence of dementia in the elderly in the Tromsø and HUNT surveys.

The mortality rate in the paper IV cohort was approximately 25% lower than the expected mortality rate based on mortality rates of the entire elderly population of Norway [137]. This result indicates a better general health in participants than in non-participating elderly individuals.

The male to female ratio in paper I (Tromsø 4) was similar in the invited population and in the study population (table 4). However, in Tromsø 6, relatively more women than men had missing values for the EQ-5D and MUST instruments and study sample consisted of almost equal number of men and women (table 5).

In conclusion, we regard it as likely that the non-attending and non-responding elderly men and women were frailer and more prone to both *malnutrition* and *chronic diseases* than the persons who were included in the study samples. Consequently, it is probable that a *selection bias* decreased rather than increased the strength of the observed relations between nutritional status, health conditions and mortality, although this question remains a matter of discussion.

6.3.2 Information bias

Information bias results from a systematic error in the information obtained about study participants [119]. Misclassification errors result when a study subject is placed in the wrong category. Misclassification can be divided into the following categories: (1) <u>Non-differential misclassification</u> results when the proportion of misclassified subjects does not depend on the status of the subjects with respect to other variables (i.e., BMI category or risk category of malnutrition). Height and weight measurements, grip strength and marital status are potential examples of this type of misclassification. (2) <u>Differential misclassification</u> results when the

misclassification depends on the status of the subjects with respect to other variables. This could be the case for self-reported diabetes, where obese individuals may have been more likely to have a glucose measurement during visits to their family doctor.

The question of whether the possibility of misclassification is differential with respect to BMI category or risk category of malnutrition, is addressed below in the discussion of the various methods used in this thesis. Overall, we see no indication of serious differential misclassification in the included studies.

Assessment of Nutritional status (Paper I-IV)

Body composition, BMI and Waist circumference

The nutrient and energy balance over the course of a person's life is reflected by his/her body composition. There are four main compartments of the body at the tissue-organ level: (1) adipose tissue, (2) skeletal muscle, (3) visceral organs and (4) skeleton. The latter three compartments are often referred to as the lean tissues or *lean body mass* [66]. A person's body weight represents the sum of all four compartments. Body weight is, however, only an indirect measure of protein mass and energy stores. A change in body weight and BMI is usually regarded as proportional to loss or gain in lean mass and fat mass, but this relationship varies with factors such as gender, age and diseases [66].

BMI is the most widely used measure of weight status. It is simple to calculate and is widely used in clinical settings. The ratio between weight and height used to calculate BMI was first described by Adolphe Quetelet, the Belgian mathematician and statistician, in 1832 [35]. Based on empirical observations, he found the index to be a good measure for height-adjusted weight [114]. The term BMI was first introduced to describe this ratio by Ancel Keys in 1972, based on Framingham data [82]. In the last decades, BMI has been extensively used in epidemiological and clinical research.

Self-reported height and weight have been used in some previous studies of BMI and various health outcomes in elderly individuals, introducing the possibility of error. Trained personnel measured height and weight in each survey included here.

When categorising a variable such as BMI, boundaries can be set at fixed percentiles (e.g., quintiles). An alternative method, used in the present thesis, is to use meaningful category boundaries [120] based on predefined categories, such as those set by the World Health Organization (WHO) [164]. We divided participants into nine categories based on BMI values (<18.5 kg/m², 18.5-19.9 kg/m², 20.0-22.4 kg/m², 22.5-24.9 kg/m², 25.0-27.4 kg/m², 27.5-29.9 kg/m², 30.0-32.4 kg/m², 32.5-34.9 kg/m² and \geq 35 kg/m²). We included thereby the standard definitions of overweight (BMI 25.0-29.9 kg/m²) and obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) (WHO, 2000) [164]. These WHO boundaries are also well established in clinical practise. In some of the analyses, we merged all BMI categories below 20 kg/m² and above 30 kg/m² due to the limited number of deaths for some of the disease categories. By subdividing the categories between 18.5 and 30 kg/m², we were able to describe in more detail the characteristics of the lower-normal BMI categories (18.5 to 25 kg/m²) and the overweight (25-29.9 kg/m²) BMI categories.

Repeated measurement of BMI during the follow up period was not performed for the cohort used in the prospective analyses in paper IV. However, for the HUNT cohort, data has been previously published for the time period from HUNT 1 (1984-86) to HUNT 2 (1995-97), which showed that BMI was more stable in individuals aged \geq 65 years than for middle-aged and younger individuals [34]. It is not likely that the BMI of elderly participants changed largely during the study period for paper IV (1994-2007). With respect to the middle-aged individuals in the Tromsø cohort [166], high tracking has been demonstrated for BMI (i.e., maintenance of the relative position within a distribution of values in a population over time) [152]).

Several questions can be raised regarding the use of BMI as a measure of nutritional status in elderly individuals. The first question deals with standing height as the divisor component of BMI [51]. During aging, height is gradually reduced (approximately 5 cm from the third to the seventh decade) due to a decrease in thickness of the vertebral body and flattening of the arch of the foot [30]. Height reduction results in an increase in BMI for a given weight. For example, for a person weighing 70 kg, a reduction in height from 1.70 m to 1.65 m will increase BMI from 24.2 to 25.7 kg/m². However, this is likely to be more important when BMI values are compared between younger adults and elderly individuals.

A second question is related to how well BMI correlates with body composition and fat mass. BMI is only an indirect measure of body composition. When we include BMI in our analyses, it is usually as a substitute for a measure of fat mass, although lean body mass is also of interest when assessing malnutrition. Advanced methods for the measurement of body composition include Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) [74, 151], but we did not have available DXA measurements for the participants in the respective studies. However, in a large study by Flegal et al. comparing BMI values with DXA measurements in elderly men and women, the Pearson correlation coefficient between BMI and body fat was relatively high (0.72 to 0.76) [46]. A third question with respect to BMI, is related to the change in fat distribution with aging and to what degree this affects BMI. Visceral fat and subcutaneous abdominal fat tend to increase with age [9], and the amount of abdominal fat is likely to be larger at a given BMI in elderly than in younger, adult individuals [155]. In order to assess abdominal obesity, we included *waist circumference* (WC) in the prospective analyses of mortality (paper IV). WC and the waist-hip ratio are both indicators of nutritional status and assess abdominal obesity in particular [50]. WC is easier to interpret as an absolute measure than the waist-hip ratio.

When assessing the relationships between WC and mortality (paper IV), we followed a procedure similar to that described by Flegal et al. [45] and created WC categories that identified similar proportions of participants as each of the nine BMI categories. The WC category equivalent to the 25.0-27.4 kg/m² BMI category was used as a reference. We found that in the higher weight categories, WC was not a stronger risk factor for total mortality than BMI. In the lower weight categories, BMI was a stronger risk factor than WC.

Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST)

When considering the identification of malnutrition, it is common to differentiate between (1) <u>nutritional screening</u>, an initial evaluation and (2) <u>nutritional assessment</u>, a more comprehensive and in-depth evaluation of those considered to be at risk [36]. In larger population-based studies, nutritional screening is the approach that may be used.

The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) has recommended three instruments for nutritional screening, and of these, the MUST is one of the nutritional screening instruments recommended for use in the community [40, 83]. When planning the Tromsø 6

survey (2007-2008), we wanted to include a nutritional screening tool. For use in a large population-based survey, the required tool had to be preferably self-administered and not to extensive. The MUST was chosen because it is relatively brief and the score information can be self-reported. Furthermore, it has been used in a number of previous studies [36] and found to predict both mortality and other clinical outcomes in hospitalised patients [142] and general health status in community-living elderly [98].

The *acute disease component* for the MUST was set to zero because participation in the Tromsø study required the ability to independently visit a research centre. The acute disease component gives a score of two if "*the patient is acutely ill and there has been or is likely to be no nutritional intake for >5 days*" [36]. This criterion is important for detecting well-nourished individuals who in a short time develop a high risk of malnutrition because of acute diseases or accidents. However, even for hospital in-patients, only a small proportion will be so severely affected that this criterion will apply [36].

The terms *face validity* and *content validity* describe to what degree a scale or tool looks reasonable. Face validity deals with whether the instrument seems to evaluate the correct qualities and this is normally based on subjective judgements of groups of experts. Content validity deals with whether the important domains and content are included in the instrument [144]. The present MUST was thoroughly developed by the British Association of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition [36], which ensured both its face and content validity [115].

Inter-rater reliability deals with the agreement between different raters. In various clinical settings this has been tested for the MUST, with kappa values ranging from 0.9 to 1.0 [36].

Kappa is a measure of agreement above what would be expected by chance, and kappa values ≥ 0.81 are regarded as very high [1].

Due to the lack of a gold standard for determinations of malnutrition, it is challenging to determine the *exact validity* of the nutritional screening tools available [140]. In a study of hospitalised patients from Switzerland [89], the MUST was compared to the Nutritional Risk screening Tool (NRS 2002) [84] and the subjective global assessment (SGA) [28]. The SGA was used as reference. The mean age of the included patients was over 50 years. The sensitivity of the MUST was slightly lower and the positive predictive value was somewhat lower when compared to the more comprehensive NRS 2002. The NRS 2002 also consists of a rating of disease severity and is regarded to be the best tool for use in hospital settings [115]. We considered the NRS 2002 as too extensive for use in a large-scale epidemiological study. Furthermore, in a British study including the SGA and the MUST, the conclusion was that there was a "fair-good" to "excellent" agreement beyond chance between MUST and most other tools studied [140]. Another assessment tool, the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) is intended especially for use in elderly people [83], but the MNA is constructed to be used by health care professionals [57] and is therefore also difficult to use in large epidemiological studies.

In paper II, we correlated the risk of malnutrition with mental health symptoms. Previous studies exploring the associations between these two conditions have used the MNA for the nutritional assessment. However, the MNA includes information about both neuropsychological problems and psychological stress [57]. A positive correlation between the MNA risk score and the symptoms of depression could therefore be anticipated. In this context, we regard it as

advantageous to use the MUST, which does not include any component exploring psychological symptoms.

In all the included papers in this thesis, we categorised participants according to BMI. The MUST was included in the Tromsø 6 survey (Papers II and III), whereas this score information was not available for the HUNT 2 and Tromsø 4 surveys (Papers I and IV). However, as BMI is a primary part of the MUST, all participants with BMI $\leq 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$ would have been categorised at medium or high risk according to the MUST.

Assessment of mortality

In Norway, a unique personal identification number is used to link all deaths to the Norwegian Causes of Death Registry. This system covers all deaths except some deaths that occur abroad. In other countries, such as United States, this linking of information is more complicated [157]. After each death, a death certificate is completed by a physician. We used the underlying cause of death, which is defined as "*the disease or injury that initiated the train of morbid events leading directly to death, or the circumstances of the accident or violence which produced the fatal injury*" (WHO) [165]. Autopsy is increasing the precision of the cause-of-death statements [146]. Only 10% of the deaths in elderly people in the Tromsø 4 population were subject to autopsy. This is slightly lower than the 12% average autopsy-rate for all of Norway [146]. Elderly people often have several chronic conditions, a fact that leads to potential difficulties in the diagnosis of the true underlying cause of death. Despite this, the quality of the data from the death registry in Norway is regarded as fairly good [6]. We do not believe it is likely that nutrition status systematically affects the coding of underlying cause of death.

Self-administrated questionnaires

Self-administrated questionnaires are important tools in epidemiological research [122] and were used in the present studies to obtain information regarding lifestyle variables, chronic conditions and diseases. There are several methodological issues related to self-administrated questionnaires. First, self-reported information may be imprecise. Participants may forget portions of their medical history (recall bias), and the fact that cognitive decline is more prevalent in elderly individuals increases this risk. The reported data regarding diseases was not matched with hospital or primary care records. In the case of diabetes, however, a similar question, a high accordance was found between self-reported and known diabetes in patient records [99]. Several other questions have also been previously validated, mostly in adults but also in elderly individuals. Validations have been found for questions regarding myocardial infarction [150], stroke [39], hip fractures [78] and physical activity [86]. Validation of the two instruments SCL-10 and EQ-5D is reported below.

A second issue related to self-administrated questionnaires is that several diseases may be partly undiagnosed and hence not reported. For example, this is the case for asthma/chronic bronchitis [59] and diabetes [52]. Up to 50% of diabetics are undiagnosed and experience only minor symptoms.

Third, participants may be unwilling to report correct information regarding certain habits, for example alcohol intake or smoking. Alternatively, it is possible that a more anonymous questionnaire will yield more accurate information regarding sensitive life styles issues than personal interviews. In support of this, a large metaanalysis of smoking habits has found a high accuracy for self-reports in most studies [108].

The key question is whether the use of self-administrated questionnaires has biased the results presented in the papers. As discussed, we cannot exclude some bias, but we find it unlikely that the main results are influenced significantly.

Assessment of mental health

CONOR mental health index (Paper I)

Paper I evaluates several diseases, health conditions and mental health, the latter being measured by the CONOR mental health index. This index has been compared with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale [172] and the Hopkins SCL-10 (see below) with a reasonably good agreement also in elderly subjects. A cut-off value of 2.15 has been proposed to identify persons with significant mental distress [134]. The correlation between the CONOR mental health index and the SCL-10 is high (Pearson correlation coefficient 0.82) [134].

Symptoms check list 10 (Paper II)

Paper II deals more specifically with mental health and the risk of malnutrition. For this paper, the SCL-10 instrument was used. The SCL-10 is an abbreviated version of the 25-item Hopkins Symptoms Checklist (SCL-25) [64], which has been validated in different age categories, including a study of elderly individuals in primary care [49]. The SCL-25 was designed to predict both anxiety and depression, but was found to predict depression better than anxiety disorders in a population-based study [127]. The shorter SCL-10 version correlated highly with the SCL-25

version (r=0.97) in a population-based Norwegian study that also included elderly individuals [139]. The SCL-10 has been widely used in epidemiological studies.

Other studies exploring the relationship between nutritional status and mental health have used the geriatric depression scale (GDS). This scale has been more widely used in older individuals and has been recommended for use in primary care [162]. To our knowledge, no study has been performed comparing the SCL-10 and the GDS.

The concept of mental distress has often been used when screening for mental health disorders. Mental distress is regarded as a broader term than mental disorders. Both mental health symptoms [169] and mental distress [133] have previously been used when describing the SCL-10. In paper II, we chose to use the term *mental health symptoms* to describe the score derived from the SCL-10. Depending on the cut-off limits used, the literature indicates that 50-60% of cases detected with instruments similar to SCL-10 actually qualify for a diagnosis of mental disorders based on clinical interviews [139].

The SCL-10 captures symptoms of both anxiety and depression. Depression is more influential in the relationship with nutritional status, but considerable overlap exists between anxiety and depression, and they often appear as co-morbid disorders [87, 97].

Assessment of HRQoL (EQ-5D) (Paper III)

The concept of HRQoL systematically describes the subjective assessment of health and life of each individual. The EQ-5D is a standardised instrument developed to provide a non-disease-

specific measure of health status, and this tool is also suitable for use in population based health studies [85, 148]. The Short Form 36 (SF-36) questionnaire for HRQoL assessment is more comprehensive and has a larger evidence base than the EQ-5D [2]. However, in an extensive review of generic, self-assessed health instruments for use in older people [61], the EQ-5D was also found to have good reliability, validity and responsiveness. A later clinical study of women being treated for osteoporosis demonstrated a substantial agreement between the EQ-5D and the SF-36 [17]. A concern in paper III is the high number of missing responses on the visual analogue scale (VAS) portion of the EQ5D instrument. This was the only VAS scale in the Tromsø 6 questionnaire and it seems to have been difficult to interpret for some of the participants. However, there were only minor differences in mean age and BMI between the responders and non-responders to the EQ VAS scale. Therefore, there are no indications that the subjects who did fill in the EQ VAS scale differ in a systematic way from the population who only filled in the other portions of the EQ-5D.

6.4 Confounding

Confounding (from the Latin *confundere*, meaning "to mix together") occurs when the effect of interest is related to, or mixed with, other variables [11]. A confounding variable must be independently associated with the dependent variable, and there must be a statistical association between the confounding variable and the independent variable. Furthermore, the confounder must not be on the causal path between exposure and disease. A confounding variable may result in either an under- or overestimating of the true relationship between the exposure and the outcome variable [71]. Smoking is an example of a confounder in this thesis as it influences both BMI and morbidity/mortality. Smoking is included as a three-level variable (never, ex- and

current smoking), at minimum, in the current statistical analyses. Age and sex are very often confounding variables in population-based studies. Most analyses are stratified for sex and all analyses are age adjusted.

One method used to deal with confounding variables, is to *adjust* for the confounding variable in the statistical models. We have done this in most of the analyses. Another method is to *stratify* for the confounding variable. Some of the analyses in paper IV are stratified for smoking.

We aimed to include the most important potential confounders based on prior knowledge. These variables included *marital status* and *educational level* in addition to *age* and *sex. Alcohol intake* and *leisure time physical* activity are two other variables that may be confounders, but there was a high level of missing information for these variables in our samples. In the subgroups in papers II and IV for whom information was available for alcohol and physical activity, we adjusted some of the estimates: In paper II, the analyses of mental health and risk of malnutrition were adjusted for alcohol intake. In paper IV, the analyses of total and cause specific mortality and BMI were adjusted for both alcohol intake and physical activity. Moreover, we included selected *chronic, somatic diseases* (history of cancer, heart attack or stroke) in the analyses in paper II as potentially affecting both mental health and risk of malnutrition. However, it is not possible to account for all possible confounding variables [13], and residual confounding cannot be excluded.

6.5 Other aspects related to methodology

It is self-evident that *food habits* over a long period have affects on the nutritional status in elderly individuals. However, we considered the sparse diet data in the Tromsø 4, 6 and HUNT-2

surveys, but found the information to be insufficient for use in our studies. In general, it may be difficult to obtain valid and reproducible data concerning food habits from self-administered questionnaires [121].

Furthermore, *biochemical data* that could further characterise the individuals at risk of malnutrition, have not been included. For example, blood tests, such as measures of serum albumin levels, have often been regarded as indicative of nutritional status. However, many other conditions affect serum albumin levels, and it is not regarded by most authors as a suitable marker of nutritional status [131, 143]. None of the three nutrition screening tools recommended by the ESPEN require biochemical data [83]. Nevertheless, data on micronutrient deficiencies in the risk groups of malnutrition could have revealed important information.

6.6 External validity

Can the results from this thesis be generalised to other populations of elderly individuals? As previously mentioned, both the Tromsø and HUNT surveys were population-based and had an overall high attendance rate compared to other population studies. Rothman et al. states that "generalization is in large measure a question of whether the factors that distinguish these other groups from studied groups somehow modify the effect in question" [119]. The HUNT and Tromsø studies include populations from both urban and rural areas and may be regarded as relatively homogenous with respect to living conditions and ethnicity. We believe the internal validity to be acceptable and consider it correct to apply the conclusions from this thesis to other Caucasian populations of community-living elderly individuals.

7 General discussion - Results

Detailed discussion of the main results can be found in the respective papers I-IV. We will here concentrate on (1) some general epidemiological aspects, (2) a discussion of the prevalence of the risk of malnutrition, underweight and obesity and (3) some overall results regarding malnutrition, obesity and overweight.

7.1 Epidemiological research in an older population

Elderly people have some characteristics that may complicate epidemiological research. For example, a significant proportion of older people have multiple diseases and conditions, and it may be difficult, if not impossible, to fully identify the *disease burden* in self-administrated questionnaires. The more comprehensive approach used in clinical practice is obviously not possible in larger epidemiological surveys. Memory loss may increase the risk of recall bias. Moreover, the elderly population is diverse, and a substantial proportion in this age group is relatively healthy, self-reliant and has no significant cognitive decline.

Selective survival is also important in the study of elderly individuals. Approximately 83% of all deaths in Norway occur in individuals aged 65 years and older [135]. In a cross-sectional design (paper I-III), we can study disease prevalence but not incidence. For example, if survival after a hip fracture or stroke is influenced by BMI, the relationships between BMI and the prevalence of these conditions in subsequent cross-sectional studies will be affected. For younger adults, who experience lower mortality, this is of less concern than for elderly individuals.

Furthermore, some diseases have such a low prevalence that we are unable to assess their impact on nutritional status with a cross-sectional, population-based design [69]. For example, this may be the case for chronic liver and renal diseases, an examination of which would have required an even larger number of participants than were available for paper I.

7.2 Prevalence of risk of malnutrition, underweight and obesity

By using the MUST, we identified 8% of the study population, 6% of the men and 9% of the women, to be at a medium or high risk of malnutrition (paper III). There were more subjects at medium risk (5% of the population) than at high risk (3%). In a study from the United Kingdom (UK), Margetts et al. used criteria similar to MUST for classifying a representative population of elderly individuals [98]. They found approximately the same proportions of the population to be at medium and high risk. Furthermore, 11% of the study population in the southern UK was at risk of malnutrition (medium and high), a somewhat higher value than observed in our population. The proportion at risk of malnutrition was higher in the northern UK and for all UK about 14%.

Studies using other criteria and screening instruments have found proportions of communityliving elderly at risk of malnutrition between 2.5% and 21% [10, 102, 143]. In hospitalpopulations of elderly individuals, about 40% have been found to be at risk of malnutrition; however both lower and higher prevalence rates have been reported depending on criteria and clinical settings [143, 147].

We found that 5% of the elderly participants in the Tromsø 4 population had BMI values below 20 kg/m^2 , which is often regarded as *underweight* [143]. In the Tromsø 6 population, 3% were in this BMI category. The attendance rate was almost similar in these two surveys and the

difference may be related to a general increase in BMI. Other population-based studies have found the prevalence of underweight individuals to be approximately 5% in community-living elderly populations [143].

The prevalence of *obesity* (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) was about 17% in the Tromsø 4 survey (1994-95), corresponding to the level found in US populations from the same period [4]. In the more recent Tromsø 6 survey, the proportion of obesity was increased to 20%, a lower increase than has been reported for in some other populations [48, 92].

7.3 Lower BMI categories and individuals at risk of malnutrition Sarcopenia

The concept of sarcopenia can be regarded as a common approach to partly explain many of the adverse health effects observed in relation to the risk of malnutrition in this thesis. The term sarcopenia comes from Greek "sarx" for flesh and "penia" for loss, and was first stated in 1989 as a description of the loss of muscle mass, muscle endurance and muscle force occurring during aging [118]. Several factors contribute to the process of sarcopenia, including aging, poor nutrition, weight loss, lifestyle and a number of acute and chronic conditions and diseases [26]. These are complex relationships with many contributing elements. A recent review (2009) described sarcopenia as one of the key features of malnutrition occurring also in younger and middle-aged adults at risk of malnutrition [132]. Varying degrees of inflammation are also among the determinants of both sarcopenia and malnutrition [132]. In figure 7, several of our findings related to underweight and the risk of malnutrition are shown in relation to sarcopenia.



Figure 7 Sarcopenia as a common mechanism for several of the observed relationships (adapted from Cruz-Jentoft et al. [26]).

The consequences of sarcopenia are reduced mobility and increased risk of falls and hip fractures (paper I). Sarcopenia also affects respiratory muscle strength [132], which in turn worsens the course of chronic lung disease and reduces pulmonary function (paper I). Sarcopenia also contributes to reduced HRQoL by exacerbating physical disability (paper III) and to increased mortality, see below (paper IV).

Reduced mental health (depression) is one of the risk factors related to both malnutrition and weight loss (paper II) and may aggravate the process of sarcopenia. An important finding in paper II is the positive association also between sub-threshold mental health symptoms and the risk of malnutrition.

Hip fractures are also associated with osteoporosis (figure 7, curved arrow), and sarcopenia and osteoporosis share several risk factors [113]. Sarcopenia is common in this patient category [44].

Reduced protective padding over the hips may also contribute to the risk of fracture in underweight individuals [129].

Physical disability is increased in the population at risk of malnutrition, with sarcopenia and loss of lean body mass as common features (figure 7). We found self-reported physical activity and muscle strength assessed by isometric dynamometry (hand grip strength) to be reduced in subjects with low BMI (paper I). The mobility dimension of HRQoL was substantially affected in male individuals at risk of malnutrition (paper III). This increased disability as a consequence of malnutrition has also been reported by previous authors [156]. The implications of this correlation are important as the burden of care and nursing home admissions for the increasing elderly population is closely related to immobility and function level [80].

Socioeconomic factors

Socioeconomic factors like a difficult economy and lower education were not related to underweight (BMI<20 kg/m²), but rather to obesity (paper I). It could be assumed that living alone should increase the risk of underweight in elderly individuals. However, in paper I underweight was not related to a single marital status, also when men and women were analysed separately. Our results largely correspond to a study of elderly individuals from the US, finding that a single marital status was not related to malnutrition for any of the categories of participants except black men [94].

Gender differences

More women than men were at risk of malnutrition according to MUST. However, overall, we found similar relationships between BMI, risk of malnutrition and health outcomes in men and

women. For HRQoL, we found that although women have a lower general HRQoL, the impact of malnutrition on HRQoL was stronger in men than in women. Research on body composition in older people has demonstrated that during weight loss, men lose more lean mass than fat mass, whereas women lose relatively more fat mass [103]. It is possible that this relatively higher reduction in lean mass can partly explain the stronger impact of malnutrition on HRQoL in men compared to women. Moreover, the BMI range with the lowest mortality extended more to the right in women compared to men, and included BMIs up to 32.5 kg/m². This has also been demonstrated in some previous studies [106].

Increased mortality

One of the most striking findings in this thesis is the increased mortality in individuals with a BMI below 25 kg/m², including the traditional "normal" BMI range. This challenges the definition of normal weight in this age group. Several previous studies have reported increased mortality among individuals in the lowest BMI categories [58, 62, 73, 163, 171]. Mortality tends to increase when BMI falls below 19-23 kg/m². Very few studies of elderly men and women that include information about smoking habits, have been able to demonstrate a significant increase in mortality in the normal weight range of BMI 22.5-24.9 kg/m² compared to moderately overweight subjects.

Studies of adult individuals have shown an increased risk of mortality in the lower normal range of BMI 18.5-22.4 kg/m² [163]. A proposed explanation for this has been a limited amount of lean mass, a main component of sarcopenia (figure 7) in this BMI range. Preserved lean mass has an important role in different survival and homeostatic mechanisms [96]. Another suggested mechanism has been the lack of protective fat storage in this lower-normal BMI range [96].

Because of the change in body composition with aging, a given BMI represents relatively less lean mass in elderly than in younger, adult individuals. This fact may also partly explain why the BMI range of 22.5-24.9 kg/m² was correlated with increased mortality in older age groups.

BMI versus MUST

In this thesis, both BMI and MUST were used to characterise nutritional status. For the participants in the Tromsø 4 and HUNT 2 surveys, only BMI was available. The establishment of a single BMI cut-off for malnutrition in the elderly, as also indicated by data in this thesis, is difficult. From the presented mortality analyses (paper IV), the cut-off could be up to 24.9 kg/m², and from the morbidity analyses (paper I), it could be about 20 kg/m². Consequently, it may be more appropriate when using BMI, to regard increased health risk across the lower BMI categories as a continuum rather than to use definite cut-offs [74].

Moreover, a single BMI measurement does not take *weight loss* into consideration, which is also an important predictor for sarcopenia [143]. The MUST includes weight loss as one of three components. Weight loss is also part of the screening tools, NRS 2002 and MNA, in addition to other important variables [83]. BMI has been incorporated in all these three screening tools and *underweight* (BMI $\leq 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$) and *risk of malnutrition* classified by one of the tools, overlap to some extent (see page 53). However, the possibility *to correctly identify* individuals at risk of malnutrition is substantial improved by using one of the nutrition screening tools rather than BMI alone [83, 143].

MUST is recommended for use in the community, and our results indicate that it may also be used in epidemiological studies. The papers II and III demonstrated that risk of malnutrition identified according to this tool, was associated with both reduced HRQoL and mental health symptoms. To our knowledge, neither of these two important health measures has been previously explored in relation to MUST in community living elderly individuals.

Unidirectional versus bidirectional relationships

What comes first, malnutrition or disease? In developed countries, malnutrition is largely a problem related to an underlying disease with a direction from disease to malnutrition [76]. However, for several of the observed relationships in this thesis, the direction may be bidirectional, creating *vicious circles* [104]. This may be the case for example for chronic lung disease and depression. Depression may contribute to weight loss, resulting in micronutrient deficiencies that adversely affect mental health. For many malnourished COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary patients) patients, a vicious circle is created through repeated hospital admissions for acute exacerbations [54].

Mild and acute inflammation

A guideline committee recently proposed disease-related malnutrition to be divided into malnutrition with *mild inflammation* and malnutrition with *acute inflammation* [76]. The participants at risk of malnutrition in the included studies were likely in a state of mild inflammation. During intercurrent hospitalisation due to acute disease, patients enter an acute inflammatory state, resulting in increased loss of lean body mass. It has been shown that hip fracture patients who are malnourished at admission lose additional weight during the course of the disease and are at an increased risk for complications [8]. This is similar to the situation for stroke and other conditions that result in hospital admissions, where intercurrent acute inflammation may aggravate a chronic malnutrition state [104].

Screening and intervention

The purpose of screening is to identify conditions where early detection and intervention improves outcomes [115, 123]. When a person is found to be at risk of malnutrition, an initial assessment for severe underlying disease and reversible conditions, including depressive disorders, should be performed. A multidisciplinary approach to improve nutritional intake should be applied [156]. The nursing home service is important, and some communities will also have access to dietician assessment and counselling for selected patients. Lack of motivation may be a problem for some elderly individuals, and relatives and family should be involved. Eating with others should be encouraged. Some areas have home dinner transport services. The prescription of oral nutritional supplements is beneficial for a large proportion of elderly at risk of malnutrition. Some severely malnourished elderly patients will need hospital admission and tube feeding or parenteral nutrition depending on the clinical setting, may be necessary.

For elderly individuals identified to be at risk of malnutrition, there is clear evidence for the benefits of nutritional support, although most intervention studies have been performed in clinical settings [141]. A Cochrane review from 2007 found a reduction in mortality with the use of nutritional supplements in elderly people when the analysis was limited to studies of undernourished participants (RR 0.79, CI 0.64 to 0.97) [22]. To further reverse loss of muscle mass, nutritional support should preferably be combined with a component of adapted physical exercise [124].

7.4 Obesity

Obesity is associated with serious diseases like diabetes and IHD (paper I), corresponding well with previous studies [3, 109]. This fact likely contributes to the moderately increased mortality observed in men with a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² and women with a BMI \geq 32.5 kg/m², respectively (paper IV). Asthma/chronic bronchitis were also more common in obese individuals, an association found in some previous studies [56]. As previously reported [91], obesity seems to be protective against hip fractures (paper I).

From the literature, it is known that obesity is associated with lower limb osteoarthritis [128], a disease not included in the conditions explored in paper I. The joint pain and stiffness caused by osteoarthritis may contribute to the observed reduction in physical activity (paper I) and HRQoL (paper III) in the higher BMI categories. It has recently been shown that a subgroup of obese individuals may be sarcopenic and that sarcopenic-obesity may contribute to physical disability and obesity-related mortality [170].

An interesting result from paper IV is that waist circumference, as a measure of abdominal fat mass, was not a stronger risk factor for mortality than BMI. This finding likely reflects the same basic biology that explains the lack of increased mortality related to the metabolic syndrome in individuals aged 60 years and older, which was recently found in the HUNT 2 survey [67].

Public health concerns related to obesity in the elderly cannot be ignored based on our results. Obesity is more prevalent than risk of malnutrition also in our population. However, weight reduction in obese elderly is controversial [106]; the documentation of reduced mortality after weight reduction in the elderly population is scarce, although it is clearly indicated in severe cases and in some clinical settings [7].

7.5 Optimal weight for elderly individuals, - overweight?

It was not the primary objective of this work to find the optimal weight for elderly individuals. However, by including all BMI categories we revealed that overweight seems to be favourable for two fundamental health parameters: Mortality (BMI range 25- (30)32.5 kg/m²) and HRQoL (BMI range 25-27.4 kg/m²), although the differences in HRQoL were small between the middle BMI categories. Possible explanations for the reduced mortality include a protective effect of fat mass during intercurrent diseases. A recent study of hospitalised elderly patients found that increased fat mass was associated with decreased risk of complications and mortality [16]. Moreover, improved treatment of components of metabolic syndrome [67] and selective survival are also possible explanations. Overweight as the most optimal weight category with regard to mortality, has also been reported by some previous authors [29, 73].

8 Conclusions and implications

8.1 Conclusions

- Risk of malnutrition (moderate and high risk) was found in 8% of the study population, 6% of the men and 9% of the women. Using BMI alone, approximately 5% of participants had a BMI below 20 kg/m². Obesity (BMI ≥ 30 kg/m²) was found in 17-20% of the population.
- Increased mental distress, a history of hip fracture, reduced muscle strength and current smoking were associated with low BMI, whereas ischemic heart disease and

diabetes were associated with obesity. Chronic lung disease and a reduced level of physical activity had a U-shaped relation to BMI. Lower education and a difficult economy were associated with high, but not low BMI.

- Mental health symptoms (depression/anxiety) were associated with the risk of malnutrition, and this association was also significant for sub-threshold mental health symptoms.
- HRQoL was significantly reduced with increasing risk of malnutrition and this was more pronounced in men than in women.
- A BMI below 25 kg/m² was associated with increased mortality, whereas a moderate increase in mortality was found with increasing BMI among obese men and women.
 About 40% of the excess mortality in the lower BMI range in men was explained by mortality from respiratory diseases.
- Moderately increased BMI (25-30/32.5 kg/m²) should not be a concern with regard to mortality in elderly individuals.

These results have several implications with regard to individuals at risk of malnutrition in particular:

8.2 Clinical implications

• Implementation of screening: Risk of malnutrition is related to clinical important health conditions in community-living elderly people. Until now, efforts to implement screening systems for malnutrition have been stronger in hospitals than in primary care. Family doctors and community care nurses are more frequently in contact with this age category than health care workers in secondary care. Consequently, further work should be performed to implement screening systems also in primary care. This includes easy access to measurement tools like height and weight scales. (Implementation of nutritional screening is also a potential research issue, see below.)

- **Groups at particular risk of malnutrition**: Elderly individuals with depressive symptoms, chronic lung diseases and functional limitations represent particular risk groups. However, with an 8% risk of malnutrition, all community living elderly individuals should have nutritional screening as part of health examinations.
- **Basic and postgraduate education**: The results of this thesis underscore the importance of increased emphasis on nutritional issues in medical school, nursing schools and postgraduate training. In a study of doctors and nurses working in specialist care, insufficient knowledge was reported as the most common cause of inadequate nutrition practice [100]. It is likely that similar results would have been obtained for primary care physicians.

8.3 Research implications

(Some of these issues have been discussed in previous sections as indicated by the page numbers below)

• **Prospective design; body composition**: Most of the findings in this thesis are from cross-sectional studies and some of them (e.g. the impact of malnutrition on HRQoL) could possibly be tested in a prospective design. This could be done by following the Tromsø cohort into a future Tromsø survey. In such a survey, more precise
characterisations of body composition might be available (e.g. DXA measurements of a larger number of the participants) (page 49).

- **Micronutrients**: Micronutrient deficiencies in individuals at risk of malnutrition should be studied in more detail (page 16 and 59).
- **Chronic inflammation**: More detailed characterisations with respect to a chronic inflammatory component in elderly individuals at risk of malnutrition should be performed (e.g. micro CRP could be an option for this purpose) (page 67).
- **Implementation of screening**: More research is needed to find the optimal methods for nutritional screening of patients also in primary care. Furthermore, the impediments for sufficient follow up of patients at risk of malnutrition should be identified.

9 References

1. Altman DG. *Practical statistics for Medical Research*. First edition. London: Chapman & Hall/CRC; 1997.

2. Amarantos E, Martinez A, Dwyer J. Nutrition and quality of life in older adults. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2001;56(Suppl 2):54-64.

3. Andreyeva T, Michaud PC, van Soest A. Obesity and health in Europeans aged 50 years and older. *Public Health*. 2007;121(7):497-509.

4. Arterburn DE, Crane PK, Sullivan SD. The coming epidemic of obesity in elderly Americans. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2004;52(11):1907-1912.

5. Atlantis E, Baker M. Obesity effects on depression: systematic review of epidemiological studies. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2008;32(6):881-891.

6. **Avd. for helsestatistikk**, Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt (Norwegian Institute of Public Health). Om statistikken for dødsårsaker. <u>http://www.fhi.no/dav/f14f7dfd8c.pdf</u>. Updated 2008. Accessed 01/17/2011.

7. **Bales CW**, Buhr G. Is obesity bad for older persons? A systematic review of the pros and cons of weight reduction in later life. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2008;9(5):302-312.

8. **Bastow M**, Rawlings J, Allison S. Benefits of supplementary tube feeding after fractured neck of femur: a randomised controlled trial. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1983;287:1589-1592.

9. **Beaufrere B**, Morio B. Fat and protein redistribution with aging: metabolic considerations. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2000;54 Suppl 3:S48-53.

10. **Beck AM**, Ovesen L, Osler M. The 'Mini Nutritional Assessment'(MNA) and the 'Determine Your Nutritional Health'Checklist (NSI Checklist) as predictors of morbidity and mortality in an elderly Danish population. *Br J Nutr*. 1999;81(01):31-36.

11. **Benestad HB**, Laake P. *Forskningsmetode i medisin og biofag*. First edition. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk; 2005.

12. **Bhat RS**, Chiu E, Jeste DV. Nutrition and geriatric psychiatry: a neglected field. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2005;18(6):609-614.

13. **Bhopal R**. Concepts of epidemiology - Integrating the ideas, theories, principles and methods of epidemiology. Second edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.

14. **Bohannon RW**. Hand-grip dynamometry predicts future outcomes in aging adults. *J Geriatr Phys Ther*. 2008;31(1):3.

15. **Boslaugh S**. *Encyclopedia of epidemiology*. First edition. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications; 2008.

16. **Bouillanne O**, Dupont-Belmont C, Hay P, Hamon-Vilcot B, Cynober L, Aussel C. Fat mass protects hospitalized elderly persons against morbidity and mortality. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2009;90(3):505-510.

17. **Brazier JE**, Walters SJ, Nicholl JP, Kohler B. Using the SF-36 and Euroqol on an elderly population. *Qual Life Res.* 1996;5(2):195-204.

18. **Cabrera MA**, Mesas AE, Garcia AR, de Andrade SM. Malnutrition and depression among community-dwelling elderly people. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2007;8(9):582-584.

19. Calza S, Decarli A, Ferraroni M. Obesity and prevalence of chronic diseases in the 1999-2000 Italian National Health Survey. *BMC Public Health*. 2008;8:140.

20. **Choi BC**, Shi F. Risk factors for diabetes mellitus by age and sex: results of the National Population Health Survey. *Diabetologia*. 2001;44(10):1221-1231.

21. **Coast J**, Peters TJ, Richards SH, Gunnell DJ. Use of the EuroQoL among elderly acute care patients. *Qual Life Res.* 1998;7(1):1-10.

22. **Cochrane Reviews** - The Cochran Collaboration- Milne A.C., Potter J., Avenell A. Protein and energy supplementation in elderly people at risk from malnutrition. http://www2.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab003288.html. Updated 2007. Accessed 02/16/2011.

23. Cohen J. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences*. Second edition. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1988.

24. Coordination Office for Nursing Homes, Tromsø Municipality. Personal Communication (email). 2010.

25. Crogan NL, Pasvogel A. The influence of protein-calorie malnutrition on quality of life in nursing homes. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2003;58(2):159-164.

26. **Cruz-Jentoft AJ**, Landi F, Topinkova E, Michel JP. Understanding sarcopenia as a geriatric syndrome. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2010;13(1):1-7.

27. **Derogatis LR**, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): A self-report symptom inventory. *Behav Sci.* 1974;19(1):1-15.

28. **Detsky AS**, McLaughlin JR, Baker JP, et al. What is a subjective global assessment of nutricional status? *Nutr Hosp.* 2008;23(4):400-407.

29. **Dey DK**, Rothenberg E, Sundh V, Bosaeus I, Steen B. Body mass index, weight change and mortality in the elderly. A 15 y longitudinal population study of 70 y olds. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2001;55(6):482-492.

30. **Dharmarajan T**, Ugalino J. The physiology of aging. In: Dharmarajan T, Norman RA, eds. *Clinical Geriatrics*. First edition. New York: Parthenon Publishing; 2003:9-11.

31. **Djernes JK**. Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 2006;113(5):372-387.

32. Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Med Care. 1997;35(11):1095-1108.

33. **Drewnowski A**, Evans WJ. Nutrition, physical activity, and quality of life in older adults: summary. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2001;56 SpecNo 2:89-94.

34. **Drøyvold WB**, Nilsen TI, Kruger Ø, et al. Change in height, weight and body mass index: Longitudinal data from the HUNT Study in Norway. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2006;30(6):935-939.

35. **Eknoyan G**. Adolphe Quetelet (1796–1874) - the average man and indices of obesity. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2008;23(1):47-51.

36. Elia M. *The "MUST" Report. Nutritional screening of adults: a multidisciplinary responsibility.* Worcs, UK: Malnutrition Advisory Group/The British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition; 2003.

37. Engedal K, Haugen PK. The prevalence of dementia in a sample of elderly Norwegians. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 1993;8(7):565-570.

38. **Engeland A**, Bjørge T, Selmer RM, Tverdal A. Height and body mass index in relation to total mortality. *Epidemiology*. 2003;14(3):293-299.

39. Engstad T, Bønaa KH, Viitanen M. Validity of self-reported stroke: The Tromsø Study. *Stroke*. 2000;31(7):1602.

40. **ESPEN**- The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism. Guidelines and position papers. <u>http://www.espen.org/espenguidelines.html</u>. Accessed 02/11/2011.

41. **EuroQol Group**. User Guide-Basic information on how to use EQ-5D. <u>http://www.euroqol.org/eq-5d/reference-search/reference-search.html</u>. Updated 2009. Accessed 06/01/2010.

42. **Eurostat**. *Health Statistics: Atlas on mortality in the European Union: data 1994-96*. *Luxembourg:* Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2002.

43. Fayers PM, Machin D. *Quality of Life. The assessment, analysis and interpretation of patient-reported outcomes.* Second edition. Chichester: Wiley; 2007.

44. **Fiatarone Singh MA**, Singh NA, Hansen RD, et al. Methodology and baseline characteristics for the Sarcopenia and Hip Fracture study: a 5-year prospective study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2009;64(5):568-574.

45. Flegal KM, Graubard BI. Estimates of excess deaths associated with body mass index and other anthropometric variables. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2009;89(4):1213-1219.

46. **Flegal KM**, Shepherd JA, Looker AC, et al. Comparisons of percentage body fat, body mass index, waist circumference, and waist-stature ratio in adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2009;89(2):500-508.

47. Folsom AR, Kushi LH, Anderson KE, et al. Associations of general and abdominal obesity with multiple health outcomes in older women: the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Arch Intern Med*. 2000;160(14):2117-2128.

48. Ford E, Li C, Zhao G, Tsai J. Trends in obesity and abdominal obesity among adults in the United States from 1999–2008. *Int J Obes*. 2010: Sep 7. (Epub ahead of print).

49. **Fröjdh K**, Håkansson A, Karlsson I. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist-25 is a sensitive casefinder of clinically important depressive states in elderly people in primary care. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2004;19(4):386-390.

50. **Gallagher D**, Chung S. Body composition. In: Caballero B, Allen L, Prentice A, eds. *Encyclopedia of Human Nutrition*. Second edition. Boston: Elsevier; 2005:210-212.

51. Garn SM, Leonard WR, Hawthorne VM. Three limitations of the body mass index. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1986;44(6):996-997.

52. **Glümer C**, Jørgensen T, Borch-Johnsen K. Prevalences of diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in a Danish population. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(8):2335-2340.

53. **Goldberg DP**, Blackwell B. Psychiatric illness in general practice. A detailed study using a new method of case identification. *Br Med J*. 1970;1(5707):439-443.

54. **Groenewegen KH**, Schols AMWJ, Wouters EFM. Mortality and Mortality-Related Factors After Hospitalization for Acute Exacerbation of COPD. *Chest*. 2003;124(2):459-467.

55. **Grundy EMD**. The epidemiology of aging. In: Tallis RC, Fillit HM, eds. *Brocklehurst`s Textbook of Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology*. Sixth edition. 2003. London: Churchill Livingstone; 2003:3-21.

56. **Guerra S**, Sherrill DL, Bobadilla A, Martinez FD, Barbee RA. The relation of body mass index to asthma, chronic bronchitis, and emphysema. *Chest*. 2002;122(4):1256-1263.

57. **Guigoz Y**, Vellas B, Garry PJ. Assessing the nutritional status of the elderly: the Mini Nutritional Assessment as part of the geriatric evaluation. *Nutr Rev.* 1996;54(1):S59-S65.

58. **Gulsvik AK**, Thelle DS, Mowé M, Wyller TB. Increased mortality in the slim elderly: a 42 years follow-up study in a general population. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2009;24(11):683-690.

59. Hanania NA, Sharma G, Sharafkhaneh A. COPD in the Elderly Patient. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* 2010;31(05):596-606.

60. **Hardy R**, Kuh D. Commentary: BMI and mortality in the elderly—a life course perspective. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2006;35(1):179.

61. **Haywood K**, Garratt A, Fitzpatrick R. Quality of life in older people: a structured review of generic self-assessed health instruments. *Qual of Life Res.* 2005;14(7):1651-1668.

62. **Heiat A**, Vaccarino V, Krumholz HM. An evidence-based assessment of federal guidelines for overweight and obesity as they apply to elderly persons. *Arch Intern Med.* 2001;161(9):1194-1203.

63. **Henderson S,** Moore N, Lee E, Witham MD. Do the malnutrition universal screening tool (MUST) and Birmingham nutrition risk (BNR) score predict mortality in older hospitalised patients? *BMC Geriatr.* 2008;8:26.

64. **Hesbacher PT**, Rickels K, Morris RJ, Newman H, Rosenfeld H. Psychiatric illness in family practice. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 1980;41(1):6-10.

65. **Hetherington MM**. Taste and appetite regulation in the elderly. *Proc Nutr Soc*. 1998;57(04):625-631.

66. **Heymsfield S B**, Baumgartner R B. Body composition and anthropometry. In: Shils ME, ed. *Modern Nutrition in health and disease*. 10th edition. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006:751-770.

67. **Hildrum B**, Mykletun A, Dahl A, Midthjell K. Metabolic syndrome and risk of mortality in middle-aged versus elderly individuals: the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT). *Diabetologia*. 2009;52(4):583-590.

68. **Holmen J**, Midthjell K, Kruger Ø, et al. The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study 1995-97 (HUNT 2): Objectives, contents, methods and participation. *Nor J Epidem*. 2003;13(1):19-32.

69. **Hulley SB**. *Designing Clinical Research*. First edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins; 2007.

70. **Isaia G**, Mondino S, Germinara C, et al. Malnutrition in an elderly demented population living at home. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2011. Jan 12. (Epub ahead of print).

71. Jacobsen BK. Epidemiologi. In: Martinussen M, ed. *Kvantitativ Forskningsmetodologi i samfunns-og helsefag*. First edition. Bergen: Fagbokforlaget; 2010:225-251.

72. **Jacobsen BK**, Njølstad I, Thune I, Wilsgaard T, Løchen ML, Schirmer H. Increase in weight in all birth cohorts in a general population: The Tromsø Study, 1974-1994. *Arch Intern Med*. 2001;161(3):466-472.

73. **Janssen I**, Mark AE. Elevated body mass index and mortality risk in the elderly. *Obes Rev.* 2007;8(1):41-59.

74. Jeejeebhoy KN. Nutritional assessment. Nutrition. 2000;16(7-8):585-590.

75. Jensen GL. Personal Communication (email). 2011.

76. **Jensen GL**, Mirtallo J, Compher C, et al. Adult Starvation and Disease-Related Malnutrition. *J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* 2010;34(2):156-159.

77. **Jia H**, Lubetkin EI. The impact of obesity on health-related quality-of-life in the general adult US population. *J Public Health (Oxf)*. 2005;27(2):156-164.

78. **Joakimsen R**, Fønnebø V, Søgaard AJ, Tollan A, Størmer J, Magnus J. The Tromsø Study: Registration of Fractures, How Good are Self-reports, a Computerized Radiographic Register and a Discharge Register? *Osteoporosis Int.* 2001;12(12):1001-1005.

79. **Johansson Y**, Bachrach-Lindström M, Carstensen J, Ek AC. Malnutrition in a home-living older population: prevalence, incidence and risk factors. A prospective study. *J Clin Nurs*. 2009;18(9):1354-1364.

80. **Joseph G**, Sue D, Keith A, Robert K. Predicting nursing home admission in the US: a metaanalysis. *BMC Geriatrics*. 2007, 7:13.

81. Keller HH, Østbye T, Goy R. Nutritional risk predicts quality of life in elderly communityliving Canadians. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2004;59(1):68-74.

82. **Keys A**, Fidanza F, Karvonen MJ, Kimura N, Taylor HL. Indices of relative weight and obesity. *J Chronic Dis*. 1972;25(6):329-343.

83. **Kondrup J**, Allison SP, Elia M, Vellas B, Plauth M. ESPEN guidelines for nutrition screening 2002. *Clin Nutr*. 2003;22(4):415-421.

84. **Kondrup J**, Rasmussen HH, Hamberg O, Stanga Z. Nutritional risk screening (NRS 2002): a new method based on an analysis of controlled clinical trials. *Clin Nutr*. 2003;22(3):321-336.

85. **Krabbe P**, Weijnen T. Guidelines for analysing and reporting EQ-5D outcomes. In: Brooks R, Rabin R, de Charro F, eds. *The measurement and validation of health status using EQ-5D: a European perspective*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2003:7-8.

86. **Kurtze N**, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE, Flanders WD. Reliability and validity of self-reported physical activity in the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT 2). *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2007;22(6):379-387.

87. **Kvaal K**, McDougall FA, Brayne C, Matthews FE, Dewey ME, CFAS M. Co-occurrence of anxiety and depressive disorders in a community sample of older people: results from the MRC CFAS (Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study). *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2008;23(3):229-237.

88. **Kvamme JM**, Wilsgaard T, Florholmen J, Jacobsen BK. Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2010;25(3):183-193.

89. **Kyle UG**, Kossovsky MP, Karsegard VL, Pichard C. Comparison of tools for nutritional assessment and screening at hospital admission: a population study. *Clin Nutr*. 2006;25(3):409-417.

90. Laake P, Hjartåker A, Thelle DS, Veierød MB. *Epidemiologiske og kliniske forskningsmetoder*. First edition. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk; 2007.

91. Laet C, Kanis J, Oden A, et al. Body mass index as a predictor of fracture risk: a metaanalysis. *Osteoporosis Int*. 2005;16(11):1330-1338.

92. Lahti-Koski M, Seppänen-Nuijten E, Männistö S, et al. Twenty year changes in the prevalence of obesity among Finnish adults. *Obesi Rev.* 2010;11(3):171-176.

93. Last JM. A Dictionary of Epidemiology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1983.

94. Locher JL, Ritchie CS, Roth DL, Baker PS, Bodner EV, Allman RM. Social isolation, support, and capital and nutritional risk in an older sample: ethnic and gender differences. *Soc Sci Med*. 2005;60(4):747-761.

95. **Lochs H**, Allison SP, Meier R, et al. Introductory to the ESPEN Guidelines on Enteral Nutrition: Terminology, definitions and general topics. *Clin Nutr*. 2006;25(2):180-186.

96. **Lopez-Jimenez F**. Speakable and unspeakable facts about BMI and mortality. *Lancet*. 2009;373(9669):1055-1056.

97. Lowe B, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Mussell M, Schellberg D, Kroenke K. Depression, anxiety and somatization in primary care: syndrome overlap and functional impairment. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2008;30(3):191-199.

98. **Margetts BM**, Thompson RL, Elia M, Jackson AA. Prevalence of risk of undernutrition is associated with poor health status in older people in the UK. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2003;57(1):69-74.

99. **Midthjell K**, Kruger Ø, Holmen J, et al. Rapid changes in the prevalence of obesity and known diabetes in an adult Norwegian population. The Nord-Trøndelag Health Surveys: 1984-1986 and 1995-1997. *Diabetes Care*. 1999;22(11):1813-1820.

100. **Mowé M**, Bosaeus I, Rasmussen HH, et al. Insufficient nutritional knowledge among health care workers? *Clinl Nutr*. 2008;27(2):196-202.

101. **Mowé M**, Böhmer T. Reduced appetite. A predictor for undernutrition in aged people. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2002;6(1):81-83.

102. **Mowé M**, Böhmer T, Kindt E. Reduced nutritional status in an elderly population (>70 y) is probable before disease and possibly contributes to the development of disease. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1994;59(2):317-324.

103. Newman AB, Lee JS, Visser M, et al. Weight change and the conservation of lean mass in old age: the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2005;82(4):872-878.

104. Norman K, Pichard C, Lochs H, Pirlich M. Prognostic impact of disease-related malnutrition. *Clin Nutr.* 2008;27(1):5-15.

105. **Ogden CL**, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *JAMA*. 2006;295(13):1549-1555.

106. **Oreopoulos A**, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Sharma AM, Fonarow GC. The obesity paradox in the elderly: potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 2009;25(4):643-659, viii.

107. **Palinkas LA**, Wingard DL, Barrett-Connor E. Depressive symptoms in overweight and obese older adults: a test of the "jolly fat" hypothesis. *J Psychosom Res.* 1996;40(1):59-66.

108. **Patrick DL**, Cheadle A, Thompson DC, Diehr P, Koepsell T, Kinne S. The validity of self-reported smoking: a review and meta-analysis. *Am J Public Health*. 1994;84(7):1086-1093.

109. **Patterson RE**, Frank LL, Kristal AR, White E. A comprehensive examination of health conditions associated with obesity in older adults. *Am J Prev Med*. 2004;27:385-390.

110. **Peytremann-Bridevaux I**, Santos-Eggimann B. Health correlates of overweight and obesity in adults aged 50 years and over: results from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). Obesity and health in Europeans aged > or = 50 years. *Swiss Med Wkly*. 2008;138(17-18):261-266.

111. **Pirlich M**, Lochs H. Nutrition in the elderly. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*. 2001;15(6):869-884.

112. **Pischon T**, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, et al. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. *N Engl J Med*. 2008;359(20):2105-2120.

113. **Poole KES**, Compston JE. Osteoporosis and its management. *BMJ*. 2006;333(7581):1251-1256.

114. **Quetelet A**. *Physique sociale: ou, essai sur le développement des facultés de l'homme.* Brussels: C.Musquardt; 1869. 115. **Rasmussen HH**, Holst M, Kondrup J. Measuring nutritional risk in hospitals. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2010;2:209-216.

116. **Rissanen A**, Knekt P, Heliövaara M, Aromaa A, Reunanen A, Maatela J. Weight and mortality in Finnish women. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1991;44(8):787-795.

117. **Roberts SB**. Regulation of energy intake in relation to metabolic state and nutritional status. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2000;54 Suppl 3:S64-69.

118. **Rosenberg IH**. Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. *J Nutr*. 1997;127(5 Suppl):990S-991S.

119. **Rothman KJ**, Greenland S, Lash TL. Validity in Epidemiological Studies. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. *Modern Epidemiology*. Third edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkens; 2008:128-147.

120. **Rothman KJ**, Greenland S, Lash TL. Data analysis. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. *Modern Epidemiology*. Third edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkens; 2008:216-219.

121. **Rothman KJ**, Greenland S, Lash TL. Nutritional Epidemiology. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. *Modern Epidemiology*. Third edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkens; 2008:580-597.

122. **Rothman KJ**, Greenland S, Lash TL. Field Methods in Epidemiology. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. *Modern Epidemiology*. Third edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkens; 2008:492-510.

123. Rothman KJ. Epidemiology An Introduction. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2002.

124. **Roubenoff R**. Sarcopenia: effects on body composition and function. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2003;58(11):1012-1017.

125. **Sachs-Ericsson N**, Burns AB, Gordon KH, et al. Body mass index and depressive symptoms in older adults: the moderating roles of race, sex, and socioeconomic status. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2007;15(9):815-825.

126. **Samdata**, (Public project aimed at providing data on the use of specialist health care in Norway), Personal Communication (email). 2010.

127. **Sandanger I**, Moum T, Ingebrigtsen G, Dalgard OS, Sørensen T, Bruusgaard D. Concordance between symptom screening and diagnostic procedure: the Hopkins Symptom Checklist-25 and the Composite International Diagnostic Interview I. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* 1998;33(7):345-354.

128. **Sharma L**, Kapoor D, Issa S. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis: an update. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2006;18(2):147-156.

129. **Slemenda C**. Prevention of hip fractures: risk factor modification. *Am J Med*. 1997;103(2A):65S-71S.

130. **Smoliner C**, Norman K, Wagner KH, Hartig W, Lochs H, Pirlich M. Malnutrition and depression in the institutionalised elderly. *Br J Nutr*; 2009: 102(11): 1663-1667.

131. **Sobotka L**. *Basics in Clinical Nutrition*. Second edition. Galen/ The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism; 2000.

132. **Soeters PB**, Schols AMWJ. Advances in understanding and assessing malnutrition. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2009;12(5):487-494.

133. **Sogaard AJ**, Selmer R, Bjertness E, Thelle D. The Oslo Health Study: The impact of self-selection in a large, population-based survey. *Int J Equity Health*. 2004;3(1):3.

134. **Sogaard AJ**, Bjelland I, Tell GS, Røysamb E. A comparison of the CONOR Mental Health Index, the HSCL-10 and HADS. *Nor J Epidemiol*. 2003;13:279-284.

135. **Statistics Norway**. <u>http://www.ssb.no/aarbok/tab/tab-114.html</u>. Updated 2011. Accessed 02/03/2011.

136. Statistics Norway. http://www.ssb.no/inntgeo/tab-2010-05-20-01.html. Updated 2010.

137. Statistics Norway. http://www.ssb.no/english/. Updated 2010. Accessed 12/15/2010.

138. **Sternfeld B**, Ngo L, Satariano WA, Tager IB. Associations of body composition with physical performance and self-reported functional limitation in elderly men and women. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2002;156(2):110-121.

139. **Strand BH**, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M. Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). *Nord J Psychiatry*. 2003;57(2):113-118.

140. **Stratton RJ**, Hackston A, Longmore D, et al. Malnutrition in hospital outpatients and inpatients: prevalence, concurrent validity and ease of use of the 'malnutrition universal screening tool'('MUST') for adults. *Br J Nutr*. 2004;92(05):799-808.

141. **Stratton RJ**, Elia M. Who benefits from nutritional support: what is the evidence? *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2007;19(5):353-358.

142. **Stratton RJ**, King CL, Stroud MA, Jackson AA, Elia M. 'Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool' predicts mortality and length of hospital stay in acutely ill elderly. *Br J Nutr*. 2006;95(2):325-330.

143. **Stratton RJ**, Green CJ, Elia M. *Disease-related Malnutrition: an evidence-based approach to treatment*. In: Stratton,RJ; Green,CJ; Elia,M. ed. First edition. Oxon: CABI Publishing; 2003:93-155.

144. **Streiner DL**, Norman GR. *Health Measurement Scales*. Fourth edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.

145. Sutton LE, Atkinson HH. The Aging Patient. In: Andreoli TE, ed. Andreoli and Carpenter's Cecil Essentials of Medicine. Seventh edition. Saunders; 2007:1167-1175.

146. **Svendsen E**. Obduksjon-kvalitetskontroll og kilde til lærdom. *Tidsskr Nor Lægeforen*. 2002;122(5):509.

147. **Teo YK**, Wynne H. Malnutrition of the elderly patient in hospital: risk factors, detection and management. *Reviews in Clinical Gerontology*. 2001;11(03):229-236.

148. **The EuroQol Group**. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. The EuroQol Group. *Health Policy*. 1990;16(3):199-208.

149. **Torûn B**. Protein-energy malnutrition. In: Shils ME, Shike M, Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, eds. *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease*. Tenth edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkens; 2006:881-908.

150. **Tretli S**, Lund-Larsen PG, Foss OP. Reliability of questionnaire information on cardiovascular disease and diabetes: cardiovascular disease study in Finnmark county. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 1982;36(4):269-273.

151. **Truswell S**. Assessment of nutritional status and biomarkers. In: Mann J, Truswell S, eds. *Essentials of human nutrition*. Third edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007:429-442.

152. **Twisk JWR**. *Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis for Epidemiology-A Practical Guide*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2003.

153. United Nations. World Population Prospects: The 2006 Revision.

154. Venes D. *Taber`s Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary*. 21th edition. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis Company; 2009.

155. **Villareal DT**, Apovian CM, Kushner RF, Klein S, American Society for Nutrition, NAASO TOS. Obesity in older adults: technical review and position statement of the American Society for Nutrition and NAASO, The Obesity Society. *Obes Res.* 2005;13(11):1849-1863.

156. Visvanathan R, Chapman IMP. Undernutrition and Anorexia in the Older Person. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am.* 2009;38(3):393-409.

157. **Vollset SE**, Cappelen I. Registerepidemiologi. In: Laake P, Hjartåker A, Thelle DS, Veierød MB, eds. *Epidemiologiske og kliniske forskningsmetoder*. First edition. Oslo. 2007:347-372.

158. **Waaler HT**. Height, weight and mortality. The Norwegian experience. *Acta Med Scand Suppl*. 1984;679:1-56.

159. **Wallace JI**. Malnutrition and Enteral/Parenteral Alimentation. In: Halter JB, ed. *Hazzard`s Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology*. Sixth edition. New York: McGrawHill; 2009:469-481.

160. **Wallace JI**. Nutrition and Aging. In: Halter JB, ed. *Hazzard`s Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology*. Sixth edition. New York: McGrawHill; 2009:439-457.

161. **Watkins Bales C**, Ritchie C. The Elderly. In: Shils ME, ed. *Modern Nutrition*. 10th edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams&Wilkins; 2006:843-858.

162. **Watson LC**, Pignone MP. Screening accuracy for late-life depression in primary care: A systematic review. *J Fam Pract.* 2003;52(12):956-964.

163. **Whitlock G**, Lewington S, Sherliker P, et al. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. *Lancet*. 2009;373(9669): 1083-1096.

164. **WHO.** Consultation on Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO Consultation; World Health Organization Technical Report Series 2000; 894.

165. **WHO.** Health statistics and health information systems. http://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/mortdata/en/index.html. Accessed 01/18/2011.

166. **Wilsgaard T**, Jacobsen BK, Schirmer H, et al. Tracking of cardiovascular risk factors: The Tromsø study, 1979-1995. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2001;154(5):418-426.

167. **Wolff JL**, Starfield B, Anderson G. Prevalence, expenditures, and complications of multiple chronic conditions in the elderly. *Arch Intern Med.* 2002;162(20):2269-2276.

168. **Wøien G**, Øyen O, Graff-Iversen S. 22 years of cardiovascular surveys in Norwegian counties. Is the development in risk factors satisfactory? *Nor J Epidem*. 1997;7(2):255-266.

169. **Zachrisson HD**, Rodje K, Mykletun A. Utilization of health services in relation to mental health problems in adolescents: a population based survey. *BMC Public Health*. 2006;6:34.

170. **Zamboni M**, Mazzali G, Fantin F, Rossi A, Di Francesco V. Sarcopenic obesity: a new category of obesity in the elderly. *Nutr, Metab and Cardiovasc Dis.* 2008;18(5):388-395.

171. **Zamboni M**, Mazzali G, Zoico E, et al. Health consequences of obesity in the elderly: a review of four unresolved questions. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2005;29(9):1011-1029.

172. **Zigmond AS**, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 1983;67(6):361-370.

10 Appendices A-C

Appendix A

Included papers (I-IV)

Appendix B

Confirmation from Professor M. Elia regarding the use of the MUST tool

Appendix C

Questionnaires used in Tromsø 4, Tromsø 6 and HUNT 2

RISK FACTORS

Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme · Tom Wilsgaard · Jon Florholmen · Bjarne K. Jacobsen

Received: 14 October 2009/Accepted: 31 December 2009/Published online: 20 January 2010 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2010

Abstract Chronic health problems may be related to body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), but this has been best documented in overweight and obese adults. The primary objective of this study was to identify factors associated with different categories of BMI in elderly men and women from the general population, also including the lower categories of BMI. In a cross-sectional population survey from the municipality of Tromsø, Norway we analyzed associations between BMI and a wide range of chronic disease conditions, lifestyle and socioeconomic factors. BMI was categorized into six groups (<20, 20.0-22.4, $22.5-24.9, 25.0-27.4, 27.5-29.9, \ge 30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$). The study included 4,259 men and women aged 65 years and older from the general population. We found low relative weight $(BMI < 20 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ to be associated with increasing prevalence of mental distress, hip fracture, smoking and low handgrip strength. A U-shaped relation to BMI was found for asthma and chronic bronchitis, poor current health and low physical activity. The higher categories of BMI were associated with low education level, a difficult economical situation, diabetes mellitus and ischemic heart disease. These results demonstrate that both low and high BMI are associated with a wide range of prevalent conditions and

J.-M. Kvamme (\boxtimes) · T. Wilsgaard · B. K. Jacobsen Department of Community Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, 9037 Tromsø, Norway e-mail: jan-magnus.kvamme@uit.no

J.-M. Kvamme · J. Florholmen Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø, Norway

J. Florholmen

Laboratory of Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway diseases in elderly men and women. For the clinician the findings emphasize the importance of nutritional assessment as part of the medical evaluation of elderly patients.

Keywords Body mass index · Elderly · Chronic disease · Life style · Socioeconomic factors · Hand strength

Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
OR	Odds ratio
SD	Standard deviation

Introduction

The elderly population is rapidly growing. By 2050, it is expected that one in three Europeans will be 60 years and older [1]. Chronic health problems are common in later life and may be closely related to nutritional status as reflected by body mass index (BMI).

Most previous studies of associations between BMI and various medical conditions have focused either on the detrimental effect of obesity [2, 3], adult populations without analysis of elderly participants in particular [4, 5], or some selected chronic diseases [6, 7]. A number of studies have found malnourished patients in hospitals or community to be at increased risk of disease [8]. However, there are few population-based studies of elderly persons including all categories of BMI. Thus, important factors associated with low BMI compared to other BMI categories in this age group may not have been identified. The primary objective of the present study was to address these problems by exploring relationships between BMI and a wider selection of health-related variables in elderly men and women from the general population, including also the lower range categories of BMI.

Methods

Study population

The Tromsø study is a single centre, population-based longitudinal study with repeated health surveys of the municipality of Tromsø, Norway. The fourth cross-sectional survey of the population was conducted in 1994-1995. All inhabitants in the municipality aged 25 years and more were invited and examined at a research centre. The present analyses are restricted to participants aged 65 years and older. A total of 5,892 subjects in this age group were invited and 4,351 non-institutionalized persons attended the survey. Among them, 92 persons were not willing to take part in research or information concerning height and/ or weight was missing. Thus, 2,447 women and 1,812 men with mean age (SD) 73.1 (5.6) and 72.3 (5.9) years, respectively, were included in the analysis. The overall attendance rate was 72%, declining with increasing age (Table 1). In subjects aged <79 years old, 81% attended.

The survey was approved by the regional board of research ethics, and each participating subject gave written informed consent.

Categories of body mass index

Height and weight were measured without shoes in light clothing. BMI was calculated as weight divided by the square of height (kg/m^2) .

The BMI was in the main analyses divided into six categories (<20.0, 20.0–22.4, 22.5–24.9, 25.0–27.4, 27.5– 29.9, \geq 30.0 kg/m²) and thereby included the WHO (World Health Organization) definitions of low weight (<20 kg/m²), overweight (25.0–29.9 kg/m²) and obesity (\geq 30 kg/m²) [9].

 Table 1
 Participation in different age categories of elderly men and women. The Tromsø Study

Age range (years)	No. in	vited	No. included		Partic rate (cipation %)
	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
65–71	1,131	1,310	950	1,127	84.0	86.0
72–78	820	1,089	603	847	73.5	77.8
<u>≥</u> 79	489	1,053	259	473	53.0	44.9
Total	2,440	3,452	1,812	2,447	74.3	70.9

Subjects with BMI < 18.5 kg/m² and 18.5–19.9 kg/m² were merged in the analysis as only 80 subjects were in the former group. Furthermore, in the main tables, we present the results with BMI \geq 30 kg/m² as the top category due to low number of cases of some of the considered clinical conditions in obese subjects. In order to better describe differences across the range of BMI, we divided the 20.0–24.9 kg/m² and the 25.0–29.9 kg/m² brackets of BMI into two groups, respectively.

The category of BMI < 20 kg/m^2 was in this study classified as low relative weight and included the categories borderline underweight and undernutrition from the ESPEN (European Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition) guidelines for Nutrition Screening [10]. BMI < 20 kg/m^2 has been proposed by several authors as the cut-off value indicating risk of malnutrition in elderly individuals [11, 12].

Medical conditions and lifestyle variables

A self-administrated questionnaire was completed by the participants and included questions across a wide range of diseases and symptoms, smoking habits, intake of alcohol, social conditions, education, financial difficulties and level of physical activity. Detailed information concerning present and past smoking habits were classified into never, previous or current smoking. Age of disease onset was, except for cancer, also self-reported. We calculated the time since diagnosis. Four groups of health-related variables were considered: (1) Specific medical conditions, (2) Self-assessed current health, (3) Social and lifestyle characteristics and (4) Functional level.

We selected nine symptomatic medical conditions prevalent in the elderly population that might have connection to either low weight or obesity [8, 13]. Most of these conditions were self-reported by answering survey questions as "Do you have or have you had?" The considered conditions were cancer, mental distress, hip fracture, asthma or chronic bronchitis, stroke, angina pectoris or myocardial infarction and diabetes mellitus. We combined asthma and chronic bronchitis in the analysis as a high proportion responded positively for both diseases, and comparable spirometry values in both groups were found in a later evaluation of the same population [14]. Information regarding angina pectoris and previous myocardial infarction were merged into the variable ischemic heart disease (IHD). Data concerning history of cancer was obtained from the Norwegian Cancer Registry. The latter are based on mandatory registration.

The mental health was evaluated by means of an index based on seven questions concerning different dimensions of mental distress [15]. This mental distress index was partly derived from the Hopkins Symptom Check List [16] and the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) [17]. The index has been compared with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale [18] and Hopkins Symptom Check List with a reasonably good agreement also in elderly subjects. A cut-off value of 2.15 has been proposed to identify persons with significant mental distress [15].

The self-reported overall health was assessed by the question "What is your current state of health?" with the answer categories: Poor, not so good, good and very good. In the analyses, the first two categories were merged (labeled poor), as were the two last categories (labeled good).

Information on marital status was obtained from the National Population Register. Single marital status indicates in our analyses that the respondent has never been married, previously married or is a widow(er). Low educational level was defined as primary school only. Selfreported current economical situation was evaluated with four categories from very good to very difficult and the two lowest categories were categorized as difficult. This question was answered only by subjects aged 70 years and above. Alcohol consumption was low and dichotomized into drinking monthly or more frequently versus a lower consumption.

We defined the participants as having low physically activity if they reported lightly activity (not sweating or out of breath) less than 1 h a week during the past year. Handgrip strength of the non-dominant hand was registered as kilopascal (kPa) generated by manual compression of an air filled rubber bulb connected to a manometer.

A measurement below the median value for each sex, respectively, was defined as low. All subjects aged 65-74 and a random sample (8% sample) of those aged 75-84 were eligible for measurement of grip strength and we have data from 74% (2,555/3,473) of these subjects.

Data analysis

In addition to simple descriptive statistics, the difference in the distribution of the BMI groups according to age group or sex (Table 2) was tested with a chi-square test, as were the relationships between the different dependent variables considered and the categories of BMI (Table 3). We calculated odds ratios for the different dichotomized chronic diseases, social and lifestyle factors according to the six different BMI categories using logistic regression (Table 4). The upper-normal category according to WHO [9], BMI 22.5–24.9 kg/m², was chosen as the reference category. The estimates were adjusted for sex, age (65-71, 72-78, ≥ 79 years old) and smoking (current, previous and never smoking). In addition, for each analysis displayed in Table 4, we included, in a separate logistic regression analysis, a cross product terms of sex and BMI to test for interactions by sex. Furthermore, when the results from the logistic regression analysis suggested a non-linear (typically U- or inverse J-shaped) relationship, we tested for a non-linear relation with BMI by including as predictors the BMI-categories (coded 1-6 as a continuous variable) both as a linear term and a second order term. Similarly, when the results from the logistic regression analysis suggested a

categories of BMI in elderly men and women, The Tromsø Study	Age range (years)	Men Women	65-71 n = 950 n = 1,127	72-78 n = 603 n = 847	≥ 79 n = 259 n = 473	All (≥ 65) n = 1,812 n = 2,447
	BMI (kg/m2)					
	<18.5	Men	1.2 (11)	2.7 (16)	1.9 (5)	1.8 (32)
		Women	1.5 (17)	2.0 (17)	3.0 (14)	2.0 (48)
	18.5–19.9	Men	2.6 (25)	2.8 (17)	4.2 (11)	2.9 (53)
		Women	3.6 (41)	4.0 (34)	1.9 (9)	3.4 (84)
	20.0-22.4	Men	12.8 (122)	11.3 (68)	15.1 (39)	12.6 (229)
		Women	11.8 (133)	11.1 (94)	15.4 (73)	12.3 (300)
	22.5-24.9	Men	26.0 (247)	23.5 (142)	28.6 (74)	25.5 (463) ^a
		Women	21.9 (247)	22.2 (188)	20.9 (99)	21.8 (534)
	25.0-27.4	Men	29.7 (282)	30.3 (183)	31.3 (81)	30.1 (546) ^a
		Women	21.9 (247)	20.8 (176)	21.8 (103)	21.5 (526)
	27.5-29.9	Men	15.9 (151)	20.2 (122)	10.8 (28)	16.6 (301)
		Women	16.9 (191)	17.8 (151)	16.9 (80)	17.2 (422)
Numbers are given as $\%$ (<i>n</i>)	30.0-32.4	Men	8.9 (85)	6.3 (38)	5.8 (16)	7.7 (139) ^a
^a BMI categories with a		Women	11.6 (131)	11.1 (94)	12.3 (58)	11.6 (283)
significant ($P < 0.05$)	≥32.5	Men	2.8 (27)	2.8 (17)	1.9 (5)	2.7 (49) ^a
difference between men and women (Chi-square test)		Women	10.6 (120)	11.0 (93)	7.8 (37)	10.2 (250)

Table 2 Prevalence categories of BMI men and women, Study

Variable	Total No. ^a	Cases % (n)	Body Mass II	ndex (kg/m ²)		iy men and wome		hr	
		~	<20.0	20.0-22.4	22.5-24.9	25-27.4	27.5-29.9	≥30.0	P^{f}
$Men \ (n = I, 812)$									
Socioeconomic factors									
Single living	1,811	26.9 (487)	30.6 (26)	22.7 (52)	27.0 (125)	27.5 (150)	25.0 (75)	31.4 (59)	0.39
Lower education	1,804	56.8 (1,025)	60.0 (51)	55.6 (125)	51.5 (237)	60.2 (328)	58.5 (176)	57.4 (108)	0.12
Difficult economy ^b	960	13.5 (130)	19.0 (11)	12.1 (15)	11.9 (29)	13.6 (39)	17.3 (27)	9.8 (9)	0.39
Life style									
Smoking									
Never		14.3 (256)	7.1 (6)	11.1 (25)	17.6 (81)	15.4 (83)	11.0 (32)	15.5 (29)	
Previous	1,785	56.2 (1,004)	34.5 (29)	44.9 (101)	50.1 (230)	59.9 (322)	68.5 (200)	65.2 (122)	<0.001
Current		29.4 (525)	58.3 (49)	44.0 (99)	32.2 (148)	24.7 (133)	20.5 (60)	19.3 (36)	
Alcohol \geq monthly	1,801	48.5 (874)	37.6 (32)	45.8 (104)	50.7 (232)	49.7 (270)	47.7 (143)	49.5 (93)	0.31
Low physical activity	1,804	28.4 (512)	37.6 (32)	28.9 (66)	24.8 (114)	25.7 (140)	34.1 (102)	31.0 (58)	0.02
Low muscle strength ^c	1,155	48.9 (565)	75.0 (36)	60.9 (84)	49.0 (143)	47.7 (158)	39.0 (83)	45.9 (61)	<0.001
Medical conditions									
Poor current health	1,811	51.1 (925)	70.6 (60)	52.8 (121)	46.4 (215)	47.4 (259)	52.7 (158)	59.6 (112)	< 0.001
Mental distress	1,662	5.4 (90)	9.5 (7)	6.1 (13)	4.0 (17)	6.8 (34)	4.0 (11)	4.6 (8)	0.20
Hip fracture	1,349	3.0 (41)	8.6 (5)	1.7 (3)	3.5 (12)	3.7 (15)	1.4 (3)	2.1 (3)	0.06
Asthma/chronic bronchitis ^d	1,439	17.3 (249)	21.3 (13)	20.3 (37)	14.1 (53)	17.6 (76)	16.6 (40)	20.1 (30)	0.37
Stroke	1,800	7.2 (129)	10.7 (9)	5.7 (13)	5.9 (27)	7.9 (43)	7.7 (23)	7.6 (14)	0.52
Ischemic heart disease ^e	1,808	26.2 (474)	14.1 (12)	17.0 (39)	25.5 (118)	27.8 (151)	29.9 (90)	34.2 (64)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	1,801	5.6 (100)	3.5 (3)	5.7 (13)	4.8 (22)	3.7 (20)	7.7 (23)	10.2 (19)	0.01
Cancer	1,812	9.8 (178)	14.1 (12)	8.3 (19)	9.5 (44)	10.8 (59)	9.6 (29)	8.0 (15)	0.585
<i>Women</i> $(n = 2, 447)$									
Socioeconomic factors									
Single living	2,443	56.6 (1,383)	64.9 (85)	62.7 (188)	54.8 (292)	55.4 (291)	53.2 (224)	56.8 (303)	0.048
Lower education	2,418	76.0 (1,838)	70.2 (92)	73.2 (218)	72.0 (378)	74.9 (387)	80.2 (336)	80.9 (427)	0.001
Difficult economy ^b	1,280	17.2 (220)	11.6 (8)	18.8 (29)	12.1 (32)	17.1 (49)	17.3 (39)	22.3 (63)	0.037
Life style									
Smoking									
Never		57.8 (1,403)	35.9 (47)	46.1 (137)	57.6 (306)	57.1 (297)	65.6 (275)	64.3 (341)	
Previous	2,428	22.1 (537)	13.0 (17)	21.5 (64)	20.3 (108)	24.2 (126)	22.7 (95)	24.0 (127)	<0.001
Current		20.1 (488)	51.1 (67)	32.3 (96)	22.0 (117)	18.7 (97)	11.7 (49)	11.7 (62)	
Alcohol \geq monthly	2,432	20.9 (508)	24.2 (32)	25.3 (75)	24.2 (128)	21.0 (110)	17.9 (75)	16.5 (88)	0.006
Low physical activity	2,437	40.5 (987)	45.5 (60)	36.5 (109)	36.2 (192)	36.5 (191)	38.8 (163)	51.1 (272)	< 0.001
Low muscle strength ^c	1,400	49.8 (697)	77.8 (56)	50.6 (80)	55.1 (166)	41.0 (126)	43.1 (109)	51.8 (160)	<0.001

continued	
e	
Table	

Variable	Total No. ^a	Cases % (n)	Body Mass Ir	ndex (kg/m ²)					
			<20.0	20.0-22.4	22.5-24.9	25-27.4	27.5-29.9	≥30.0	P^{f}
Medical conditions									
Poor current health	2,444	60.9(1,488)	65.9 (87)	62.2 (186)	54.1 (289)	57.0 (300)	61.7 (259)	68.9 (367)	<0.001
Mental distress	2,113	11.1 (235)	21.1 (24)	12.8 (33)	12.0 (55)	9.8 (45)	9.2 (33)	9.7 (45)	0.008
Hip fracture	1,575	7.3 (115)	17.5 (14)	9.0 (17)	9.1 (33)	6.8 (23)	5.4 (15)	3.9 (13)	0.001
Asthma/chronic bronchitis ^d	1,670	20.5 (342)	31.5 (28)	18.4 (38)	16.2 (58)	19.0 (68)	18.2 (52)	26.3 (98)	0.001
Stroke	2,432	4.6 (111)	7.6 (10)	4.3 (13)	4.5 (24)	3.1 (16)	5.0 (21)	5.1 (27)	0.300
Ischemic heart disease ^e	2,441	19.2 (468)	16.7 (22)	15.8 (47)	14.6 (78)	20.6 (108)	23.8 (100)	21.3 (113)	0.003
Diabetes mellitus	2,436	6.7 (164)	5.3 (7)	3.7 (11)	6.0 (32)	5.9 (31)	6.2 (26)	10.7 (57)	0.002
Cancer	2,447	8.6 (211)	10.6 (14)	10.0 (30)	8.2 (44)	8.9 (47)	7.8 (33)	8.1 (43)	0.835
Data in each category of BMI a	re presented as per	centages (numbers)							

BMI body mass index

^a Variation in number of subjects included is explained by different response rates on the self administrated questionnaire

^b Only in participants aged 70 years and older

^c Handgrip in a subpopulation

d At least one of the indicated diseases

 $^{\mathrm{e}}$ At least one of the diseases myocardial infarction and angina pectoris

 $^{\rm f}$ P-value for differences between groups using the chi-square test

Variable	Body mass index	(kg/m ²)					P ^e
	<20.0	20.0-22.4	22.5–24.9 ^b	25.0-27.4	27.5–29.9	≥30.0	
Socioeconomic factors							
Single living	1.23 (0.89–1.69)	1.04 (0.83–1.32)	1.00	1.04 (0.86–1.26)	0.97 (0.79-1.20)	1.20 (0.98-1.48)	0.37
Lower education	1.00 (0.72–1.37)	1.12 (0.89–1.41)	1.00	1.35 (1.12–1.63)	1.48 (1.20–1.84)	1.59 (1.28–1.99)	< 0.001
Difficult economy	1.21 (0.69–2.12)	1.34 (0.87–2.03)	1.00	1.32 (0.93-1.88)	1.54 (1.05-2.25)	1.68 (1.15-2.45)	0.13
Life style							
Current smoking	3.62 (2.65-4.95)	1.72 (1.36–2.17)	1.00	0.73 (0.59-0.90)	0.49 (0.38-0.63)	0.46 (0.35-0.60)	< 0.001
Alcohol \geq monthly	0.72 (0.51-1.02)	0.86 (0.68–1.10)	1.00	0.88 (0.72-1.07)	0.80 (0.64-1.0)	0.72 (0.57-0.91)	0.066
Low physical activity	1.42 (1.04–1.95)	1.04 (0.82–1.32)	1.00	1.05 (0.87-1.28)	1.34 (1.08–1.65)	1.89 (1.53–2.32)	< 0.001
Low muscle strength	2.82 (1.78-4.48)	1.12 (0.84–1.49)	1.00	0.73 (0.58-0.92)	0.63 (0.49-0.81)	0.92 (0.72-1.19)	< 0.001
Medical conditions							
Poor current health	1.90 (1.38-2.61)	1.32 (1,06–1.64)	1.00	1.09 (0.91-1.29)	1.36 (1.12–1.65)	1.88 (1.54-2.30)	< 0.001
Mental distress	1.75 (1.10–2.81)	1.12 (0.75–1.66)	1.00	1.04 (0.74–1.46)	0.85 (0.57-1.27)	0.96 (0.66–1.41)	0.14
Hip fracture	2.04 (1.13-3.69)	0.86 (0.49–1.49)	1.00	0.84 (0.53-1.32)	0.52 (0.29-0.92)	0.44 (0.25-0.80)	< 0.001
Asthma/chronic bronchitis ^c	1.79 (1.17–2.73)	1.25 (0.90-1.73)	1.00	1.24 (0.95–1.64)	1.14 (0.83–1.55)	1.80 (1.35-2.40)	0.01
Stroke	1.65 (0.93-2.92)	0.95 (0.58-1.55)	1.00	1.07 (0.73-1.58)	1.21 (0.79–1.85)	1.30 (0.85-2.01)	0.43
Ischemic heart disease ^d	0.75 (0.50-1.13)	0.79 (0.59–1.05)	1.00	1.25 (1.01-1.55)	1.44 (1.14–1.82)	1.46 (1.15–1.85)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	0.80 (0.39-1.66)	0.86 (0.52-1.41)	1.00	0.85 (0.57-1.27)	1.18 (0.79–1.78)	1.98 (1.37-2.87)	< 0.001
Cancer	1.49 (0.93–2.39)	1.08 (0.75-1.57)	1.00	1.09 (0.81-1.47)	0.94 (0.67–1.32)	0.91 (0.64–1.29)	0.46

 Table 4
 Adjusted^a odds ratios (95% confidence interval) for associations between socioeconomic factors, lifestyle, various medical conditions and BMI in elderly men and women. The Tromsø Study

BMI body mass index

^a Adjusted for sex, age and smoking status (current, former and never smoking)

^b Subjects with 22.5–24.9 kg/m² constitute the reference category

^c At least one of the indicated diseases

^d At least one of the diseases myocardial infarction and angina pectoris

^e P-value for overall testing of BMI for each variable

linear relationship, we tested for a linear relation with BMI. A two-sided *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Analyses were performed using SPSS statistical software version 15.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago Illinois. USA).

Results

Prevalence of different BMI categories

The overall proportion with BMI < 20 kg/m² (low weight) was 5.1%, BMI 20.0–24.9 kg/m² (normal weight) 35.8%, BMI 25.0–29.9 kg/m² (overweight) 42.1% and BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m² (obesity) 16.9% (Table 2). The distribution of the BMI groups differed significantly between the sexes (*P* < 0.001). Obesity was more common in women than in men (21.8% vs. 10.4%), whereas a comparable proportion of women and men had BMI below 20 kg/m², 5.4 and 4.7%, respectively. In women, no significant age difference was seen between BMI categories, whereas in men,

indications of an inverse linear relationship between age and BMI was observed (P = 0.016).

Lifestyle, socio-economic status and medical conditions

Characteristics of the participants according to BMI category and sex are shown in Table 3. Compared to men, women tended to live alone, have lower education and consume alcohol less frequently. Current and previous smoking was much more prevalent in men than in women.

About 60% of the women and 50% of the men considered their overall current state of health to be poor or not so good. Approximately one in five subjects reported asthma, chronic bronchitis or IHD. The prevalences of mental distress, diabetes mellitus and history of hip fracture, stroke or cancer were between three and eleven percent (Table 3). The median time since the first diagnosis of stroke, hip fracture and cancer was four, 6 and 7 years, respectively. Current smoking, mental distress and hip fracture were in both sexes more prevalent in the lower BMI categories. Asthma or chronic bronchitis and a poor current health were more frequent both in the lower and higher BMI categories. The higher BMI categories were associated with diabetes mellitus and IHD.

Fig. 1 Adjusted odds ratios for associations between various medical conditions and BMI in elderly men and women (a-h). Subjects with 22.5–24.9 kg/m² constitute the reference category. *Error bars* indicate 95% confidence interval. Adjusted for sex, age and smoking (current, former and never smoking). The Tromsø study Associations between BMI categories, lifestyle and disease prevalence

Table 4 shows the adjusted associations between BMI and the prevalence of some chronic diseases, social and lifestyle factors. The results for the medical conditions are



Springer

displayed graphically in Fig. 1 as well. The test for interaction by sex was for all variables non-significant (*P*-values between 0.07 and 0.89) except for hand-grip strength (P = 0.016). However, stratified analyses revealed the same overall pattern also for this variable for men and women, and we therefore report the values for men and women combined in Table 4.

Low socioeconomic status was associated with the higher BMI categories. Low physical activity was more common both in the low weight and obese subjects, whereas reduced muscle strength was related to low weight. Current smoking was strongly inversely related to BMI. In Table 4 we give the results for current versus previous and never smokers combined as the results for never and previous smokers were similar.

Diabetes mellitus and IHD were associated only with the higher BMI categories; diabetes mellitus with obesity and IHD both with overweight and obesity. Asthma or chronic bronchitis and a poor current state of health showed a U-shaped relation to BMI (*P*-value for a second order term <0.05). The prevalence of mental distress and previous hip fracture were both inversely associated with BMI (*P*-value for linear trend 0.05 and <0.001, respectively). Figure 1e and h, may be suggest that both history of stroke and cancer were related to BMI < 20 kg/m², although these associations did not reach statistical significance.

Discussion

The present study points out characteristics of the lower and higher categories of BMI in elderly men and women. The results demonstrate that low weight is associated with fractures, mental distress, and low muscle strength. U-shaped relationships with BMI were found for asthma or chronic bronchitis, low physical activity and a general poor current health. The higher weight categories were associated with IHD and diabetes. Low socioeconomic status was associated with a high BMI. To the best of our knowledge there is no other recent population-based study focusing on all BMI categories assessing a similar wide range of conditions in elderly persons.

The prevalence of low weight $(BMI < 20 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ was about five percent. This is in accordance with findings from other community based studies [19, 20]. Both overweight and obesity were in this population less frequent than reported in studies of elderly individuals in the U.S. [21] but at the same level as found in a study with data from several European countries [4].

It could be assumed that low socioeconomic status reflected by difficult economy and low education and, should affect food habits adversely and predispose to a lower BMI. A study of elderly admitted patients found education below 12 years to be a risk factor for malnutrition [22]. In the present study, however, neither low education level nor difficult economic situation were related to low BMI. As earlier described in middle aged populations [23], a lower educational level was associated with obesity.

We observed a strong negative impact of current tobacco smoking on BMI. This has also previously been reported [24], and may be explained by increased basal metabolic rate [25] and impairment of smell and taste [26] in smokers.

Alcohol intake was very moderate in this population. Studies of hospital populations with more heavy drinkers have demonstrated a negative impact of alcohol use on nutritional status [27, 28].

Low physical activity, one aspect of physical function, was in this study associated with both low weight and obesity. A similar U-shaped relation between BMI and functional impairment was found in another study of community-dwelling elderly persons using a wider range of assessment techniques [29]. We also found low handgrip strength to be strongly associated with $BMI < 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$. Grip strength, important for daily life activities, is a predictor of disability [30] in addition to an indirect measure of lean body mass [31]. Low muscle mass in underweight individuals may explain both a reduced handgrip and a lower level of physical activity. Obesity has also in studies by other authors found to be associated with an impaired functional level [32]. Several mechanisms may explain these findings, including obesity related reduction in flexibility of movement and increased wear and tear on joints [33]. Furthermore, both underweight and obesity may be associated with diseases and conditions which in turn increase the risk of functional impairment [32].

Self assessed current state of health represent an overall subjective perception corresponding well with physicians' assessments and other objective health measures [34]. Compared to the reference group, we found a higher frequency of self-assessed poor health in both the higher and lower categories of BMI including the lower normal category of 20–22.4 kg/m². A similar U-shaped relationship was found when a corresponding question was used in a study evaluating obesity among adults in several European countries [4].

We found indications of increased mental distress among participants with BMI below 20 kg/m². The symptoms of anxiety and depression are often overlapping, especially in the more minor forms [35] and the index of mental distress used in this study included both set of symptoms. Our findings correspond with results from a study of hospitalized elderly patients evaluating depressive symptoms only [36]. However, a study of non-institutionalized adult and elderly persons found an association of both mood, anxiety and personality disorders to overweight and obesity, but not to underweight [37]. We did not find any association between symptoms of anxiety or depression and the higher categories of BMI.

Hip fracture represents an acute incident often resulting in persistent functional decline [38]. In this study, the median time since the last hip fracture was 6 years and still there was an inverse relation between hip fracture and BMI. This is consistent with other studies [39, 40]. Underweight is a risk factor for osteoporosis [41], which in turn increases the risk of a fall resulting in fracture. One previous study found, even after adjustment for bone mineral density, that underweight was associated with fracture risk [42]. Insufficient protective padding over the hips in underweight individuals is one important mechanism [43].

We found a U-shaped association between chronic bronchitis or asthma and BMI and this relationship was retained when each variable was evaluated separately. These two conditions cover a high proportion of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and there is considerable overlap between the subtypes of COPD [44]. Other community-based studies predominantly in adult and not elderly populations have confirmed an association of COPD to malnutrition and partly to obesity [6, 45].

Pulmonary cachexia, commonly identified by a low BMI, is an aspect of COPD characterized by both loss of muscle mass with or without loss of fat mass [46]. This muscle wasting is not completely understood, but may involve an increase in peripheral muscular vulnerability to oxidative stress [46]. The explanations of underweight in COPD patients further include insufficient nutritional intake because large meals can induce shortness of breath [6]. Additionally, both activity-induced and daily energy expenditure have been found to be increased in many of these patients [47]. There may be several explanations for the observed association between obesity and COPD, including a direct affect on airway calibre through chest wall restriction [6]. A more sedentary lifestyle in obese people may affect breathing pattern and pulmonary function adversely [6].

Diabetes mellitus and IHD were related to obesity, an association well documented in the literature [2, 4] and mainly mediated by an increase in insulin resistance [48]. Earlier studies comparing both adult and elderly populations have found the relative risk associated with overweight for diabetes mellitus [49] and IHD [49, 50] to decline with age. In our study, the risk associated with overweight was even more limited. We found IHD to be the only disease with significantly increased prevalence in the upper overweight category (BMI 27.5–29.9 kg/m²). More research is needed to define the upper limit of healthy weight in elderly individuals. However, as six out of ten

subjects are overweight or obese, affected cases in the upper BMI categories constitute a high number.

Previous studies have shown malnutrition in acute stroke patients to increase the risk of both in-hospital mortality and a poor clinical outcome [51, 52]. In cancer patients, weight loss is often an indication of poor survival [53]. Consequently, survivor bias can explain the lack of significant association found between cancer, stroke and the lower BMI category in this study (Fig 1e, h). As the median time since the first cancer diagnosis was 7 years, the majority of these subjects were long-term survivors.

Our study has several strengths. All elderly men and women in the municipality were invited, the participation rate was high and a wide range of conditions was assessed. BMI values were based on measured rather than selfreported weight and height. Furthermore, including also the lower end of the BMI spectrum, gives important information about underweight individuals.

The use of BMI in an elderly population may be a source of error as body composition is not measured accurately. The relative fat mass is increasing in later life and at a given BMI value, an older person will have a higher proportion of the body as adipose tissue than a younger adult. Nevertheless, BMI is easy to use also in a clinical setting, has a reasonable good correlation with body fat [54], it is reproducible and it is the core measure in several nutrition risk screening instruments [10]. Additionally, most of the variables included in our study are self-reported. This implies a risk of misclassification, but this must be expected to be non-differential in most situations.

The cross-sectional design of this study restricts the possibility of cause-effect conclusions. For some of the variables the expected direction may be from disease or lifestyle variable to BMI category. This is likely for mental distress and smoking. For other medical conditions such as diabetes mellitus and IHD, a high BMI may increase the risk of disease. In some situations, both mechanisms may be of importance, thus creating a vicious circle. It has been shown that hip fracture patients who are malnourished at admission also lose weight during the course of the disease [55].

Conclusions

Our results demonstrate that both low and high BMI are associated with a wide range of prevalent conditions and diseases in elderly men and women. For the clinician this emphasizes the importance of nutritional assessment as part of the medical evaluation of elderly patients. Using BMI alone, a cut off of 20 kg/m² identifies a subpopulation at risk in the lower part of the BMI spectrum. At the present time most attention is given to the link between the higher BMI categories and diseases, but our findings suggest that moderate overweight constitutes a relatively small health hazard in this age group.

Acknowledgments This study was supported by a grant from the Centre for research in the elderly, the Northern Norway Regional health Authority. The National Health Screening Service helped organize and carry out the Tromsø 4 survey. J. -M. K. and B. K. J. were responsible for the design of the study. J. -M. K. did the analysis and wrote the first draft of the paper. B. K. J. contributed to the analysis, interpretation of the results and the review of the drafts. J. F. contributed to the study design, the interpretation of the results and reviewed the final draft. T. W. contributed to the statistical analysis, interpretation of the data and reviewed the final draft. All the authors approved the final version.

References

- 1. World Population Prospects. The 2006 revision. New York: United Nations; 2007.
- Patterson RE, Frank LL, Kristal AR, White E. A comprehensive examination of health conditions associated with obesity in older adults. Am J Prev Med. 2004;27:1385–90.
- Calza S, Decarli A, Ferraroni M. Obesity and prevalence of chronic diseases in the 1999–2000 Italian National Health Survey. BMC Public Health. 2008;28(8):140.
- Andreyeva T, Michaud PC, van Soest A. Obesity and health in Europeans aged 50 years and older. Public Health. 2007;121: 497–509.
- Peytremann-Bridevaux I, Santos-Eggimann B. Health correlates of overweight and obesity in adults aged 50 years and over: results from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). Obesity and health in Europeans aged > or =50 years. Swiss Med Wkly. 2008;138:261–6.
- Guerra S, Sherrill DL, Bobadilla A, Martinez FD, Barbee RA. The relation of body mass index to asthma, chronic bronchitis, and emphysema. Chest. 2002;122:1256–63.
- 7. Choi BC, Shi F. Risk factors for diabetes mellitus by age and sex: results of the national population health survey. Diabetologia. 2001;44:1221–31.
- Stratton RJ, Green CJ, Elia M, editors. Disease-related malnutrition: and evidence-based approach to treatment. Oxon: CABI Publishing; 2003. p. 93–155.
- 9. Physical Status: The Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1995.
- Kondrup J, Allison SP, Elia M, Vellas B, Plauth M. ESPEN guidelines for nutrition screening 2002. Clin Nutr. 2003;22:415– 21.
- 11. Sergi G, Perissinotto E, Pisent C, Buja A, Maggi S, Coin A, et al. An adequate threshold for body mass index to detect underweight condition in elderly persons: the Italian Longitudinal Study on Aging (ILSA). J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2005;60:866–71.
- Campillo B, Paillaud E, Uzan I, Merlier I, Abdellaoui M, Perennec J, et al. Value of body mass index in the detection of severe malnutrition: influence of the pathology and changes in anthropometric parameters. Clin Nutr. 2004;23:551–9.
- Grundy EMD. The epidemiology of aging. In: Tallis RC, Fillit HM, editors. Brocklehurst's textbook of geriatric medicine and gerontology. 6th ed. London: Churchill Livingstone; 2003. p. 3–21.
- Medbø A, Melbye H. Lung function testing in the elderly—can we still use FEV1/FVC <70% as a criterion of COPD? Respir Med. 2007;101:1097–105.

- Søgaard AJ, Bjelland I, Tell GS, Roysamb E. A comparison of the CONOR mental health index to the HSCL-10 and HADS. Nor J Epidem. 2003;13:279–84.
- Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. Behav Sci. 1974;19:1–15.
- Goldberg DP, Blackwell B. Psychiatric illness in general practice. A detailed study using a new method of case identification. Br Med J. 1970;1:439–43.
- Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983;67:361–70.
- Perissinotto E, Pisent C, Sergi G, Grigoletto F. Anthropometric measurements in the elderly: age and gender differences. Br J Nutr. 2002;87:177–86.
- de Groot CP, van Staveren WA. Survey in Europe on nutrition and the elderly, a concerted action. Undernutrition in the European SENECA studies. Clin Geriatr Med. 2002;18:699–708.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999–2004. JAMA. 2006;295:1549–55.
- Feldblum I, German L, Castel H, Harman-Boehm I, Bilenko N, Eisinger M. Characteristics of undernourished older medical patients and the identification of predictors for undernutrition status. Nutr J. 2007;6:37.
- Roskam AJ, Kunst AE. The predictive value of different socioeconomic indicators for overweight in nine European countries. Public Health Nutr. 2008;11:1256–66.
- Albanes D, Jones DY, Micozzi MS, Mattson ME. Associations between smoking and body weight in the US population: analysis of NHANES II. Am J Public Health. 1987;77:439–44.
- Collins LC, Walker J, Stamford BA. Smoking multiple high versus low-nicotine cigarettes: impact on resting energy expenditure. Metabolism. 1996;45:923–6.
- Vennemann MM, Hummel T, Berger K. The association between smoking and smell and taste impairment in the general population. J Neurol. 2008;255:1121–6.
- Manari AP, Preedy VR, Peters TJ. Nutritional intake of hazardous drinkers and dependent alcoholics in the UK. Addict Biol. 2003;8:201–10.
- Santolaria F, Perez-Manzano JL, Milena A, Gonzalez-Reimers E, Gomez-Rodriguez MA, Martinez-Riera A, et al. Nutritional assessment in alcoholic patients. Its relationship with alcoholic intake, feeding habits, organic complications and social problems. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2000;59:295–304.
- Galanos AN, Pieper CF, Cornoni-Huntley JC, Bales CW, Fillenbaum GG. Nutrition and function: is there a relationship between body mass index and the functional capabilities of community-dwelling elderly? J Am Geriatr Soc. 1994;42:368–73.
- Rantanen T. Muscle strength, disability and mortality. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2003;13:3–8.
- Sternfeld B, Ngo L, Satariano WA, Tager IB. Associations of body composition with physical performance and self-reported functional limitation in elderly men and women. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;156:110–21.
- Jenkins KR. Obesity's effects on the onset of functional impairment among older adults. Gerontologist. 2004;44:206–16.
- Launer LJ, Harris T, Rumpel C, Madans J. Body mass index, weight change, and risk of mobility disability in middle-aged and older women. The epidemiologic follow-up study of NHANES I. JAMA. 1994;271:1093–8.
- Linn BS, Linn MW. Objective and self-assessed health in the old and very old. Soc Sci Med. 1980; 14A:311–5.
- Katon W, Roy-Byrne PP. Mixed anxiety and depression. J Abnorm Psychol. 1991;100:337–45.
- 36. German L, Feldblum I, Bilenko N, Castel H, Harman-Boehm I, Shahar DR. Depressive symptoms and risk for malnutrition

among hospitalized elderly people. J Nutr Health Aging. 2008;12:313-8.

- Petry NM, Barry D, Pietrzak RH, Wagner JA. Overweight and obesity are associated with psychiatric disorders: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Psychosom Med. 2008;70:288–97.
- Wolinsky FD, Fitzgerald JF, Stump TE. The effect of hip fracture on mortality, hospitalization, and functional status: a prospective study. Am J Public Health. 1997;87:398–403.
- Lumbers M, New SA, Gibson S, Murphy MC. Nutritional status in elderly female hip fracture patients: comparison with an agematched home living group attending day centres. Br J Nutr. 2001;85:733–40.
- Meyer HE, Tverdal A, Falch JA. Risk factors for hip fracture in middle-aged Norwegian women and men. Am J Epidemiol. 1993;137:1203–11.
- Michaelsson K, Bergstrom R, Mallmin H, Holmberg L, Wolk A, Ljunghall S. Screening for osteopenia and osteoporosis: selection by body composition. Osteoporos Int. 1996;6:120–6.
- 42. De Laet C, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johanson H, Johnell O, Delmas P, et al. Body mass index as a predictor of fracture risk: a metaanalysis. Osteoporos Int. 2005;16:1330–8.
- 43. Slemenda C. Prevention of hip fractures: risk factor modification. Am J Med. 1997;103:65S–71S.
- 44. Marsh SE, Travers J, Weatherall M, Williams MV, Aldington S, Shirtcliffe PM, et al. Proportional classifications of COPD phenotypes. Thorax. 2008;63:761–7.
- Chen Y, Breithaupt K, Muhajarine N. Occurrence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among Canadians and sex-related risk factors. J Clin Epidemiol. 2000;53:755–61.

- Schols AM, Gosker HR. The pathophysiology of cachexia in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2009;3:282–7.
- 47. Baarends EM, Schols AM, Westerterp KR, Wouters EF. Total daily energy expenditure relative to resting energy expenditure in clinically stable patients with COPD. Thorax. 1997;52:780–5.
- 48. Bechtold M, Palmer J, Valtos J, Iasiello C, Sowers J. Metabolic syndrome in the elderly. Curr Diab Rep. 2006;6:64–71.
- Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. JAMA. 1999;282:1523–9.
- Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci E, Ascherio A, Spiegelman D, Colditz GA, et al. Body size and fat distribution as predictors of coronary heart disease among middle-aged and older US men. Am J Epidemiol. 1995;141:1117–27.
- Davalos A, Ricart W, Gonzalez-Huix F, Soler S, Marrugat J, Molins A, et al. Effect of malnutrition after acute stroke on clinical outcome. Stroke. 1996;27:1028–32.
- 52. Yoo SH, Kim JS, Kwon SU, Yun SC, Koh JY, Kang DW. Undernutrition as a predictor of poor clinical outcomes in acute ischemic stroke patients. Arch Neurol. 2008;65:39–43.
- 53. Bruera E. ABC of palliative care. Anorexia, cachexia, and nutrition. BMJ. 1997;315:1219–22.
- Morabia A, Ross A, Curtin F, Pichard C, Slosman DO. Relation of BMI to a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry measure of fatness. Br J Nutr. 1999;82:49–55.
- 55. Bachrach-Lindstrom M, Johansson T, Unosson M, Ek AC, Wahlstrom O. Nutritional status and functional capacity after femoral neck fractures: a prospective randomized one-year follow-up study. Aging (Milano). 2000;12:366–74.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

Risk of malnutrition is associated with mental health symptoms in community living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme^{1,2*}, Ole Grønli³, Jon Florholmen^{2,4} and Bjarne K Jacobsen¹

Abstract

Background: Little research has been done on the relationship between malnutrition and mental health in community living elderly individuals. In the present study, we aimed to assess the associations between mental health (particularly anxiety and depression) and both the risk of malnutrition and body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) in a large sample of elderly men and women from Tromsø, Norway.

Methods: In a cross-sectional survey, with 1558 men and 1553 women aged 65 to 87 years, the risk of malnutrition was assessed by the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool ('MUST'), and mental health was measured by the Symptoms Check List 10 (SCL-10). BMI was categorised into six groups (< 20.0, 20.0-22.4, 22.5-24.9, 25.0-27.4, 27.5-29.9, \geq 30.0 kg/m²).

Results: The risk of malnutrition (combining medium and high risk) was found in 5.6% of the men and 8.6% of the women. Significant mental health symptoms were reported by 3.9% of the men and 9.1% of the women. In a model adjusted for age, marital status, smoking and education, significant mental health symptoms (SCL-10 score \geq 1.85) were positively associated with the risk of malnutrition (odds ratio 3.9 [95% CI 1.7-8.6] in men and 2.5 [95% CI 1.3-4.9] in women), the association was positive also for subthreshold mental health symptoms. For individuals with BMI < 20.0 the adjusted odds ratio for significant mental health symptoms was 2.0 [95% CI 1.0-4.0].

Conclusions: Impaired mental health was strongly associated with the risk of malnutrition in community living elderly men and women and this association was also significant for subthreshold mental health symptoms.

Background

Mental health problems are among the most prevalent conditions in elderly people. Anxiety and depression, often seen as co-morbid conditions with overlapping symptoms [1], are the two most frequent mental health disorders [2]. Malnutrition is also relatively common in elderly individuals and may be associated with mental health, particularly depression [3].

While several studies have found mental disorders to be a risk factor for involuntary weight loss/malnutrition in geriatric inpatients and outpatients [4], little population-based research has been done on the relationship between risk of malnutrition and mental health in this age group. A study from Sweden found

¹Department of Community Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway

depressive symptoms to predict malnutrition in community living elderly [5], whereas a German study of nursing home residents found no significant difference in the mean malnutrition score between residents with and without depression [6]. Furthermore, studies of the relationship between body mass index (BMI) and depressive symptoms in elderly individuals have yielded conflicting results. In a study from the US, depression in men was found to be inversely associated with body weight [7]. A later study of a multiethnic elderly population found an increased risk of depression with increasing BMI, but the most adverse impact of obesity on depression was found in African Americans [8]. Neither of these studies examined the lower BMI categories in more detail.

In the current study, we therefore aimed to investigate the associations between mental health and both the risk of malnutrition and BMI in a large sample of



© 2011 Kvamme et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{*} Correspondence: jan-magnus.kvamme@uit.no

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

community-living elderly men and women. We hypothesised that there is a positive relationship between impaired mental health and risk of malnutrition and low BMI.

Methods

Study population

Between October 2007 and December 2008, adult inhabitants of the community of Tromsø were invited to participate in a health survey known as the Tromsø Study. In the current analysis, we included data from participants aged 65 to 87 years. All 6098 men and women in this age group were invited, and 4017 (65.9%) completed the survey. Height or weight was not measured in 21 persons and information about weight loss that was required for the determination of malnutrition was missing in 413 persons; in addition, 472 persons omitted data related to smoking, education or mental health symptoms. Therefore, 1558 men and 1553 women (51.0% of the invited individuals) were included in the analysis. The mean age of the participants included in the study sample was lower than that of the non-attending persons, and the mean age was also lower than that of the participants not included in the study sample because of missing values. The BMI of the included participants was not significantly different from that of the non-included participants.

Each participant provided written informed consent, and the survey was approved by the Regional Board of Research Ethics.

Measures

Nutritional screening tool and body mass index

The participants had their weight (kg) and height (cm) measured to the nearest decimal. During these measurements, they were in light clothing and did not wear shoes. BMI was calculated as the weight divided by the square of height (kg/m²). In a self-administrated questionnaire, the participants were asked for any involuntary weight loss during the last six months (and if so, weight loss in kg). Weight loss was grouped as follows: below 5%, between 5% and 10% or above 10% of their pre-weight-loss body weight.

Based on the BMI and the extent of weight loss, each subject was categorised into low, medium or high risk of malnutrition according to the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool ('MUST') (Figure 1). The 'MUST' tool is the nutritional screening instrument recommended by the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) for use in the community [9]. Two other nutritional screening tools have been recommended by the ESPEN, the Nutrition Risk Screening 2002 (NRS 2002) and the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA). NRS 2002 is mainly intended for use in hospitals. The MNA is constructed to be used by heath care professionals and not for self-administration. Consequently, the MNA is difficult to use in larger epidemiological studies.

The 'MUST' tool was originally developed by the British Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition http:// www.bapen.org.uk. It includes an acute disease



Page	3	of	8

	Men (<i>n</i> = 1558)	Women (<i>n</i> = 1553)	<i>p</i> -value
Age in years, Mean (SD)	71.2 (5.3)	72.0 (5.6)	< 0.001 ^a
Currently married, % (n)	75.6 (1178)	51.4 (798)	< 0.001 ^b
Lower education, % (n)	33.2 (517)	52.9 (822)	< 0.001 ^b
Smoking, % (n)			
Never smoked	24.4 (380)	47.8 (743)	< 0.001 ^b
Previous smokers	60.6 (944)	38.2 (593)	
Current smokers	15.0 (234)	14.0 (217)	
Alcohol ^d more than once a month, % (n)	57.1 (878)	39.6 (605)	< 0.005 ^b
BMI (kg/m ²) Mean (SD)	27.0 (3.6)	27.0 (4.5)	0.69 ^a
Risk of malnutrition, % (n)			
Low	94.3 (1470)	91.4 (1419)	0.005 ^b
Medium	3.5 (55)	5.5 (85)	
High	2.1 (33)	3.2 (49)	
SCL-10 score Median (interquartile range)	1.10 (1.00-1.30)	1.20 (1.07-1.44)	< 0.001 ^c
SCL-10 score \geq 1.85, % (n)	3.9 (61)	9.1 (142)	< 0.001 ^b

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of participating elderly men and women, The Tromsø Study (2007-2008)

^at-test, ^bchi-square test, ^cMann-Whitney U test, ^d n is 1538 men and 1526 women (alcohol).

component with no nutritional intake for > 5 days, which normally necessitates hospitalisation [10]. Because participation in this study required the ability to independently visit a research centre, the acute diseases component was set to zero. The weight loss question was slightly modified to state a time span of the "last 6 months", but this encompasses the time span of "the past 3-6 months", as stated in the original 'MUST' tool. In Tables 1 and 2, all three risk categories of malnutrition are described, whereas the medium and high risk categories are combined in the analyses in Figure 2.

BMI was divided into six categories in order to include the World Health Organization definitions of overweight (25.0-29.9 kg/m²) and obesity (\geq 30 kg/m²) [11] in addition to the underweight category (< 20 kg/m²) [9]. We further subdivided the categories between 20 kg/m² and 30 kg/m² to describe in more detail the lower-normal weight (20.0-22.4 kg/m², 22.5-24.9 kg/m²) and overweight individuals (25.0-27.4 kg/m², 27.5-29.9 kg/m²).

Assessment of mental health symptoms

Mental health status was assessed by the Hopkins Symptoms Check List-10 (SCL-10), which has been widely used in epidemiological studies. The SCL-10 is a selfadministrated instrument that mainly explores symptoms of anxiety and depression [12]. The ten items of the SCL-10 were part of the questionnaire that was included in the invitation to the survey. The questionnaire was completed by participants at home and handed in at the study centre.

The SCL-10 questions explored the presence and severity of the following ten symptoms during the preceding week: (1) "Sudden fear without apparent reason", (2) "Afraid or worried", (3) "Faintness or dizziness", (4) "Tense or upset", (5) "Easily blaming yourself ", (6) "Sleeplessness", (7) "Depressed or sad", (8) "Feeling worthless", (9) "Feeling that everything is a struggle", and (10) "Feeling hopelessness with regard to the future".

Each question was rated on a four-point scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). Missing values were replaced by the sample mean value for each item, but questionnaires with three or more missing values were excluded from the analyses. The average SCL-10 score was calculated according to Strand et al [12] by dividing the total score by the total number of items (score ranging between 1.0 and 4.0). A higher score value indicated more symptoms. We found an acceptable degree of internal consistency for the scale in this sample (Cronbach's alpha 0.84).

Table 2 The SCL-10 score^a according to risk categories of malnutrition in elderly men and women, The Tromsø Study (2007-2008)

		Men (<i>n</i> = 1558)			Women (<i>n</i> = 1553)	
Risk of malnutrition	n	SCL-10 score	<i>p</i> -value ^b	n	SCL-10 score	<i>p</i> -value ^b
Low	1470	1.10 (1.0-1.30)		1419	1.20 (1.05-1.40)	
Medium	55	1.13 (1.10-1.40)	< 0.001	85	1.30 (1.10-1.65)	< 0.001
High	33	1.36 (1.05-1.56)		49	1.40 (1.13-1.70)	

^aMedian (IQ range), ^bKruskal Wallis test.



The SCL-10 is an abbreviated version of the 25-item Hopkins Symptoms Checklist (SCL-25) [13], which has been validated in different age categories, including elderly individuals [14]. The SCL-25 was designed to predict both anxiety and depression but was found to predict depression better than anxiety disorders in a population-based study [15]. The shorter SCL-10 version correlated highly with the SCL-25 version (r =0.97) in a population-based Norwegian study that also included elderly individuals [12]. Depending on the cutoff limits used, the literature indicates that 50-60% of cases detected with these instruments are individuals who actually qualify for a diagnosis of mental disorders based on clinical interviews [12].

An SCL-10 score of 1.85 has been proposed as the cut-off for predicting diagnosed mental disorders [12], and score values of \geq 1.85 in the current study were referred to as *significant symptoms*. To assess the impact of score values below this cut-off, we subdivided the SCL-10 scores between 1.01 and 1.84 into a lower score category (SCL-10 score 1.01 to 1.39) referred to as *some symptoms* and a higher score category (SCL-10 score 1.40 to 1.84) referred to as *subthreshold symptoms*. The individuals with no symptoms (SCL-10 score 1.0) constituted the reference category (Figure 2).

Other variables

Information regarding age and marital status was obtained from Statistics, Norway. Details regarding educational background, household income, smoking habits and other disease variables were obtained from selfadministrated questionnaires. Household income was dichotomised into above and below Norwegian Kroner 300 000. Lower education was defined as primary school only. Alcohol use was relatively infrequent and was dichotomised into drinking more than once a month versus a lower consumption. Smoking habits were divided into three categories (never, previous or current smoking).

Data analysis

The SCL-10 score was analysed as both a dichotomised variable and a continuous variable. The score was positively skewed and we therefore reported the median SCL-10 values with 25 - 75% interquartile (IQ) range in Tables 1 and 2. The Mann Whitney U or Kruskal Wallis test was used to test the differences in SCL-10 score between the groups. Differences in baseline variables between men and women were analysed using the Chisquare test and t-test (Table 1). The associations between the SCL-10 categories and the risk of malnutrition were analysed using logistic regression (Figure 2). The SCL-10 category with no symptoms (1.0) was used as reference. The odds ratio (OR) estimates were adjusted for potential confounders (age, marital status, smoking and educational level). The analysis of the relationship between the risk of malnutrition and the SCL-10 score was stratified by gender. The Chi-square test and logistic regression (table 3) were used to analyse the

Table 3 The proportion of subjects with SCL-10 score \geq 1.85 and odds ratio (95% confidence interval) for the association between SCL-10 score \geq 1.85 and BMI in elderly men and women^b, The Tromsø study (2007-2008)

BMI categories	SCL-10 score ≥ 1.85 % (proportions)	OR (95% CI) for 1.85	SCL-10 score ≥
		Adjusted for age and sex	Multivariable adjusted ^a
< 20.0	15.2 (12/79)	2.3 (1.1-4.5)	2.0 (1.0-4.0)
20.0-22.4	5.2 (16/308)	0.8 (0.4-1.4)	0.8 (0.4-1.4)
22.5-24.9	6.7 (42/631)	1.1 (0.7-1.8)	1.1 (0.7-1.7)
25.0-27.4	5.6 (45/803)	1.0 Reference	1.0 Reference
27.5-29.9	6.5 (42/646)	1.1 (0.7-1.8)	1.1 (0.7-1.7)
≥ 30.0	7.1 (46/644)	1.2 (0.8-1.8)	1.2 (0.8-1.9)

 $^{\rm a}$ Adjusted for sex, age, educational level, marital status and smoking status, $^{\rm b}n$ = 3111.

relationship between the six BMI categories and the proportion of the participants with an SCL-10 score \geq 1.85. In the regression analysis, the BMI category with the highest number of participants was used as reference. Data from men and women were pooled in this analysis due to the low expected numbers in some BMI groups in sex-stratified analyses.

Two sided *p*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The analyses were performed using SPSS statistical software version 17.0 (SPSS inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA).

Results

Baseline characteristics of the 1558 men and 1553 women included in the analyses are shown in Table 1. The mean age was 71.2 years in men and 72.0 years in women. Compared to men, women were more likely to be single and have a lower level of education, and a smaller proportion had a history of smoking. Mean BMI was 27.0 kg/m² in both genders. Risk of malnutrition (combining medium and high risk) was found in 7.1% (222/3112) of the participants, which included 5.6% (88/1558) of men and 8.6% (134/1553) of women. The SCL-10 score was higher in women (median 1.20) than in men (median 1.10) (p < p0.001) and was higher in persons aged \geq 75 years old than in persons aged 65 to 74 years old, which indicates more symptoms of anxiety and depression in women and in the oldest participants. Significant mental health problems $(SCL-10 \text{ score} \ge 1.85)$ were found in 3.9% (61/1558) of men and 9.1% (142/1553) of women.

Mental health and the risk of malnutrition

The SCL-10 score was significantly associated with an increased risk of malnutrition in both men and women (Table 2). The results suggest a relatively stronger relationship between the risk of malnutrition and the median SCL-10 score in men than in women.

In men who were at risk of malnutrition (combining medium and high risk), 11.4% (10/88) had significant SCL-10 symptoms; the corresponding percentage in women was 16.4% (22/134). In Figure 2, the strength of the associations between the SCL-10 score categories and the risk of malnutrition is further explored using a logistic regression analysis. In both men and women, significant SCL-10 symptoms were strongly associated with the risk of malnutrition; the odds ratio was 3.9 (95% CI 1.7-8.6) in men and 2.5 (95% CI 1.3-4.9) in women. Also, for the subthreshold symptoms (SCL-10 score 1.40 to 1.84), a statistically significant association with the risk of malnutrition was found. A test for linear trends across the SCL-10 score categories was statistically significant for both genders (p < 0.001 in men and p = 0.01 in women). However, the difference between the genders with regard to the strength of the relationship (Figure 2) was not statistically significant (p = 0.4). The odds ratio estimates were adjusted for age, marital status, smoking habits and educational level. Individuals reporting no SCL-10 symptoms (score 1) constituted the reference category.

In three separate sets of analyses, we also adjusted for the impact of alcohol use (more or less frequent than once a month), chronic somatic diseases (history of cancer, heart attack or stroke) or household economy. However, none of these three variables had a significant impact on the relationship between the SCL-10 score and the risk of malnutrition (data not shown).

Mental health and BMI

We also assessed the relationship between various BMI categories and the proportion of individuals (men and women) with significant SCL-10 symptoms (SCL-10 score \geq 1.85). The highest proportion with significant SCL-10 symptoms (15.2%, 12/79) was found in participants with BMI < 20.0 kg/m² (Table 3). In obese participants (BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m²) the corresponding proportion was not significantly increased. A chi-square test for the model was statistically significant (p = 0.03).

The strength of the associations between the BMI categories and a SCL-10 score \geq 1.85 is further explored using a logistic regression analysis (Table 3). The multivariable adjusted odds ratio estimate for the lowest BMI category (< 20.0 kg/m²) was 2.0 (95% CI 1.0-4.0) compared to the reference category of BMI 25-27.4 kg/m².

Discussion

In this study, we found that mental health symptoms were strongly associated with the risk of malnutrition in elderly individuals. Both the risk of malnutrition and mental health symptoms were more prevalent in women than in men. To our knowledge, this is the largest population-based study that explored the relationship between the risk of malnutrition and mental health in elderly individuals.

Some previous studies in this area have utilised the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) and the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) instrument for the assessment of the relationship between depression and malnutrition. A Swedish study of 579 community-living elderly people found that depressive symptoms were predictive of malnutrition [5]; this was observed to a larger extent in men than in women. The relationship between depression and malnutrition in nursing home residents was investigated in a German study, and no differences was found in the mean MNA score between subjects who had depression and those who did not. However, a modest association was demonstrated between malnutrition and depression in a regression analysis [6]. A study of 267 community-living elderly in Brazil [16] showed a positive relationship between malnutrition and depression.

We believe the 'MUST' tool used in the current study has an advantage over the MNA with regards to the associations explored. The MNA has been validated in a number of studies of elderly individuals, but it includes information about both neuropsychological problems and psychological stress [17]. A positive correlation between the MNA risk score and the symptoms of depression could therefore be anticipated. The 'MUST' tool does not include any component that explores mental health. This is the first study to use either the 'MUST' tool or the SCL-10 the assessment of the relationship between risk of malnutrition and mental health.

Increased risk of malnutrition (combining medium and high risk) was found in 7.1% of the individuals in the current sample. In previous studies of communityliving elderly individuals, prevalence rates for the risk of malnutrition varied from 2.5% to 21% [18-21]. This variation in prevalence may reflect the use of different criteria both to define malnutrition and differences in sample selections.

In accordance with former studies on adult and elderly individuals, we found that women had more mental health symptoms than men [22]. This gender difference is not fully understood but may to some extent be explained by an underreporting of depressive symptoms by male individuals [23].

Mental health may be assessed by both a categorical approach, which considers diagnoses that are based on a distinct cut-off, and a dimensional approach, which considers symptoms along a continuum. The latter approach also takes into account subthreshold symptoms of anxiety and depression, which may also adversely affect daily life [24,25]. The present study revealed statistically significant associations using both a categorical and a more dimensional approach.

Somatic diseases, especially stroke, myocardial infarction and cancer, represent risk factors for depressive symptoms in elderly individuals [26]. Somatic diseases may also increase the risk of malnutrition [21]. However, adjusting for the history of these three important somatic diseases did not affect the conclusions of the current study.

Individuals with BMI < 20.0 kg/m^2 had a two to three times higher prevalence of significant mental health symptoms (table 3) and the corresponding adjusted OR was 2.0 and of borderline significance (p = 0.06) (table 3). Obesity (BMI > 30.0) was not associated with more mental health symptoms. Previous studies have reported both a decreased [7] and an increased risk [8] of depression in obese elderly individuals. However, the lower BMI categories were not specifically examined in these two studies.

The Tromsø study included participants from both urban and rural areas although the majority live in the city centre. Our results may not be generalised to all other elderly populations as both living conditions and health care organisation differ between countries. However, we believe that it is likely that similar relationships are present in other similar community living elderly Western populations.

As discussed above, this study has several strengths as well as some potential limitations. First, the SCL-10 captures symptoms of both anxiety and depression, although depression is more influential in the relationship with nutritional status. However, considerable overlap exists between anxiety and depression, which often appear as co-morbid disorders [1,27].

Second, eating disorders were not assessed in this study. In a recent review of eating disorders in the elderly, depression was described as the most important co morbid condition. However, the prevalence of eating disorders is low in the elderly population [28].

Third, the study sample that exhibited valid values for the SCL-10-score and the 'MUST' score represented 52% of the target population. Thus, selection bias may be a concern. However, it is likely that the elderly men and women who did not complete the survey or omitted key information were frailer, more cognitive impaired and more prone to both malnutrition and impaired mental health than the persons who were included in the study sample.

Fourth, by using 1.85 as the cut-off for the SCL-10 score yielded significant mental health problems of 4.2% in men and 9.8% in women, which may be an underestimation. In elderly people, the prevalence of major depression is 1 to 4%, the prevalence of minor depression is 4 to 13% [26] and the prevalence of anxiety is 3.2% to 14.2% [29]. The cut-off of 1.85 for the SCL-10 score was adopted from previous studies that describe

the SCL-10 [12] and has not been compared to clinical diagnostic interviews in community-living elderly men or women. However, the main purpose of the current study was not to describe the prevalence of mental health problems but to determine the relationship between impaired mental health and nutritional status.

Fifth, there was no screening of cognitive decline in this study. Mild cognitive impairment can be present a long time before dementia is identified and this might be associated with malnutrition and symptoms of anxiety and depression. However, participants had to both independently visit a research centre and accomplish a detailed self administrated questionnaire. This reduces the risk of cognitive impairment among participants included in the study population.

The current study also demonstrated a significant association between subthreshold mental health symptoms and the risk of malnutrition. Several reports have described other adverse health effects that are related to subthreshold mental health symptoms in elderly individuals [30,31]. The cut-off for the SCL-10 used in the current study identified 13.6% of men and 22.4% of women with subthreshold symptoms. This corresponds well with the 20.2% of older women identified with subthreshold depression in a recent study that used the Center for Epidemiological Studies Scale for Depression (CES-D) [32].

The cross-sectional design hampers conclusions about the directionality of the associations. The most important is probably the influence of depression on appetite and food intake. This can lead to weight loss and increase the risk of malnutrition. In the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders [33], both weight gain and weight loss are among the diagnostic criteria for depression. In contrast, malnutrition may also be associated with micronutrient deficiencies that adversely affect mental health. Inadequate intake of nutrients and energy may lead to deficiency of folic acid, thiamine or cobalamin [34] which might worsen mental health symptoms. A recent study that evaluated the impact of weight change alone in elderly people found that weight loss predicted an increase in depressive symptoms [35]. Hence, a bidirectional relationship between the risk of malnutrition and mental health symptoms may be present and result in a vicious circle over time in affected individuals.

Conclusions

Impaired mental health was strongly associated with the risk of malnutrition in community living elderly men and women and this association was also significant for subthreshold mental health symptoms. For the clinical practitioner, our results on the one hand highlight the need for nutritional screening of elderly Page 7 of 8

people presenting with mental health symptoms. Both in somatic and psychiatric settings, nutrition have often been neglected [3,36]. Screening for malnutrition can easily be performed by the use of instruments like the 'MUST' tool. On the other hand, mental health symptoms should also be included in the assessment of elderly people who are at risk of malnutrition.

Conflict of interests

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interests.

Abbreviations

BMI: Body Mass Index; IQ: interquartile; MUST: Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool; OR: odds ratio; SCL-10: Symptoms Check List 10.

Acknowledgements

The present study was supported by a grant from the Northern Norway Regional Health Authority (Centre for Research of the Elderly). The Tromsø 6 study was conducted by The University of Tromsø, Department of Community Medicine.

Author details

¹Department of Community Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway. ²Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital North Norway, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway. ³Department of Geriatric Psychiatry, University Hospital North Norway, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway. ⁴Laboratory of Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tromsø, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway.

Authors' contributions

JMK, JF, OG and BKJ were responsible for the initial design of the study. JMK did the analyses and wrote the first draft of the paper. BKJ contributed to the analyses, interpretation of the results and the review of the drafts. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the data and review of the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Received: 28 January 2011 Accepted: 17 July 2011 Published: 17 July 2011

References

- Lowe B, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Mussell M, Schellberg D, Kroenke K: Depression, anxiety and somatization in primary care: syndrome overlap and functional impairment. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* 2008, **30**:191-199.
- Djernes JK: Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2006, 113:372-387.
- Bhat RS, Chiu E, Jeste DV: Nutrition and geriatric psychiatry: a neglected field. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2005, 18:609-614.
- Wallace JI: Malnutrition and Enteral/Parenteral Alimentation. In *Hazzard's Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology.*. Six edition. Edited by: Halter JBea. New York: McGrawHill; 2009:469-481.
- Johansson Y, Bachrach-Lindström M, Carstensen J, Ek AC: Malnutrition in a home-living older population: prevalence, incidence and risk factors. A prospective study. J Clin Nurs 2009, 18:1354-1364.
- Smoliner C, Norman K, Wagner KH, Hartig W, Lochs H, Pirlich M: Malnutrition and depression in the institutionalised elderly. Br J Nutr 2009, 102:1663-1667.
- Palinkas LA, Wingard DL, Barrett-Connor E: Depressive symptoms in overweight and obese older adults: a test of the "jolly fat" hypothesis. J Psychosom Res 1996, 40:59-66.
- Sachs-Ericsson N, Burns AB, Gordon KH, Eckel LA, Wonderlich SA, Crosby RD, Blazer DG: Body mass index and depressive symptoms in older adults: the moderating roles of race, sex, and socioeconomic status. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2007, 15:815-825.

- Kondrup J, Allison SP, Elia M, Vellas B, Plauth M: ESPEN guidelines for nutrition screening 2002. Clin Nutr 2003, 22:415-421.
- Elia M: The "MUST" Report Nutritional screening of adults: a multidisciplinary responsibility Malnutrition Advisory Group/The British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition; Worcs, UK; 2003.
- 11. **Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic.** consultation. World Health Organization Technical Report Series; 2000, 894.
- Strand BH, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M: Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). Nord J Psychiatry 2003, 57:113-118.
- 13. Hesbacher PT, Rickels K, Morris RJ, Newman H, Rosenfeld H: Psychiatric illness in family practice. J Clin Psychiatry 1980, 41:6-10.
- Fröjdh K, Håkansson A, Karlsson I: The Hopkins Symptom Checklist-25 is a sensitive case-finder of clinically important depressive states in elderly people in primary care. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2004, 19:386-390.
- Sandanger I, Moum T, Ingebrigtsen G, Dalgard OS, Sorensen T, Bruusgaard D: Concordance between symptom screening and diagnostic procedure: the Hopkins Symptom Checklist-25 and the Composite International Diagnostic Interview I. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1998, 33:345-354.
- Cabrera MA, Mesas AE, Garcia AR, de Andrade SM: Malnutrition and depression among community-dwelling elderly people. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2007, 8:582-584.
- Guigoz Y, Vellas B, Garry PJ: Assessing the nutritional status of the elderly: the Mini Nutritional Assessment as part of the geriatric evaluation. *Nutr Rev* 1996, 54:S59-S65.
- Margetts BM, Thompson RL, Elia M, Jackson AA: Prevalence of risk of undernutrition is associated with poor health status in older people in the UK. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003, 57:69-74.
- Mowe M, Bohmer T, Kindt E: Reduced nutritional status in an elderly population (> 70 y) is probable before disease and possibly contributes to the development of disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1994, 59:317-324.
- Beck AM, Ovesen L, Osler M: The 'Mini Nutritional Assessment'(MNA) and the 'Determine Your Nutritional Health'Checklist (NSI Checklist) as predictors of morbidity and mortality in an elderly Danish population. Br J Nutr 1999, 81:31-36.
- Stratton RJ, Green CJ, Elia M: Disease-related Malnutrition: an evidencebased approach to treatment.Edited by: Stratton RJ, Green CJ, Elia M. Anonymous Oxon: CABI Publishing; 2003:93-155.
- Cole MG, Dendukuri N: Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 2003, 160:1147-1156.
- Koenig HG, Blazer DG: Mood Disorders. In Essentials of Geriatric Psychiatry.. First edition. Edited by: Blazer DG, Steffens DC, Busse EW. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2007:145-173.
- 24. Vink D, Aartsen MJ, Schoevers RA: Risk factors for anxiety and depression in the elderly: a review. J Affect Disord 2008, 106:29-44.
- 25. Goldberg D: Plato versus Aristotle: categorical and dimensional models for common mental disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* 2000, 41:8-13.
- 26. Alexopoulos GS: Depression in the elderly. The Lancet 2005, 365:1961-1970.
- Kvaal K, McDougall FA, Brayne C, Matthews FE, Dewey ME, CFAS M: Cooccurrence of anxiety and depressive disorders in a community sample of older people: results from the MRC CFAS (Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study). Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2008, 23:229-237.
- Lapid MI, Prom MC, Burton MC, McAlpine DE, Sutor B, Rummans TA: Eating disorders in the elderly. *International Psychogeriatrics* 2010, 22:523-536.
- Wolitzky-Taylor KB, Castriotta N, Lenze EJ, Stanley MA, Craske MG: Anxiety disorders in older adults: a comprehensive review. *Depress Anxiety* 2010, 27:190-211.
- Hybels CF, Blazer DG, Pieper CF: Toward a threshold for subthreshold depression. *Gerontologist* 2001, 41:357-365.
- Lyness JM, Kim JH, Tang W, Tu X, Conwell Y, King DA, Caine ED: The clinical significance of subsyndromal depression in older primary care patients. American Journal of Geriatric Psych 2007, 15:214-223.
- Vahia IV, Meeks TW, Thompson WK, Depp CA, Zisook S, Allison M, Judd LL, Jeste DV: Subthreshold depression and successful aging in older women. *American Journal of Geriatric Psych* 2010, 18:212-220.

- American Psychiatric Association: *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental disorders*. 4 edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2000, DSM-IV-TR, (text revision).
- Harris D, Haboubi N: Malnutrition screening in the elderly population. J R Soc Med 2005, 98:411-414.
- 35. Koster A, van Gool CH, Kempen GI, Penninx BW, Lee JS, Rubin SM, Tylavsky FA, Yaffe K, Newman AB, Harris TB, Pahor M, Ayonayon HN, van Eijk JT, Kritchevsky SB, Health ABC Study: Late-life depressed mood and weight change contribute to the risk of each other. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2010, 18:236-244.
- Mowe M, Bosaeus I, Rasmussen HH, Kondrup J, Unosson M, Irtun O: Nutritional routines and attitudes among doctors and nurses in Scandinavia: a questionnaire based survey. *Clin Nutr* 2006, 25:524-532.

Pre-publication history

The pre-publication history for this paper can be accessed here: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-244X/11/112/prepub

doi:10.1186/1471-244X-11-112

Cite this article as: Kvamme *et al.*: Risk of malnutrition is associated with mental health symptoms in community living elderly men and women: The Tromsø Study. *BMC Psychiatry* 2011 **11**:112.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

) BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Risk of malnutrition and health-related quality of life in community-living elderly men and women: The Tromsø study

Jan-Magnus Kvamme · Jan Abel Olsen · Jon Florholmen · Bjarne K. Jacobsen

Accepted: 22 October 2010/Published online: 13 November 2010 © The Author(s) 2010. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract

Purpose To explore the association between risk of malnutrition as well as current body mass index (BMI) and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in elderly men and women from the general population.

Methods In a cross-sectional population survey including 1,632 men and 1,654 women aged 65 to 87 years from the municipality of Tromsø, Norway, we assessed HRQoL by using the EuroQol (EQ-5D) instrument in three risk groups of malnutrition and in different categories of BMI. The Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool ('MUST') was used to evaluate the risk of malnutrition.

Results We found a significant reduction in HRQoL with an increasing risk of malnutrition, and this was more pronounced in men than in women. The relationship between BMI and HRQoL was dome shaped, with the highest score values in the BMI category being 25–27.5 kg/m².

Conclusions HRQoL was significantly reduced in elderly men and women at risk of malnutrition. The highest HRQoL was seen in moderately overweight individuals.

J.-M. Kvamme (⊠) · J. A. Olsen · B. K. Jacobsen Department of Community Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, 9037 Tromsø, Norway e-mail: jan-magnus.kvamme@uit.no

J.-M. Kvamme · J. Florholmen

Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø, Norway

J. Florholmen

Laboratory of Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway

Abbreviations

HRQoL	Health-related quality of life
BMI	Body mass index
MUST	Malnutrition universal screening tool
EQ-5D	EuroQol-5D
EQ-5D index	Value attached to an EQ-5D state
	according to a particular set of weights
EQ VAS	Standard vertical visual analogue scale
CI	Confidence interval
SD	Standard deviation

Introduction

Malnutrition and being underweight are persisting problems also in the affluent parts of the world and is more prevalent in the elderly than in other adult individuals [1]. In developed countries, malnutrition is largely related to diseases [2]. Throughout the previous decades, healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL) has received increased attention as a measure for comparing health statuses across different patient groups and for measuring health outcomes. While recent studies reveal strong evidence of increased morbidity [2, 3] and mortality [4, 5] in underweight elderly people, little attention has been given to the ways in which malnutrition affect HRQoL. Not only is the quantity of life, calculated in years, important for the increasing number of elderly individuals with longer life expectancies, but the quality of life is important as well. The concept of HRQoL broadens a previous definition of health based on morbidity and mortality to include aspects such as subjective assessment of physical, emotional and social functioning [6]. Nutrition may affect both physical and psychological aspects important for HRQoL [2]. Several reports have found HRQoL to be reduced in obese individuals [7]. In a study of nursing home patients [8] and a smaller community-based study [9], quality of life was reduced in the elderly at risk of malnutrition. However, larger community-based studies evaluating HRQoL in the elderly at risk of malnutrition are lacking.

The purpose of the present study was to explore the association between risk of malnutrition, categories of body mass index and HRQoL in community-living elderly men and women using the EuroQol (EQ-5D) instrument [10].

Methods

Population for the study

The Tromsø Study is a health survey of the population of Tromsø, a medium-sized town in Norway. The 6th crosssectional survey was conducted between October 2007 and December 2008. All independently living inhabitants aged 65 to 87 years (6,098) were invited, of which 4,017 (66%) participated by going to a study center for data collection. After exclusions (21 persons because height or weight had not been measured due to various disabilities, 412 persons because of missing weight loss information and additionally 298 persons due to lack of response to the EQ-5D health state descriptive system), 3,286 subjects (i.e., 54% of the eligible subjects) were included in the analyses of the EQ-5D-index. The second part of the EQ-5D exercise (the EQ VAS scale) had 1,306 respondents. The regional board of research ethics approved the survey, and each participant gave written informed consent prior to inclusion in the study.

Nutritional screening tool and body mass index

At the study center, the participants, who were instructed to wear no shoes and light clothing, had their weight (kg) and height (cm) measured to the nearest decimal using a Jenix DS-102 stadiometer (Dong Sahn Jenix Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by the square of height (kg/m²). The participants were asked in a self-administrated questionnaire whether they had any involuntary weight loss during the last 6 months. If they had, they were asked how many kilograms (kg) had been lost. Weight loss was grouped as follows: below 5%, between 5 and 10% or above 10% of body weight prior to weight loss.

Based on the BMI and degree of weight loss, each subject was categorized into low, medium or high risk of malnutrition according to the malnutrition universal screening tool ('MUST') (Fig. 1). The 'MUST' tool is one of the nutritional screening instruments recommended by the European Society for Parenteral and Enteral nutrition [11], and it was originally developed by the British Society of Parenteral and Enteral nutrition (www.bapen. org.uk) [12]. It includes an acute disease component with no nutritional intake for >5 days, which normally necessitates hospitalization [12]. As participation in this study required the ability to independently visit a research center, the acute diseases component was set to zero. The weight loss question was slightly modified to state a time span of the "last 6 months", but this encompasses the time span of "the past 3-6 months" in the original 'MUST' tool.



Fig. 1 The malnutrition universal screening tool ('MUST') is composed of a BMI score, a weight loss score and an acute illness component. These are added, and based on the sum score, the risk of malnutrition can be assessed. The "Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool" is reproduced here with the kind permission of BAPEN (British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition). For further information on 'MUST' and management guidelines, see www.bapen. org.uk
Based on BMI alone, we further categorized the participants into six categories (<20.0, 20.0-22.4, 22.5-24.9, 25.0-27.4, 27.5-29.9 and >30 kg/m²), thereby including the WHO (World Health Organization) definitions of overweight $(25.0-29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ and obesity $(>30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ [13].

Assessment of HROoL

HRQoL was measured by the EQ-5D, which is a standardized non-disease specific instrument consisting of two parts: the EQ-5D descriptive system and the EQ visual analogue scale (EQ VAS) [10]. The EQ-5D has been utilized in a number of studies, and the instrument is validated in acutely ill, elderly individuals [14] and communityliving elderly women receiving medication (clodronate) for osteoporosis [15], but not in large populations of community-living elderly men and women. In a systematic literature review of self-assessed health instruments [16], the EQ-5D was one of the recommended generic health instruments for use in older people.

EQ-5D describes health in generic terms using five specific dimensions, which are important for elderly individuals: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. Each dimension is divided into three levels of severity (no problems, some problems or extreme problems). Due to only a few participants reporting problems at the most severe level (extreme problems), this category was included with the individuals reporting some problems (second level) in the analyses of the various EO-5D dimensions (Table 2). The EO-5D instrument is designed for self-completion and was included as part of a self-administrated questionnaire. A single summary EQ-5D index with a maximum score of 1 is obtained by applying a 577

scoring algorithm that assigns weights to each of the possible combinations of health, as described by the three levels within each of the five dimensions. In the current study, we applied the most widely used scoring algorithm, referred to as the UK time-trade-off tariff [17]. Subjects missing values from any of the five dimensions were excluded from the analyses.

In addition to this indirect health index assigned through a descriptive system, a direct method was used asking subjects to rate their health on a visual analogue scale (VAS) with a maximum score of 100. The endpoints were labeled as "worst imaginable health state" and "best imaginable health state."

The number responding to the EQ VAS scale question (669 men and 637 women) was lower than the number responding to the EQ-5D health state descriptive system. When comparing responders to non-responders on the EQ VAS scale, both groups had a mean EQ-5D health index of 0.82. In the responders, the mean BMI and age were somewhat lower (0.4 kg/m² and 0.5 years, respectively). Although minor, these differences were statistically significant (BMI P = 0.02 and age P = 0.005).

Other variables

Information on socio-demographics and smoking status (Table 1) was also obtained from self-administrated questionnaires.

Data analyses

We stratified the analyses when dealing with risk categories of malnutrition and HRQoL by gender (Tables 2, 3; Figs. 2,

Table 1 Characteristics of the P-value^b Men Women participating elderly men and women, The Tromsø study N^a 1.654 1.632 < 0.001° Age, years. Mean (SD) 71.4 (5.4) 72.1 (5.6) < 0.001^d Single living (%) 48.2 24.6 < 0.001^d Post-secondary school education (%) 30.0 18.4 Household income \geq 300,000 NOK^e (%) < 0.001^d 40.3 58.4 Smoking (%) Never 24.1 47.1 $< 0.001^{d}$ 38.0 Previous 60.3 Current 15.6 14.9 BMI kg/m². Mean (SD) 0.58^c 27.0 (3.6) 26.9 (4.6) Risk of malnutrition (%) Low $< 0.001^{d}$ 94.4 90.6 Medium 3.4 6.0 High 2.1 3.4 EQ-5D index-mean (95% CI) 0.86 (0.85-0.87) 0.79 (0.78-0.80) $< 0.001^{\circ}$ EQ VAS scoref-mean (95% CI) 0.008^c 75.4 (74.3-76.6) 73.0 (71.6-74.4)

^a There are minor differences in the number of evaluated subjects due to variations in missing values on the selfadministrated questionnaire (concerning education, income and smoking)

^b *P*-values for the difference between men and women were estimated using the two-sample *t*-test^c, chi-square test^d

^e NOK 8 = € 1

f 637 women and 669 men reported the EQ VAS score

EQ-5D dimensions	Sex	All subjects	Subjects by risk of malnutrition					
			Low	Medium	High	<i>P</i> -value ^b		
Any dimensions	Men	52.9 (864)	52.2 (804)	53.6 (30)	85.7 (30)	< 0.001		
	Women	69.7 (1,153)	69.0 (1,034)	74.7 (74)	78.9 (45)	0.51		
Mobility	Men	14.6 (238)	13.7 (211)	19.6 (11)	45.7 (16)	< 0.001		
	Women	22.4 (370)	21.9 (328)	29.3 (29)	22.8 (13)	0.31		
Self-care	Men	3.3 (54)	2.7 (42)	7.1 (4)	22.9 (8)	< 0.001		
	Women	4.7 (77)	4.5 (67)	5.1 (5)	8.8 (5)	0.1		
Usual activities	Men	12.6 (205)	11.6 (178)	21.4 (12)	42.9 (15)	< 0.001		
	Women	23.2 (383)	21.8 (326)	35.4 (35)	38.6 (22)	< 0.001		
Pain/discomfort	Men	45.7 (746)	45.1 (695)	45.4 (26)	71.4 (25)	0.007		
	Women	63.9 (1,057)	63.4 (950)	70.7 (70)	64.9 (37)	0.34		
Anxiety/depression	Men	12.3 (201)	11.9 (183)	16.1 (9)	25.7 (9)	0.01		
	Women	23.3 (385)	22.0 (329)	37.4 (37)	33.3 (19)	0.001		

Table 2 Proportions^a of the 3,286 elderly men and women reporting problems in the various EQ-5D dimensions, The Tromsø study

^a Proportions are given as % (number) reporting problems

^b P-value for linear trend across increasing risk categories of malnutrition

 Table 3
 Adjusted^a odds ratios (95% confidence interval) for associations between various EQ-5D dimensions and risk category of malnutrition in 3,286 elderly men and women, The Tromsø study

EQ-5D dimension		Risk category of malnutrition						
		Low	Medium	High	<i>P</i> -value ^b			
Mobility	Men	1.00	1.43 (0.72–2.84)	4.91 (2.46–9.81)	< 0.001			
	Women	1.00	1.32 (0.83-2.10)	0.77 (0.40-1.48)	0.95			
Self-care	Men	1.00	2.52 (0.86-7.34)	9.56 (4.05-22.57)	< 0.001			
	Women	1.00	0.98 (0.38-2.52)	1.26 (0.47-3.38)	0.71			
Usual activities	Men	1.00	1.94 (0.99-3.78)	5.29 (2.62-10.65)	< 0.001			
	Women	1.00	1.78 (1.14-2.77)	1.72 (0.97-3.05)	0.005			
Pain/discomfort	Men	1.00	1.00 (0.58-1.73)	2.80 (1.37-5.72)	0.011			
	Women	1.00	1.35 (0.86-2.11)	1.00 (0.57-1.74)	0.50			
Anxiety/depression	Men	1.00	1.43 (0.69–2.96)	2.58 (1.19-5.61)	0.012			
	Women	1.00	2.03 (1.32–3.11)	1.59 (0.90–2.81)	0.003			

^a Adjusted for age

^b P-value for linear trend across increasing risk categories of malnutrition

3). However, for the relation between BMI and HRQoL, tests for interaction between BMI and sex were found to be non-significant both for the EQ-5D index (P = 0.57) and the EQ VAS score (P = 0.37). The combined results for men and women are presented (Figs. 4, 5). Analysis of covariance was used to obtain age-adjusted mean values with corresponding 95% confidence intervals for different risk categories of malnutrition and categories of BMI (Figs. 2, 3, 4, 5). Differences between groups were evaluated by the chi-square test or *t*-test when appropriate (Tables 1, 2). Binary logistic regression with adjustment for age was used to estimate the association between the risk category of malnutrition and the various EQ-5D dimensions (Table 3). The association between increasing risk of malnutrition and the

EQ-5D- or EQ VAS score was assessed by linear regression in a multivariate model adjusting for age. We tested for a quadratic relation between BMI categories and HRQoL by also including the BMI categories squared in a multivariate linear regression model (Figs. 4, 5).

The importance of the differences in HRQoL scores between risk groups of malnutrition may be examined by calculating their effect size as the mean difference divided by the standard deviation (SD) of the control group [18]. We evaluated the detected differences against the criteria introduced by Cohen [19] using the SD of the low-risk category of malnutrition. Effect size values of 0.2–<0.5, 0.5–<0.8 and \geq 0.8 were characterized as small, medium and large differences, respectively.



Risk of malnutrition

Fig. 2 Mean^a EQ-5D index by risk of malnutrition in elderly men and women, The Tromsø Study. ^aAdjusted for age. ^bP-values for linear trend across the categories. *Vertical lines* indicate 95% CI



Fig. 3 Mean EQ VAS scores^a by risk of malnutrition in elderly men and women, The Tromsø Study. ^aAdjusted for age. ^b*P*-values for linear trend across the categories. *Vertical lines* indicate 95% CI

Two-sided *P*-values < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. The analyses were performed using SPSS statistical software version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA).

Results

The mean age (SD) was 71.7 (5.5) years, and there was approximately the same number of men (1,632) as women (1,654) included in the analyses (Table 1). Women tended to live alone, have lower education and have lower household income. More women (9.6%) than men (5.6%) were at risk of malnutrition (medium- and high-risk combined). HRQoL was lower in women than in men when



Fig. 4 Mean EQ-5D index^a by different categories of BMI in elderly men and women, The Tromsø study. ^aAdjusted for age and sex. *Vertical lines* indicate 95% CI



Fig. 5 Mean EQ VAS scores^a by different categories of BMI in elderly men and women, The Tromsø study. ^aAdjusted for age and sex. *Vertical lines* indicate 95% CI

assessed by the EQ-5D index and the EQ VAS score. For both men and women, the median and mean values of the EQ-5D index were almost identical, whereas the median EQ VAS score was somewhat higher than the mean in both men and women (numbers not shown).

Health dimensions

Table 2 shows the proportions of the participants reporting problems in any of the various EQ-5D dimensions of health. Overall, the majority of both women (70%) and men (53%) reported problems related to at least one of the health dimensions. One in four women reported difficulties in the dimensions of mobility, usual activities and anxiety/ depression. The corresponding proportions for men were somewhat lower (12–15%). Pain and discomfort were reported by more than half of the women and by a somewhat lower proportion of the men.

With increasing risk of malnutrition, problems in all five health dimensions were reported more frequently (Table 2). However, the differences between the low- and high-risk categories were substantially larger in men than in women. A test for linear trend across increasing risk categories of malnutrition was statistically significant for two of the dimensions in women and for all five dimensions in men.

The strength of the associations between various risk categories of malnutrition and the different EQ-5D dimensions as outcome variables is further described in Table 3. In men, statistically significant associations were found for all of the five dimensions. For men in the high-risk category of malnutrition, the strongest association was found for self-care (odds ratio (OR) = 9.6). The corresponding OR estimates were 4.9 for mobility and 5.3 for usual activities. In women, the associations were strongest for two dimensions: usual activities (OR = 1.7) and anxiety/depression (OR = 2.0 for the medium-risk category).

Risk of malnutrition and HRQoL

The impact of increasing risk of malnutrition on the EQ-5D summary indices is shown in Fig. 2. The age-adjusted associations between increasing risk of malnutrition and the EQ-5D were significant for both men and women (*P*-value for men <0.001 and for women 0.02).

For the EQ VAS score (Fig. 3), a similar relationship was significant in men (P = 0.001), but not in women (P = 0.24).

When comparing the differences in mean score between the low- and high-risk categories of malnutrition, we found that the effect size for the EQ-5D score for men was 0.85 (large) and for women it was 0.26 (small). Corresponding values for the VAS scale were 0.97 (large) for men and 0.31 (small) for women. When comparing the low- and medium-risk categories of malnutrition, we found the effect size for the difference in EQ-5D score in women to be 0.30 (small), and the other estimated effect sizes were minor.

BMI and HRQoL

We found a dome-shaped relationship between BMI categories and both the EQ-5D index and the EQ VAS score, with the highest HRQoL in the BMI category of $25.0-27.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (Figs. 4, 5). The *P*-values for a quadratic term of the BMI categories were <0.01 for both the EQ-5D index and the EQ-5D VAS score (adjusted for age and gender). Separate analyses for men and women revealed the same overall dome-shaped pattern.

Discussion

HRQoL is of increasing interest in epidemiology and health outcomes research. In this population-based study of elderly men and women, we found HRQoL to be significantly reduced in individuals at increased risk of malnutrition. All dimensions in the EQ-5D descriptive system were affected in men, while only two dimensions (usual activities and anxiety/depression) were affected in women. A dome-shaped relationship was seen between BMI and both the EQ-5D index and EQ VAS score.

Risk of malnutrition and HRQoL

To our knowledge, there are no similar, previous largescale studies of the association between risk of malnutrition and HRQoL in elderly populations utilizing validated instruments. Due to the many different criteria and instruments in use for assessing both HRQoL and nutritional status, it is difficult to compare relevant studies. There are, however, reports from a smaller communitybased study [9] and from more selected elderly populations [20–22] that have indicated that an association exists between the risk for malnutrition and reduced HRQoL. One study of hospitalized elderly individuals reports no clear association between malnutrition and HRQoL [23].

There are several possible explanations for the observed associations. Malnutrition and weight loss are important factors in the development of sarcopenia with loss of lean body mass and muscle function [24]. This may in turn be of special importance to EQ5D dimensions like self-care and usual activities, both significantly associated with the risk of malnutrition in the present study. Furthermore, malnutrition may affect the mental health of elderly individuals adversely, thereby reducing HRQoL [25]. Malnutrition may also be associated with diseases and conditions, which in turn decrease HRQoL.

BMI and HRQoL

The relation between BMI and HRQoL has been investigated in previous studies of elderly men and women, finding impaired HRQoL in both obese and underweight individuals [26–28], with the highest HRQoL in individuals of the BMI category 20–24.9 kg/m². In the present study, we used narrower BMI categories. The differences in the HRQoL scores between the middle BMI categories were small; however, for the low-weight and obese individuals, we found a reduced HRQoL compared with the summit group consisting of the moderately overweight participants (BMI 25–27.5 kg/m²). In this respect, our results for HRQoL are in line with studies of mortality, indicating that moderately overweight, elderly men and women have the lowest mortality [29].

HRQoL in obese individuals may be impaired by associated comorbid conditions, especially pain [30]. Possible explanations for the reduced HRQoL among subjects with low BMI will largely correspond to the aspects discussed regarding individuals at increased risk of malnutrition.

The 'MUST' score of malnutrition is recommended for use in a community setting [11] and has acceptable test qualities in hospital populations when compared to more comprehensive instruments [31]. The EQ-5D is a standardized instrument developed to provide a non-disease specific measure of health status and is also suitable for use in studies of population health [10, 32]. The SF-36 questionnaire for HRQoL assessment is more comprehensive and has a larger evidence base [33]. However, in the extensive review of generic, self-assessed health instruments for use in older people by Haywood et al. [16], the EQ-5D was also found to have good reliability, validity and responsiveness. It has been found to have substantial agreement with the SF-36 [15].

One potential limitation of this study is the number of non-attending individuals and participants with missing values. All participants had to visit a research center, and consequently both individuals living in institutions and with physical limitations are underrepresented. Thus, the non-attending individuals were probably frailer, and it is unlikely that the observed associations were weaker in this group than in the participants. The cross-sectional design also limits conclusions about causality, although the most plausible direction originates with risk of malnutrition and moves towards HRQoL.

Gender differences

Women in the present study generally had a lower HRQoL than men, a finding reported in several studies of HRQoL in elderly individuals [34, 35]. This may be caused by a higher prevalence of disability and chronic conditions in women [36]. Other potential explanations for the observed sex difference include a lower socio-economic status, a greater tendency to report health problems or higher expectations of health and function in women when compared to men.

In the male participants, however, the impact of malnutrition on HRQoL was stronger than in women. Genderspecific analyses have not been performed in the previous studies addressing malnutrition and HRQoL. Research on body composition in older people has shown that during weight loss, men loose more lean mass than fat mass, whereas women loose more fat mass than lean mass [37]. It is possible that a relatively higher reduction in lean body mass can partly explain the stronger impact of malnutrition on HRQoL in men than in women. Are the detected differences important? By using the Cohen criteria for effect sizes, the differences detected between the high- and low-risk categories in men can be regarded as large for both the EQ-5D index and the EQ VAS score. For women, the corresponding differences were low. Effect size estimates are based on the distribution of the data but have often been found to yield values that agree roughly with those estimated from more individually oriented methods [18].

Conclusion

HRQoL was significantly reduced in elderly people at increased risk of malnutrition, and this was more pronounced in men than in women. The highest HRQoL scores were found in moderately overweight individuals.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by a grant from the center for research in the elderly, the Northern Regional Health Authority. The Tromsø 6 study was carried out by The University of Tromsø, Department of Community Medicine.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Pirlich, M., & Lochs, H. (2001). Nutrition in the elderly. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology, 15(6), 869–884.
- Stratton, R. J., Green, C. J., & Elia, M. (2003). Disease-related malnutrition: An evidence-based approach to treatment. Oxon: CABI Publishing.
- Kvamme, J.-M., Wilsgaard, T., Florholmen, J., & Jacobsen, B. K. (2010). Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: The Tromsø study. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 25(3), 183–193.
- Henderson, S., Moore, N., Lee, E., & Witham, M. D. (2008). Do the malnutrition universal screening tool (MUST) and Birmingham nutrition risk (BNR) score predict mortality in older hospitalised patients? *BMC Geriatr*, 8, 26.
- Stratton, R. J., King, C. L., Stroud, M. A., Jackson, A. A., & Elia, M. (2006). 'Malnutrition universal screening tool' predicts mortality and length of hospital stay in acutely ill elderly. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 95(2), 325–330.
- Drewnowski, A., & Evans, W. J. (2001). Nutrition, physical activity, and quality of life in older adults. *Journals of Geron*tology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 56(2), 89-94.
- Jia, H., & Lubetkin, E. I. (2005). The impact of obesity on healthrelated quality-of-life in the general adult US population. *Journal* of Public Health (Oxford, England), 27(2), 156–164.
- Crogan, N. L., & Pasvogel, A. (2003). The influence of proteincalorie malnutrition on quality of life in nursing homes. *Journals* of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 58(2), 159–164.

- Keller, H. H., Østbye, T., & Goy, R. (2004). Nutritional risk predicts quality of life in elderly community-living Canadians. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(1), 68–74.
- The Euro Qol Group. (1990). EuroQol-a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. The EuroQol group. *Health Policy*, 16(3), 199–208.
- Kondrup, J., Allison, S. P., Elia, M., Vellas, B., & Plauth, M. (2003). ESPEN guidelines for nutrition screening 2002. *Clinical Nutrition*, 22(4), 415–421.
- 12. Elia, M. (2003). The "MUST" report. Nutritional screening of adults: a multidisciplinary responsibility. Worcs, UK: Malnutrition Advisory Group/The British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition.
- WHO (2000). Consultation on obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organization Technical Report Series, vol. 894.
- Coast, J., Peters, T. J., Richards, S. H., & Gunnell, D. J. (1998). Use of the EuroQoL among elderly acute care patients. *Quality of Life Research*, 7(1), 1–10.
- Brazier, J. E., Walters, S. J., Nicholl, J. P., & Kohler, B. (1996). Using the SF-36 and EuroQol on an elderly population. *Quality of Life Research*, 5(2), 195–204.
- Haywood, K., Garratt, A., & Fitzpatrick, R. (2005). Quality of life in older people: A structured review of generic self-assessed health instruments. *Quality of Life Research*, 14(7), 1651–1668.
- Dolan, P. (1997). Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Medical Care, 35(11), 1095–1108.
- Fayers, P. M., & Machin, D. (2007). Clinical interpretation. In P. M. Fayers & D. Machin (Eds.), *Quality of life, the assessment, analysis and interpretation of patient-reported outcomes* (pp. 427–455). Chichester: Wiley.
- 19. Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Gombos, T., Kertesz, K., Csikos, A., Söderhamn, U., Söderhamn, O., & Prohaszka, Z. (2008). Nutritional form for the elderly is a reliable and valid instrument for the determination of undernutrition risk, and it is associated with health-related quality of life. *Nutrition Research*, 28(2), 59–65.
- Vailas, L. I., Nitzke, S. A., Becker, M., & Gast, J. (1998). Risk indicators for malnutrition are associated inversely with quality of life for participants in meal programs for older adults. *Journal* of the American Dietetic Association, 98(5), 548–553.
- Eriksson, B. G., Dey, D. K., Hessler, R. M., Steen, G., & Steen, B. (2005). Relationship between MNA and SF-36 in a free-living elderly population aged 70 to 75. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *Health & Aging*, 9(4), 212–220.
- Hickson, M., & Frost, G. (2004). An investigation into the relationships between quality of life, nutritional status and physical function. *Clinical Nutrition*, 23(2), 213–221.

- Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., Landi, F., Topinkova, E., & Michel, J. P. (2010). Understanding sarcopenia as a geriatric syndrome. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care, 13*(1), 1–7.
- Bhat, R. S., Chiu, E., & Jeste, D. V. (2005). Nutrition and geriatric psychiatry: A neglected field. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 18(6), 609–614.
- Yan, L. L., Daviglus, M. L., Liu, K., Pirzada, A., Garside, D. B., Schiffer, L., et al. (2004). BMI and health-related quality of life in adults 65 years and older. *Obesity*, 12(1), 69–76.
- Soltoft, F., Hammer, M., & Kragh, N. (2009). The association of body mass index and health-related quality of life in the general population: Data from the 2003 health survey of England. *Quality* of Life Research, 18(10), 1293–1299.
- Groessl, E. J., Kaplan, R. M., Barrett-Connor, E., & Ganiats, T. G. (2004). Body mass index and quality of well-being in a community of older adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 26(2), 126–129.
- Janssen, I., & Mark, A. E. (2007). Elevated body mass index and mortality risk in the elderly. *Obesity Reviews*, 8(1), 41–59.
- Fontaine, K. R., & Barofsky, I. (2001). Obesity and health-related quality of life. *Obesity Reviews*, 2(3), 173–182.
- Kyle, U. G., Kossovsky, M. P., Karsegard, V. L., & Pichard, C. (2006). Comparison of tools for nutritional assessment and screening at hospital admission: A population study. *Clinical Nutrition*, 25(3), 409–417.
- Krabbe, P., & Weijnen, T. (2003). Guidelines for analysing and reporting EQ-5D outcomes. In R. Brooks, R. Rabin, & F. de Charro (Ed.). (pp. 7–8). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Amarantos, E., Martinez, A., & Dwyer, J. (2001). Nutrition and quality of life in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(2), 54–64.
- Cline, C. M., Willenheimer, R. B., Erhardt, L. R., Wiklund, I., & Israelsson, B. Y. (1999). Health-related quality of life in elderly patients with heart failure. *Scandinavian Cardiovascular Journal*, *33*(5), 278–285.
- Linzer, M., Spitzer, R., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B., Hahn, S., Brody, D., et al. (1996). Gender, quality of life, and mental disorders in primary care: Results from the PRIME-MD 1000 study. *American Journal of Medicine*, 101(5), 526–533.
- 36. Orfila, F., Ferrer, M., Lamarca, R., Tebe, C., Domingo-Salvany, A., & Alonso, J. (2006). Gender differences in health-related quality of life among the elderly: The role of objective functional capacity and chronic conditions. *Social Science and Medicine*, 63(9), 2367–2380.
- 37. Newman, A. B., Lee, J. S., Visser, M., Goodpaster, B. H., Kritchevsky, S. B., Tylavsky, F. A., et al. (2005). Weight change and the conservation of lean mass in old age: The health, aging and body composition study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 82(4), 872.

Body mass index and mortality in elderly men and women: the Tromsø and HUNT studies

Jan-Magnus Kvamme,^{1,2} Jostein Holmen,³ Tom Wilsgaard,¹ Jon Florholmen,^{2,4} Kristian Midthjell,⁴ Bjarne K Jacobsen¹

ABSTRACT

Background The impact of body mass index (BMI; kg/m²) and waist circumference (WC) on mortality in elderly individuals is controversial and previous research has largely focused on obesity.

Methods With special attention to the lower BMI categories, associations between BMI and both total and cause-specific mortality were explored in 7604 men and 9107 women aged ≥65 years who participated in the Tromsø Study (1994—1995) or the North-Trøndelag Health Study (1995—1997). A Cox proportional hazards model adjusted for age, marital status, education and smoking was used to estimate HRs for mortality in different BMI categories using the BMI range of 25–27.5 as a reference. The impact of each 2.5 kg/m² difference in BMI on mortality in individuals with BMI<25.0 and BMI≥25.0 was also explored. Furthermore, the relations between WC and mortality were assessed.

Results We identified 7474 deaths during a mean follow-up of 9.3 years. The lowest mortality was found in the BMI range 25–29.9 and 25–32.4 in men and women, respectively. Mortality was increased in all BMI categories below 25 and was moderately increased in obese individuals. U-shaped relationships were also found between WC and total mortality. About 40% of the excess mortality in the lower BMI range in men was explained by mortality from respiratory diseases. **Conclusions** BMI below 25 in elderly men and women was associated with increased mortality. A modest increase in mortality was found with increasing BMI among obese men and women. Overweight individuals (BMI 25–29.9) had the lowest mortality.

INTRODUCTION

The impact of body mass index (BMI; weight (kg)/ height (m^2)) and waist circumference (WC) on mortality in the growing elderly population is still controversial. There is concern about the potential increase in mortality related to excess weight,¹ whereas mortality in underweight individuals has received less attention.

As reviewed by Heiat *et al*,² Zamboni *et al*,³ and Janssen and Mark,⁴ the recommendations of ideal weight for adults⁵ seem to be too restrictive for elderly individuals and being moderately overweight appears to entail limited risk. Previous studies on body weight and mortality in elderly individuals have often focused on obesity and mainly assessed total mortality. Cause-specific mortality beyond cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) has rarely been addressed. Several reports have found increased mortality in underweight

individuals, but this association in elderly people has not been fully explained. Thus, there is a need for additional studies with special attention to the lower weight categories.

We explored the associations between BMI, WC and mortality in elderly men and women based on two large population-based Norwegian studies.

METHODS

Study population

The fourth Tromsø Study was carried out in 1994-1995 and the second North-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT) in 1995-1997. Tromsø is a mediumsized town in northern Norway and North-Trøndelag is a mostly rural county located in central Norway. All inhabitants in the eligible age group were invited to the studies. A total of 19515 men and women (15250 from North-Trøndelag and 4265 from Tromsø) aged 65 years and older participated and the overall participation rate was 70.0%. We excluded participants with a follow-up time under 1 year (425 participants) and those missing information about cause-specific mortality (5 participants) or questionnaire data concerning smoking, marital status or level of education (2374 participants). Thus, the final follow-up cohort included 16711 participants. Both surveys have been previously described in detail⁶⁷ and they used the same core variables and questions.

The regional boards of research ethics approved the surveys and each participating subject provided written informed consent.

BMI, WC and other characteristics

Height and weight were measured with participants wearing light clothes and no shoes. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m) squared. WC was measured horizontally to the nearest centimetre at the height of the umbilicus using a steel tape. Information about educational level, smoking habits, alcohol intake, physical activity and chronic diseases was obtained from self-reported questionnaires. Lower education was defined as primary school only. Alcohol intake was categorised into three levels (<once a month, 1–3 times/month and \geq 4 times/month) and physical activity into three levels (low, medium and high). Heart disease and lung disease were defined as myocardial infarction or angina pectoris and asthma or chronic bronchitis, respectively. Data on cancer were obtained from the Norwegian Cancer Registry and data on marital status were obtained from the Population Register of Norway.



Correspondence to

Jan-Magnus Kvamme, Department of Community Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway; jan-magnus.kvamme@uit.no

Accepted 11 January 2011 Published Online First 14 February 2011



U | \ | **[()] (()**

iech bmi com/site/about/

unlocked.xhtml

In the mortality analysis, we first divided the participants into nine categories based on BMI values (<18.5, 18.5-19.9, 20.0-22.4, 22.5-24.9, 25.0-27.4, 27.5-29.9, 30.0-32.4, 32.5-34.9 and ≥ 35): thereby including the standard definitions of overweight (BMI 25.0-29.9) and obesity (BMI≥30) (WHO, 2000).⁵ In the analyses of cause-specific mortality, we merged all BMI categories below 20 and above 30 due to the limited number of deaths for some of the disease categories. The BMI category with the most participants and the most deaths (25.0-27.4) was chosen as the reference. WC was available for all the HUNT participants and for all Tromsø participants aged 65–74 years as well as for a random sample of participants aged 75-84 years. To compare the impacts of WC and BMI on mortality, we followed a procedure similar to that described by Flegal *et al*⁸ and created WC categories that identified similar proportions of participants as each of the nine BMI categories. The cut-off for each WC category was set to the closest shift in WC value; consequently, the numbers of participants in the WC categories were not exactly identical to the numbers of participants in the corresponding BMI categories. The WC category equivalent to the 25.0-27.4 BMI category was used as the reference.

In a separate set of analyses, we modelled BMI as a continuous variable within the <25.0 (lower BMI) and \geq 25.0 (higher BMI) ranges yielding HRs for each 2.5 kg/m² difference in BMI. For ease of understanding, the HRs for the lower BMI range indicate increased risk with decreasing BMI, whereas the HRs in the higher BMI range indicate increased risk with increasing BMI. Both total and cause-specific mortality were analysed using this model. A similar method of modelling BMI was applied in a recent large study of BMI and mortality.⁹

Follow-up and endpoints

We linked each participant to data from the Norwegian Causes of Death Registry using a personal identification number to identify vital status. Cause of death is in Norway based on the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) system. We used the underlying cause of death. ICD-9 was used for deaths occurring up to 1996 and ICD-10 was used for deaths occurring in 1996 and thereafter. We identified¹⁰ three main categories of causes of death: CVD (ICD-9: 390–459; ICD-10: I00–I99), respiratory disease (ICD-9: 460–519; ICD-10: J00–J98) and cancer (ICD-9: 140–208; ICD-10: C00–C97). All subjects were followed for emigration or mortality from date of study enrolment until 31 December 2007. To reduce the impact of weight loss due to pre-existing serious diseases, we excluded deaths occurring during the first year of follow-up.

Statistical analyses

The differences in baseline characteristics between surviving and non-surviving participants were assessed by the χ^2 test or t-test. HRs for both BMI categories and BMI modelled as a continuous variable were determined using a Cox proportional hazards regression model controlling for potential confounders. We assessed the proportional hazards assumptions by inspecting the log(-log) survival curves for the various BMI categories. Risk relationships in men and women were analysed separately. Adjustments were performed for initial age, smoking, marital status, study site and educational level. In table 1, smoking is categorised into six levels. However, because there was no difference between adjusted models with a six-level and a threelevel (never, previous or current) smoking variable, the three-level variable was used for adjustment in the mortality analyses. Analyses were performed using SPSS version 17.0. A two-sided p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

During a mean 9.3 years of follow-up, 51.5% of the 7604 men and 39.1% of the 9107 women aged \geq 65 years died. There were 7474 deaths in total (643 deaths from respiratory diseases, 3419 deaths from CVD, 1794 deaths from cancer and 1618 deaths from other diseases/conditions). The crude total mortality rates per 1000 person-years were 57.1 and 39.4 in men and women, respectively.

Baseline characteristics by mortality status during follow-up

We compared baseline characteristics of the participants according to whether they died during follow-up (table 1). Men and women who died tended to be older, not to be married and

 Table 1
 Baseline characteristics of participating elderly men and women according to mortality status during follow-up. Participants from the Tromsø (1994–1995) and HUNT (1995–1997) studies

	Men			Women		
Characteristic	Survivors	Non-survivors	p Value*	Survivors	Non-survivors	p Value*
Number of subjects	3687	3917		5550	3557	
Person-years of follow-up	43233	25457		65267	24993	
Age at inclusion, mean (SD)	70.4 (4.2)	75.1 (6.2)	< 0.001 †	71.4 (4.8)	76.8 (6.2)	<0.001†
BMI (kg/m²), mean (SD)	26.6 (3.3)	26.2 (3.7)	< 0.001 †	27.5 (4.4)	27.2 (4.9)	0.001†
BMI, % (n)						
<20.0	1.3 (49)	3.5 (136)	<0.001‡	2.5 (139)	4.9 (174)	<0.001‡
20.0-24.9	29.8 (1100)	33.9 (1329)		26.5 (1472)	30.2 (1075)	
25.0-29.9	54.5 (2009)	48.1 (1885)		44.9 (2492)	39.1 (1390)	
≥30.0	14.4 (529)	14.4 (567)		26.1 (1447)	25.8 (918)	
Currently married, % (n)	80.2 (2957)	70.0 (2743)	<0.001‡	55.0 (3052)	36.7 (1306)	<0.001‡
Lower education, % (n)	56.3 (2076)	63.6 (2493)	<0.001‡	76.9 (4269)	82.0 (2918)	<0.001‡
Smoking status, % (n)						
Never smoked	21.5 (793)	19.4 (760)	<0.001‡	61.0 (3386)	64.0 (2276)	<0.001‡
Stopped \geq 20 years ago	31.6 (1165)	26.2 (1026)		9.1 (507)	6.2 (222)	
Stopped 10—19 years ago	13.4 (494)	14.7 (577)		9.4 (524)	8.3 (296)	
Stopped $<$ 10 years ago	10.0 (369)	11.4 (445)		4.6 (258)	4.9 (173)	
Current <10 cigarettes/day	9.0 (332)	10.0 (391)		8.7 (485)	8.5 (304)	
Current \geq 10 cigarettes/day	14.5 (534)	18.3 (718)		7.0 (390)	8.0 (286)	

*p Value for differences between groups using the \dagger t test or $\pm \chi^2$ test. BMI, body mass index; HUNT, the North-Trøndelag Health Study. have low education. The mean BMI was also slightly lower in individuals who died and the proportion of subjects with BMI below 25.0 was substantially higher among these individuals than among the surviving group.

Total mortality and BMI

In both men and women, individuals in the 25–29.9 BMI category had the lowest mortality (table 2 and figure 1). The same relatively low mortality was observed in moderately obese women. In all BMI categories below 25.0, mortality was increased compared to the reference category. Adjustment for smoking status, educational level and marital status had only a minor impact on the risk estimates.

Table 2 also shows total mortality in the various WC categories. In the lower WC categories, mortality was increased only in the lowest category. In the upper categories, the HRs were statistically significantly increased in the three highest categories in men and the highest category in women.

When modelling BMI as a continuous variable (figure 2), we found a 20% increase in mortality per 2.5 kg/m² decrease in BMI in the lower BMI range (<25). In the upper BMI range (\geq 25), we found a 7–9% increase in mortality per 2.5 kg/m² increase in BMI. There were no significant interactions between sex and BMI.

Information about physical activity and alcohol intake was missing for 6353 participants and 1464 participants, respectively. We repeated the analyses of total mortality and cause-specific mortality with adjustment for frequency of alcohol intake and physical activity, respectively, in the subpopulations with information concerning these two variables. However, these additional adjustments had only a minimal impact on the HRs for the relation between BMI and mortality (results not shown).

Approximately 20% of the participants were current smokers, 36% were previous smokers and 43% had never smoked. The interaction between BMI and smoking status in the analysis of

total mortality was significant only for women in the higher BMI range (p=0.047); it was non-significant for men in the higher BMI range and for both men and women in the lower BMI range (figure 2).

Cause-specific mortality and BMI

About 1 in 10 deaths was from respiratory diseases and the corresponding mortality was three to four times higher in individuals with a BMI below 20 compared to the reference category (table 3 and figure 3). Mortality was also increased in the 20–24.9 BMI range. When BMI was modelled as a continuous variable (figure 4), a 54–74% increase in mortality from respiratory diseases was observed per 2.5 kg/m² lower BMI below 25. In women, no interaction between smoking and BMI was observed. For men in the lower BMI range who had never smoked, there was no relation between BMI and respiratory diseases mortality. However, the corresponding CI was wide due to the small number of deaths.

To further explore mortality from respiratory diseases, we analysed the associations between BMI and respiratory disease mortality in participants without lung disease at baseline. We found similar relationships as displayed in table 3 and figure 4.

The contribution of deaths from respiratory diseases was also explored by analysing total mortality excluding deaths from respiratory diseases. In the lower BMI range, we found that the HR for a 2.5 kg/m² decline in BMI below 25 decreased from 1.21 to 1.13 in men. In women, the corresponding reduction in HR was from 1.23 to 1.19. For the categorical analyses (table 2), the overall pattern of the BMI–mortality relationship was retained when deaths from respiratory diseases were excluded. However, the HRs for mortality in the lower BMI categories were somewhat reduced, especially in men.

CVD accounted for almost half of all deaths. Increased CVD mortality was found in the higher BMI range; the effect was most pronounced in men with a BMI \geq 30 (table 3; figure 3).

Table 2Adjusted HRs for total mortality by category of body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference (WC) in elderly men and women.Participants from the Tromsø (1994–1995) and HUNT (1995–1997) studies

BMI (n=16711)				WC (n = 15049)				
		HR (95% CI)				HR (95% CI)		
BMI (kg/m²) categories	Deaths/total (n)	Age-adjusted*	Multivariable adjusted†	WC (cm) categories	Deaths/total (n)	Age-adjusted*	Multivariable adjusted†	
Men				Men				
<18.5	52/62	2.52 (1.91 to 3.33)	2.32 (1.75 to 3.07)	<73	34/53	1.61 (1.15 to 2.27)	1.49 (1.06 to 2.10)	
18.5-19.9	84/123	1.42 (1.13 to 1.77)	1.28 (1.03 to 1.60)	74-77	52/98	1.12 (0.85 to 1.48)	1.03 (0.78 to 1.36)	
20.0-22.4	388/667	1.30 (1.15 to 1.45)	1.23 (1.09 to 1.38)	77.5-83.5	255/514	1.19 (1.03 to 1.36)	1.11 (0.97 to 1.28)	
22.5-24.9	941/1762	1.14 (1.04 to 1.24)	1.12 (1.02 to 1.22)	84-90.5	750/1637	0.98 (0.89 to 1.08)	0.97 (0.88 to 1.06)	
25.0-27.4	1109/2272	1.00 Reference	1.00 Reference	91-97.5	968/2034	1.00 Reference	1.00 Reference	
27.5-29.9	776/1622	1.04 (0.95 to 1.14)	1.05 (0.95 to 1.15)	98-104.5	742/1541	1.03 (0.94 to 1.14)	1.04 (0.94 to 1.14)	
30.0-32.4	359/709	1.17 (1.04 to 1.32)	1.19 (1.05 to 1.34)	105-111.5	387/729	1.18 (1.05 to 1.33)	1.16 (1.03 to 1.31)	
32.5-34.9	136/258	1.30 (1.09 to 1.56)	1.31 (1.09 to 1.56)	112-117.5	133/224	1.39 (1.16 to 1.67)	1.43 (1.20 to 1.72)	
≥35.0	72/129	1.55 (1.22 to 1.97)	1.53 (1.21 to 1.95)	≥118.0	92/142	1.63 (1.32 to 2.02)	1.53 (1.24 to 1.90)	
Women				Women				
<18.5	63/103	1.91 (1.48 to 2.47)	1.78 (1.37 to 2.31)	<65	46/93	1.83 (1.36 to 2.46)	1.68 (1.24 to 2.26)	
18.5-19.9	111/210	1.74 (1.42 to 2.12)	1.57 (1.28 to 1.92)	66-68	60/168	1.19 (0.91 to 1.55)	1.13 (0.86 to 1.47)	
20.0-22.4	405/862	1.36 (1.20 to 1.54)	1.32 (1.17 to 1.49)	69-74	283/789	1.16 (1.01 to 1.34)	1.12 (0.97 to 1.29)	
22.5-24.9	670/1685	1.10 (0.99 to 1.22)	1.10 (0.99 to 1.22)	75—80	488/1508	1.02 (0.91 to 1.15)	1.01 (0.90 to 1.13)	
25.0-27.4	733/2094	1.00 Reference	1.00 Reference	81-87	651/1931	1.00 Reference	1.00 Reference	
27.5-29.9	657/1788	1.04 (0.93 to 1.15)	1.06 (0.96 to 1.18)	87.5-93	533/1567	1.01 (0.90 to 1.13)	1.01 (0.90 to 1.14)	
30.0-32.4	426/1200	0.98 (0.87 to 1.10)	1.00 (0.89 to 1.13)	93.5—99	358/968	1.09 (0.96 to 1.24)	1.11 (0.97 to 1.26)	
32.5-34.9	249/618	1.16 (1.00 to 1.34)	1.19 (1.03 to 1.38)	99.5-104.5	212/547	1.15 (0.98 to 1.34)	1.16 (0.99 to 1.35)	
≥35.0	243/547	1.39 (1.21 to 1.61)	1.45 (1.25 to 1.67)	≥105	246/506	1.61 (1.39 to 1.86)	1.66 (1.43 to 1.92)	

*Adjusted for initial age and study site.

+Adjusted for initial age, study site, smoking, educational level and marital status.

Figure 1 Adjusted HRs (95% CI)* for total mortality rate by body mass index (BMI; kg/m²) category in elderly men and women. BMI 25-27.4 constitutes the reference category. *Adjusted for smoking status, age, marital status, educational level and study site.



CVD mortality was also increased in women with a BMI $<22.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$.

Cancer accounted for one-quarter of all deaths and the relationships between BMI and cancer mortality followed the 'U-shaped' pattern found for total mortality (table 3).

Prior to inclusion in the study, a history of heart disease was reported by 21%, lung disease by 13% and 9% of the participants had a history of cancer. Exclusion of these subjects from the analyses revealed similar relations as described for the main cohort both for total and cause-specific mortality (results not shown).

DISCUSSION

In this population-based study of elderly men and women, we found increased total mortality in elderly individuals with a BMI below 25. No excess mortality was found in overweight individuals (BMI 25-29.9) and only a moderate increase in mortality was observed with increasing BMI in obese individuals (BMI≥30). In the lower BMI range, the strongest impact of BMI on mortality was found for deaths from respiratory diseases. These results were not explained by the presence of cancer or lung disease at baseline.

The crude mortality rates per 1000 person-years (57 in men and 39 in women) observed in the study population were lower than the expected mortality rates (73 in men and 55 in women) if the mortality rates of the entire elderly population of Norwav¹¹ were applied to the study population. This is probably explained by a better general health in the participants than in non-participating elderly individuals.

Lower BMI range

The impact of a decrease in BMI in the lower BMI range was twice the impact of the corresponding increase in BMI in the higher BMI range (figure 2). However, the most striking finding

was the relative increase in mortality found in all 'normal weight' individuals in the BMI categories below 25.

Mortality from respiratory diseases explained about 40% of the increased total mortality found in men in the lower BMI range. For women, the corresponding figure was 17%. Previous studies of elderly individuals have demonstrated increased mortality from respiratory diseases in selected groups with a BMI below 20-22.7.¹² ¹³ We also found substantially increased mortality from respiratory diseases in the 20-22.4 and 22.5-24.9 BMI categories, which are generally regarded as healthy weight.

Asthma and chronic bronchitis are prevalent conditions associated with the lower BMI categories in elderly men and women.¹⁴ When we analysed subjects without these conditions, the impact of BMI on mortality in the lower range persisted.

Smoking is a major risk factor for both premature death¹⁵ and malnutrition¹⁶ in elderly individuals, and we adjusted all analvses for smoking status. Our results suggest that the impact of BMI \geq 25 on mortality was greater in current smoking women than in women who had never smoked.

A number of studies have reported increased mortality among individuals in the lowest BMI categories. $^{\rm 2-4.9\ 17}$ Mortality tends to increase when BMI falls below the range of 19-23. Very few studies of elderly men and women, with information about smoking habits included, have been able to demonstrate a significant increase in mortality in the normal BMI range of 22.5-24.9 compared to moderately overweight subjects. For some of the studies, this may be explained by a focus on obesity, the use of wide reference categories (BMI 18.5-25) or a limited number of participants.

Why is mortality higher in the lower BMI range?

Being underweight is associated with loss of both peripheral and respiratory muscles,¹⁸ and this association may partly explain the increases in both total mortality and mortality from

Figure 2 Adjusted HRs* for total mortality for every 2.5 kg/m² difference in body mass index (BMI) in elderly men and women. In the lower range, HR indicates risk of mortality with decreasing BMI, whereas in the higher range, HR indicates risk of mortality with increasing BMI. The numbers in parentheses indicate the number of deaths in each category. Bars represent 95% CIs. *Adjusted for smoking status (all participants only), age, marital status, educational level and study site.

Lower range (BMI<25.0)			Higher range (BMI ≥ 25.0	Higher range (BMI ≥ 25.0)				
Men		HR (95% CI)	Men		HR (95% CI)			
All participants (1465)		1.21 (1.12-1.30)	All participants (2452)	H H H	1.09 (1.05-1.13)			
Current smokers (532)		1.32 (1.18-1.48)	Current smokers (577)	+ -	1.05 (0.98-1.13)			
Previous smokers (665)	_ _	1.12 (1.00-1.26)	Previous smokers (1383)	H H -1	1.12 (1.07-1.18)			
Never smoked (268)	,	1.12 (0.93-1.35)	Never smoked (492)	+ -	1.06 (0.97-1.16)			
Women			Women					
All participants (1249)		1.22 (1.14-1.31)	All participants (2308)	Here is	1.07 (1.04-1.10)			
Current smokers (323)		1.21 (1.06-1.37)	Current smokers (267)	→ →	1.14 (1.06-1.24)			
Previous smokers (229)		1.24 (1.04-1.48)	Previous smokers (462)	H -	1.10 (1.04-1.17)			
Never smoked (697)		1.22 (1.10-1.35)	Never smoked (1579)	-	1.05 (1.02-1.08)			

	Respiratory diseases		Cardiovascular diseases		Cancer		Other causes	
BMI	Deaths	HR (95% CI)	Deaths	HR (95% CI)	Deaths	HR (95% CI)	Deaths	HR (95% CI)
Men								
<20.0	31	4.35 (2.87 to 6.60)	46	1.14 (0.84 to 1.54)	32	1.43 (0.99 to 2.07)	27	1.51 (1.01 to 2.26)
20-22.4	62	2.45 (1.76 to 3.40)	141	0.98 (0.82 to 1.19)	103	1.22 (0.98 to 1.54)	82	1.28 (0.99 to 1.65)
22.5-24.9	103	1.58 (1.19 to 2.10)	410	1.07 (0.94 to 1.22)	255	1.17 (0.99 to 1.39)	173	0.97 (0.80 to 1.18)
25.0-27.4	87	1.00 Reference	504	1.00 Reference	285	1.00 Reference	233	1.00 Reference
27.5-29.9	47	0.81 (0.57 to 1.16)	379	1.12 (0.98 to 1.28)	216	1.12 (0.94 to 1.34)	134	0.87 (0.70 to 1.07)
≥30.0	40	1.18 (0.81 to 1.71)	274	1.33 (1.14 to 1.54)	141	1.16 (0.95 to 1.42)	112	1.23 (0.98 to 1.55)
Women								
<20.0	28	3.30 (2.07 to 5.27)	64	1.28 (0.98 to 1.67)	36	1.49 (1.03 to 2.15)	46	2.03 (1.46 to 2.82)
20-22.4	42	1.83 (1.21 to 2.75)	178	1.21 (1.01 to 1.44)	77	1.16 (0.89 to 1.53)	108	1.56 (1.23 to 1.99)
22.5-24.9	59	1.32 (0.91 to 1.91)	298	1.01 (0.87 to 1.18)	145	1.12 (0.89 to 1.40)	168	1.20 (0.96 to 1.48)
25.0-27.4	52	1.00 Reference	355	1.00 Reference	158	1.00 Reference	168	1.00 Reference
27.5-29.9	35	0.84 (0.54 to 1.28)	343	1.14 (0.98 to 1.32)	128	0.99 (0.78 to 1.25)	151	1.05 (0.84 to 1.31)
≥30.0	57	1.06 (0.73 to 1.55)	427	1.09 (0.95 to 1.26)	218	1.28 (1.04 to 1.57)	216	1.16 (0.94 to 1.41)

Table 3 Adjusted HRs* for cause-specific mortality by body mass index (BMI) category in elderly men and women. Participants from the Tromsø (1994–1995) and HUNT (1995–1997) studies

*Adjusted for smoking status, age, marital status, educational level and study site.

respiratory diseases observed in this study among underweight participants. Furthermore, a low BMI may increase vulnerability to acute diseases. An elevated in-hospital case-fatality rate among underweight patients has been found for several conditions.¹⁹ It has been shown that the immune response is decreased in elderly malnourished individuals,²⁰ which may increase the relative mortality rate among underweight elderly subjects during intercurrent diseases.

Reverse causation—that is, the possibility that pre-existing illnesses or conditions associated with increased mortality lead to loss of body weight—is a concern in studies of lower BMI and mortality.²¹ ²² To overcome this problem in our analyses, we used several methods. First, we excluded deaths occurring during the first year of follow-up. Second, we repeated the analyses of mortality excluding participants with a history of cancer at baseline as these patients might have reduced weight because of the disease. However, the relation between low BMI and mortality was not influenced by this exclusion. Finally, to explore the effect of underweight-associated pulmonary disease, we analysed both total mortality and mortality from respiratory diseases in individuals not reporting asthma/chronic bronchitis at baseline. Neither of these two BMI-mortality relations were significantly influenced by this exclusion.

In addition, we stratified the analyses for smoking habits (figure 2) and found that the increased total mortality in

subjects with low BMI was not due to smoking. Nevertheless, some unknown bias from pre-existing diseases or conditions might have influenced the BMI-mortality relations.

Higher BMI range

The prevalence of obesity is rising in elderly individuals and the proportion of obese individuals in the present study (20.7%) was almost at the level found in US populations in the same period.²³ We found moderately increased mortality in obese individuals—more so in men than in women. Most previous studies have found increased mortality in obese elderly individuals, but the increase was somewhat less pronounced than in middle-aged adults.⁴

Using BMI alone for assessment of obesity may be a limitation because it provides only an indirect estimate of abdominal adiposity. In the present study, WC as a measure of abdominal obesity was also recorded in a subset of the participants. However, overall, WC was not a stronger risk factor for total mortality than BMI in the higher weight categories. This finding is in line with the results of a recent study by Flegal *et al.*⁸ In the lower weight categories, BMI was a stronger risk factor than WC.

Several explanations have been proposed for the limited impact of overweight or obesity on mortality in this age group.³ Possible explanations include a healthy survival effect in obese



Figure 3 Adjusted HRs* for causespecific mortality by body mass index (BMI; kg/m²) category in elderly men and women. BMI 25–27.4 constitutes the reference category. *Adjusted for smoking status, age, marital status, educational level and study site.

Social and psychosocial factors and health

Figure 4 Adjusted HRs* for causespecific mortality for every 2.5 kg/m² difference in body mass index (BMI) in elderly men and women. In the lower range, HR indicates risk of mortality with decreasing BMI, whereas in the higher range, HR indicates risk of mortality with increasing BMI. Bars represent 95% Cls. The numbers in parentheses indicate the number of deaths in each disease category. *Adjusted for smoking status, age, marital status, educational level and study site. Lower range (BMI<25.0)



Higher range (BMI \geq 25.0)

individuals meaning that those most vulnerable to the effects of obesity have already died before reaching older age. Furthermore, elderly people have a shorter life expectancy. Obesity-related consequences develop slowly and before these consequences appear, individuals who become obese later in life may die from other diseases.²⁴

Optimal body weight

We found the optimal weight with the lowest mortality to be in the overweight categories (BMI 25–29.9), whereas moderately obese individuals had only a modest increase in mortality. This finding is in line with several previous studies

What is already known on this subject

- The body mass index (BMI)—mortality relationship is U-shaped in both adult and elderly individuals and shifted to the right in the older age categories. Results from previous studies in elderly individuals are conflicting about the upper and especially the lower BMI cut-off points for optimal weight with regard to mortality.
- There is a lack of data concerning the relationship between BMI and mortality, particularly cause-specific mortality, in the elderly and the impact of mortality from respiratory diseases on the BMI-mortality relationship.

What this study adds

- In the present large study of elderly individuals from Norway, mortality was significantly increased in all body mass index (BMI) categories below 25, including the 'normal weight' BMI categories. The impact of decreases in BMI in the lower BMI range was twice the impact of the corresponding increases in BMI in the higher BMI range. In men, this finding could be explained to some extent by increased mortality from respiratory disease.
- Waist circumference and BMI performed approximately equally in identifying individuals in the higher weight categories with increased mortality.
- More attention should be given to elderly individuals in the lower BMI categories and moderately increased BMI (25-29.9) should not be a concern with regard to mortality in this age group.

of elderly individuals²⁵ and has been described as the 'obesity paradox'.²⁴ It has also been observed that moderate overweight hospitalised elderly patients have reduced mortality.²⁶ These findings are important because almost half of the elderly population are overweight (BMI 25–29.9) and it is frequently assumed that these individuals have increased mortality.²⁴

One strength of the present study is the strictly populationbased design with inclusion of individuals from both urban and rural areas. Some previous studies in this field have used cohorts based on particular professional affiliations or health insurance membership, introducing the possibility of bias.¹³ Furthermore, in the present study, height, weight and WC were measured rather than self-reported. The participation rate was relatively high (70%), but participation required the ability to independently visit a research centre. It is probable that the non-participating individuals were frailer and had more co-morbidities; any potential bias would probably be in the direction of more conservative estimates.

CONCLUSION

Our results show that in elderly men and women, a BMI below 25 was associated with increased total mortality. In men, this finding could be explained to some extent by an increased risk of death from respiratory diseases. A modest increase in mortality was found with increasing BMI for obese elderly men and women. Overweight individuals, including moderately obese women, had the lowest mortality.

Acknowledgements The Tromsø 4 Study was carried out as a collaboration between the National Health Screening Service and the Department of Community Medicine, University of Tromsø. The Second Nord-Trøndelag Health Survey was a collaboration between the HUNT Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Levanger, the Norwegian Institute of Public Health and North-Trøndelag County.

Funding Centre for Research in the Elderly, The Northern Regional Health Authority, Helse Nord RHF, 8038 Bodø, Norway.

Competing interests None.

Ethics approval This study was conducted with the approval of the Regional Committees for Ethics in Medical Research, Tromsø and Trondheim, Norway, and by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate.

Contributors J-MK, BKJ, JH and JF were responsible for the initial design of the study. J-MK did the analysis and wrote the first draft of the paper. BKJ contributed to the analysis, interpretation of the results and the review of the drafts. TW contributed particularly to the statistical analysis and interpretation. JH and KM contributed to the analysis and interpretation of the data and review of the drafts. All authors contributed to the critically revision of the article and approved the final published version to be published.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

- 25.
- Breeze E, Clarke R, Shipley MJ, et al. Cause-specific mortality in old age in relation to body mass index in middle age and in old age: follow-up of the Whitehall cohort of male civil servants. Int J Epidemiol 2006;35:169-78.
- 9 Whitlock G. Lewington S. Sherliker P. et al. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet 2009:373:1083-96.

Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, et al. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the

Heiat A, Vaccarino V, Krumholz HM, An evidence-based assessment of federal

guidelines for overweight and obesity as they apply to elderly persons. Arch Intern

Zamboni M. Mazzali G. Zoico E. et al. Health consequences of obesity in the elderly:

Janssen I, Mark AE. Elevated body mass index and mortality risk in the elderly.

WHO. Consultation on Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report

of a WHO Consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization Technical Report Series

Holmen J, Midthjell K, Kruger Ø, et al. The Nord-Trøndelag health study 1995-97

Jacobsen BK. Niølstad I. Thune I. et al. Increase in weight in all birth cohorts in

Flegal KM, Graubard BI. Estimates of excess deaths associated with body mass

(HUNT 2): objectives, contents, methods and participation. Nor J Epidemiol

a general population: the Tromsø Study, 1974-1994. Arch Intern Med

a review of four unresolved questions. Int J Obes (Lond) 2005;29:1011-29.

United States, 1999-2004, JAMA 2006;295:1549-55.

10. Eurostat. Health Statistics: Atlas on mortality in the European Union: Data 1994-96. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2002.

index and other anthropometric variables. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89:1213-19.

REFERENCES

Med 2001:161:1194-203.

Obes Rev 2007:8:41-59.

894 2000

2003:13:19-32

2001:161:466-72

2.

3.

4

5

6.

7

8.

- Statistics Norway. 2010. http://www.ssb.no/english/ (accessed 15 Dec 2010). 11
- Singh PN, Lindsted KD, Fraser GE. Body weight and mortality among adults who 12.
- never smoked. Am J Epidemiol 1999;150:1152-64. 13.

- 14 Kvamme JM, Wilsgaard T, Florholmen J, et al. Body mass index and disease burden in elderly men and women: the Tromsø Study. Eur J Epidemiol 2010:25:183-93.
- 15. LaCroix AZ, Lang J, Scherr P, et al. Smoking and mortality among older men and women in three communities. N Enal J Med 1991:324:1619-25.
- Albanes D, Jones DY, Micozzi MS, et al. Associations between smoking and body 16 weight in the US population: analysis of NHANES II. Am J Public Health 1987;77:439-44.
- 17. Gulsvik AK, Thelle DS, Mowe M, et al. Increased mortality in the slim elderly: a 42 years follow-up study in a general population. Eur J Epidemiol 2009;24:683-90.
- **Engelen MP.** Schols AM. Baken WC. *et al.* Nutritional depletion in relation to 18. respiratory and peripheral skeletal muscle function in out-patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 1994;7:1793-7.
- 19. Potter JF, Schafer DF, Bohi RL. In-hospital mortality as a function of body mass index: an age-dependent variable. J Gerontol 1988;43:M59-63.
- Lesourd B. Nutritional factors and immunological ageing. Proc Nutr Soc 20 2006.65.319-25
- 21 Willett WC, Dietz WH, Colditz GA. Guidelines for healthy weight. N Engl J Med 1999:341:427-34.
- 22. Flegal KM, Graubard BI, Williamson DF, et al. Reverse causation and illness-related weight loss in observational studies of body weight and mortality. Am J Epidemiol 2011-173-1-9
- 23 Arterburn DE, Crane PK, Sullivan SD. The coming epidemic of obesity in elderly Americans. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004;52:1907-12.
- 24 Oreopoulos A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Sharma AM, et al. The obesity paradox in the elderly: potential mechanisms and clinical implications. Clin Geriatr Med 2009:25:643-59, viii.
- Orpana HM, Berthelot JM, Kaplan MS, et al. BMI and Mortality: results from a national longitudinal study of Canadian adults. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010;18:214-18.
- Bouillanne O, Dupont-Belmont C, Hay P, et al. Fat mass protects hospitalized elderly 26 persons against morbidity and mortality. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;90:505-10.